IOWA STATE UNIVERSITY Digital Repository

Retrospective Theses and Dissertations

Iowa State University Capstones, Theses and Dissertations

1973

Attitudes of donors at selected institutions of higher education

Charles Roderick MacIsaac Iowa State University

Follow this and additional works at: https://lib.dr.iastate.edu/rtd Part of the <u>Higher Education Administration Commons</u>, and the <u>Higher Education and Teaching</u> <u>Commons</u>

Recommended Citation

MacIsaac, Charles Roderick, "Attitudes of donors at selected institutions of higher education " (1973). *Retrospective Theses and Dissertations*. 5099. https://lib.dr.iastate.edu/rtd/5099

This Dissertation is brought to you for free and open access by the Iowa State University Capstones, Theses and Dissertations at Iowa State University Digital Repository. It has been accepted for inclusion in Retrospective Theses and Dissertations by an authorized administrator of Iowa State University Digital Repository. For more information, please contact digirep@iastate.edu.



INFORMATION TO USERS

This material was produced from a microfilm copy of the original document. While the most advanced technological means to photograph and reproduce this document have been used, the quality is heavily dependent upon the quality of the original submitted.

The following explanation of techniques is provided to help you understand markings or patterns which may appear on this reproduction.

- The sign or "target" for pages apparently lacking from the document photographed is "Missing Page(s)". If it was possible to obtain the missing page(s) or section, they are spliced into the film along with adjacent pages. This may have necessitated cutting thru an image and duplicating adjacent pages to insure you complete continuity.
- 2. When an image on the film is obliterated with a large round black mark, it is an indication that the photographer suspected that the copy may have moved during exposure and thus cause a blurred image. You will find a good image of the page in the adjacent frame.
- 3. When a map, drawing or chart, etc., was part of the material being photographed the photographer followed a definite method in "sectioning" the material. It is customary to begin photoing at the upper left hand corner of a large sheet and to continue photoing from left to right in equal sections with a small overlap. If necessary, sectioning is continued again beginning below the first row and continuing on until complete.
- 4. The majority of users indicate that the textual content is of greatest value, however, a somewhat higher quality reproduction could be made from "photographs" if essential to the understanding of the dissertation. Silver prints of "photographs" may be ordered at additional charge by writing the Order Department, giving the catalog number, title, author and specific pages you wish reproduced.
- 5. PLEASE NOTE: Some pages may have indistinct print. Filmed as received.

Xerox University Microfilms 300 North Zeeb Road Ann Arbor, Michigan 48106

74-9132

MacISAAC, Charles Roderick, 1941-ATTITUDES OF DONORS AT SELECTED INSTITUTIONS OF HIGHER EDUCATION.

Iowa State University, Ph.D., 1973 Education, higher

 C_{j}

agained and the second s

1

University Microfilms, A XEROX Company , Ann Arbor, Michigan

by

Charles Roderick MacIsaac

A Dissertation Submitted to the Graduate Faculty in Partial Fulfillment of The Requirements for the Degree of DOCTOR OF PHILOSOPHY

Major: Education (Higher Education)

Approved:

Signature was redacted for privacy.

In Charge of Major Wprk

Signature was redacted for privacy.

For the Major Area

Signature was redacted for privacy.

For the Graduate College

Iowa State University Ames, Iowa

TABLE OF CONTENTS

	Page
INTRODUCTION	1
Definitions	5
Purpose of the Study	6
Objectives of the Study	7
Hypotheses	7
Assumptions	7
Limitations	8
LITERATURE REVIEW	9
History of Fund Raising in Higher Education	9
Related Research	14
Concerns of Higher Education Relevant to the Study	17
METHOD OF PROCEDURE	27
Research Design	27
Population and Sample	27
Development of the Instrument	31
Data Collection	33
Analysis of Data	34
FINDINGS	36
Response to the Instrument	36
Determination of Groupings	39
Analysis of Areas	41

	Page
SUMMARY AND CONCLUSIONS	176
Summary of the Purpose, Method, and Findings	176
Conclusions	181 b
Recommendations for Further Study	185
LIST OF REFERENCES	186
ACKNOWLEDGMENTS	193
APPENDIX A	194
APPENDIX B	199
APPENDIX C	205
APPENDIX D	207
APPENDIX E	220
APPENDIX F	240

.

LIST OF TABLES

Page

Table	1.	Percentage distribution of respondents classified by college, donor classification, and era of graduation	37
Table	2.	Summary of the numbers of significant differences among colleges, donor classifications, and eras of graduation by area	41
Table	3.	Summary of the numbers of significant differences between colleges, donor classifications, and eras of graduation by area	42
Table	4.	Means and st an dard deviations of responses on items 1 through 8 for donors	44
Table	5.	Intercorrelations for items related to philosophy and objectives of colleges	46
Table	6.	Results of principal components factor analysis, items 1 through 8 on two factors	47
Table	7.	Results of varimax rotation of principal components factor analysis, items 1 through 8 on two factors	47
Table	8.	Summary of significant differences for main effects on items 1 through 8	48
Table	9.	Summary of overall mean scores and significantly differ- ent means between colleges, donor classifications, and eras of graduation on items 1 through 8	49
Table	10.	Analysis of variance and significantly different means between colleges, donor classifications, and eras of graduation on item 3	50
Table	11.	Analysis of variance and significantly different means between colleges, donor classifications, and eras of graduation on item 4	51
Table	12.	Analysis of variance and significantly different means between colleges, donor classifications, and eras of graduation on item 8	52
Table	13.	Means and standard deviations of responses on items 27 through 42 for donors	54
Table	14.	Intercorrelations for items related to the alumni office	56

ъ́г

Table	15.	Results of principal components factor analysis, items 27 through 42 on four factors	57
Table	16.	Results of varimax rotation of principal components factor analysis, items 27 through 42 on four factors	58
Table	17.	Summary of significant differences for main effects on items 27 through 42	59
Table	18.	Summary of overall mean scores and significantly dif- ferent means between colleges, donor classifications, and eras of graduation on items 27 through 42	60
Table	19.	Analysis of variance and significantly different means between colleges, donor classifications, and eras of graduation on item 27	61
Table	20.	Analysis of variance and significantly different means between colleges, donor classifications, and eras of graduation on item 28	62
Table	21.	Analysis of variance and significantly different means between colleges, donor classifications, and eras of graduation on item 30	63
Table	22.	Analysis of variance and significantly different means between colleges, donor classifications, and eras of graduation on item 32	64
Table	23.	Analysis of variance and significantly different means between colleges, donor classifications, and eras of graduation on item 33	65
Table	24.	Analysis of variance and significantly different means between colleges, donor classifications, and eras of graduation on item 34	66
Table	25.	Analysis of variance and significantly different means between colleges, donor classifications, and eras of graduation on item 37	67
Table	26.	Analysis of variance and significantly different means between colleges, donor classifications, and eras of graduation on item 42	68
Table	27.	Means and standard deviations of responses on items 9 through 11 for donors	72

.

v

Page	
------	--

Table	28.	Summary of significant differences for main effects on items 9 through 11	73
Table	29.	Summary of verail mean scores and significantly differ- ent means between colleges, donor classifications, and eras of graduation on items 9 through 11	74
Table	30.	Analysis of variance and significantly different means between colleges, donor classifications, and eras of graduation on item 9	75
Tab l e	31.	Analysis of variance and significantly different means between colleges, donor classifications, and eras of graduation on item 10	76
Table	32.	Analysis of variance and significantly different means between colleges, donor classifications, and eras of graduation on item 11	77
Table	33.	Means and standard deviations of responses on items 12 through 21 for donors	81
Table	34.	Intercorrelations for items related to shaping or chang- ing the financial planning of colleges	83
Table	35.	Summary of significant differences for main effects on items 12 through 21	83
Table	36.	Summary of overall mean scores and significantly differ- ent means between colleges, donor classifications, and eras of graduation on items 12 through 21	84
Tab le	37.	Analysis of variance and significantly different means between colleges, donor classifications, and eras of graduation on item 12	85
Table	38.	Analysis of variance and significantly different means between colleges, donor classifications, and eras of graduation on item 13	86
Table	39.	Analysis of variance and significantly different means between colleges, donor classifications, and eras of graduation on item 15	87
Table	40.	Analysis of variance and significantly different means between colleges, donor classifications, and eras of graduation on item 17	88

			Page
Table	41.	Analysis of variance and significantly different means between colleges, donor classifications, and eras of graduation on item 18	89
Table	42.	Analysis of variance and significantly different means between colleges, donor classifications, and eras of graduation on item 20	90
Table	43.	Analysis of variance and significantly different means between colleges, donor classifications, and eras of graduation on item 21	91
Table	44.	Means and standard deviations of responses on items 22 through 26 for donors	93
Table	45.	Intercorrelations for items related to increased federal funding for higher education	94
Table	46.	Summary of significant differences for main effects on items 22 through 26	95
Table	47.	Summary of overall mean scores and significantly differ- ent means between colleges, donor classifications, and eras of graduation on items 22 through 26	96
Table	48.	Analysis of variance and significantly different means between colleges, donor classifications, and eras of graduation on item 23	97
Table	49.	Means and standard deviations of responses on items 93 through 100 for donors	98
Table	50.	Summary of significant differences for main effects on items 93 through 100	99
Table	51.	Summary of overall mean responses and significantly dif- ferent means between colleges, donor classifications, and eras of graduation on items 93 through 100	99
Table	52.	Analysis of variance and significantly different means between colleges, donor classifications, and eras of graduation on item 93	100
Table	53.	Analysis of variance and significantly different means between colleges, donor classifications, and eras of graduation on item 97	101

vii

			Page
Table	54.	Analysis of variance and significantly different means between colleges, donor classifications, and eras of graduation on item 98	102
Table	55.	Analysis of variance and significantly different means between colleges, donor classifications, and eras of graduation on item 99	103
Table	56.	Means and standard deviations of responses on items 43, 44, 53, 54, and 55 for donors	107 [.]
Table	57.	Summary of significant differences for main effects on items 43, 44, 53, 54, and 55	107
Table	58.	Summary of overall mean scores and significantly differ- ent means between colleges, donor classifications, and eras of graduation on items 43, 44, 53, 54, and 55	108
Table	59.	Analysis of variance and significantly different means between colleges, donor classifications, and eras of graduation on item 43	109
Tab l e	60.	Analysis of variance and significantly different means between colleges, donor classifications, and eras of graduation on item 44	110
Table	61.	Analysis of variance and significantly different means between colleges, donor classifications, and eras of graduation on item 53	111
Table	62.	Analysis of variance and significantly different means between colleges, donor classifications, and eras of graduation on item 55	112
Table	63.	Means and standard deviations of responses on items 45 through 52 for donors	114
Table	64.	Intercorrelations for items related to fund raising process being an important concern	115
Table	65.	Summary of significant differences for main effects on items 45 through 52	116
Table	66.	Summary of overall mean scores and significantly differ- ent means between colleges, donor classifications, and eras of graduation on items 45 through 52	116

.

,

			Page
Tab l e	67.	Analysis of variance and significant different means between colleges, donor classifications, and eras of graduation on item 46	117
Table	68.	Analysis of variance and significantly different means between colleges, donor classifications, and eras of graduation on item 47	118
Table	69.	Analysis of variance and significantly different means between colleges, donor classifications, and eras of graduation on item 48	119
Table	70.	Analysis of variance and significantly different means between colleges, donor classifications, and eras of graduation on item 49	120
Table	71.	Analysis of variance and significantly different means between colleges, donor classifications, and eras of graduation on item 51	121
Table	72.	Analysis of variance and significantly different means between colleges, donor classifications, and eras of graduation on item 52	122
Tab l e	73.	Means and standard deviations of responses on items 56 through 63 for donors	125
Table	74.	Intercorrelations for items related to the use of alumni gifts	126
Table	75.	Summary of significant differences for main effects on items 56 through 63	127
Table	76.	Summary of overall mean scores and significantly differ- ent means between colleges, donor classifications, and eras of graduation on items 56 through 63	128
Table	77.	Analysis of variance and significantly different means between colleges, donor classifications, and eras of graduation on item 57	129
Table	78.	Analysis of variance and significantly different means between colleges, donor classifications, and eras of graduation on item 58	130
Table	79.	Analysis of variance and significantly different means between colleges, donor classifications, and eras of graduation on item 59	131

.

			Page
Table	80.	Analysis of variance and significantly different means between colleges, donor classifications, and eras of graduation on item 61	132
Table	81.	Analysis of variance and significantly different means between colleges, donor classifications, and eras of graduation on item 62	133
Table	82.	Analysis of variance and significantly different means between colleges, donor classifications, and eras of graduation on item 63	134
Table	83.	Means and standard deviations of responses on items 64 through 66 for donors	137
Table	84.	Intercorrelations for items related to what monies should be invested in	138
Table	85.	Summary of significant differences for main effects on items 64 through 66	139
Table	86.	Summary of overall mean scores and significantly differ- ent means between colleges, donor classifications, and eras of graduation on items 64 through 66	139
Table	87.	Analysis of variance and significantly different means between colleges, donor classifications, and eras of graduation on item 64	140
Table	88.	Analysis of variance and significantly different means between colleges, donor classifications, and eras of graduation on item 65	141
Table	89.	Means and standard deviations of responses on items 67 through 71 for donors	142
Table	90.	Intercorrelations for items related to preferred forms of giving and tax incentives	143
Table	91.	Summary of significant differences for main effects on items 67 through 71	144
Table	92.	Summary of overall mean scores and significantly differ- ent means between colleges, donor classifications, and eras of graduation on items 67 through 71	144
Table	93.	Analysis of variance and significantly different means between colleges, donor classifications, and eras of graduation on item 67	145

х

			Page
Table	94.	Analysis of variance and significantly different means between colleges, donor classifications, and eras of graduation on item 68	146
Table	95.	Analysis of variance and significantly different means between colleges, donor classifications, and eras of graduation on item 70	147
Table	96.	Analysis of variance and significantly different means between colleges, donor classifications, and eras of graduation on item 71	148
Table	97.	Means and standard deviations of responses on items 72 through 78 for donors	150
Table	98.	Intercorrelations for items related to fund raising process and identification of potential donors	151
Table	99.	Summary of significant differences for main effects on items 72 through 78	151
Table	100.	Summary of overall mean scores and significantly differ- ent means between colleges, donor classifications, and eras of graduation on items 72 through 78	152
Table	101.	Analysis of variance and significantly different means between colleges, donor classifications, and eras of graduation on item 76	153
Table	102.	Analysis of variance and significantly different means between colleges, donor classifications, and eras of graduation on item 77	154
Table	103.	Analysis of variance and significantly different means between colleges, donor classifications, and eras of graduation on item 78	155
Table	104.	Means and standard deviations of responses on items 80 through 86 for donors	156
Table	105.	Intercorrelations for items related to why alumni are discouraged from giving	158
Table	106.	Summary of significant differences for main effects on items 80 through 86	158
Table	107.	Summary of overall mean scores and significantly differ- ent means between colleges, donor classifications, and eras of graduation on items 80 through 86	159

			Page
Table 🗄	108.	Analysis of variance and significantly different means between colleges, donor classifications, and eras of graduation on item 81	160
Table (109.	Analysis of variance and significantly different means between colleges, donor classifications, and eras of graduation on item 82	161
Table	110.	Analysis of variance and significantly different means between colleges, donor classifications, and eras of graduation on item 84	162
Table	111.	Analysis of variance and significantly different means between colleges, donor classifications, and eras of graduation on item 86	163
Table	112.	Means and standard deviations of responses on items 87 through 92 for donors	165
Table	113.	Intercorrelations for items related to why alumni give	166
Table	114.	Summary of significant differences for main effects on items 87 through 92	166
Table	115.	Summary of overall mean scores and significantly differ- ent means between colleges, donor classifications, and eras of graduation on items 87 through 92	167
Table	116.	Analysis of variance and significantly different means between colleges, donor classifications, and eras of graduation on item 87	168
Table	117.	Analysis of variance and significantly different means between colleges, donor classifications, and eras of graduation on item 88	169
Table	118.	Analysis of variance and significantly different means between colleges, donor classifications, and eras of graduation on item 89	170
Table	119.	Analysis of variance and significantly different means between colleges, donor classifications, and eras of graduation on item 90	171
Table	120.	Analysis of variance and significantly different means between colleges, donor classifications, and eras of graduation on item 91	172

xii

Page Table 121. Analysis of variance and significantly different means between colleges, donor classifications, and eras of graduation on item 92 173 Table 122. Intercorrelations for items 1 through 92 206 Table 123. Results of principal components factor analysis, items 1 through 42 on 13 factors 208 Table 124. Results of varimax rotation of principal components factor analysis, items 1 through 42 on 13 factors 210 Table 125. Results of principal components factor analysis, items 43 through 92 on 16 factors 212 Table 126. Results of varimax rotation of principal components fac-216 tor analysis, items 43 through 92 on 16 factors 221 Table 127. Analysis of variance on item 1 Table 128. Analysis of variance on item 2 221 Table 129. Analysis of variance on item 5 222 Table 130. Analysis of variance on item 6 222 Table 131. Analysis of variance on item 7 223 Table 132. Analysis of variance on item 14 223 Table 133. Analysis of variance on item 16 224 Table 134. Analysis of variance on item 19 224 Table 135. Analysis of variance on item 22 225 Table 136. Analysis of variance on item 24 225 Table 137. Analysis of variance on item 25 226 Table 138. Analysis of variance on item 26 226 Table 139. Analysis of variance on item 29 227 Table 140. Analysis of variance on item 31 227

Table 142. Analysis of variance on item 36228

228

Analysis of variance on item 35

Table 141.

			Page
Table	143.	Analysis of variance on item 38	229
Table	144.	Analysis of variance on item 39	229
Table	145.	Analysis of variance on item 40	230
Table	146.	Analysis of variance on item 41	230
Table	147.	Analysis of variance on item 45	231
Table	148.	Analysis of variance on item 50	231
Table	149.	Analysis of variance on item 54	232
Table	150.	Analysis of variance on item 56	23 2
Table	151.	Analysis of variance on item 60	233
Table	152.	Analysis of variance on item 66	233
Table	153.	Analysis of variance on item 69	234
Table	154.	Analysis of variance on item 72	234
Table	155.	Analysis of variance on item 73	235
Table	156.	Analysis of variance on item 74	235
Table	157.	Analysis of variance on item 75	236
Table	158.	Analysis of variance on item 80	236
Table	159.	Analysis of variance on item 83	237
Table	160.	Analysis of variance on item 85	2 37
Table	161.	Analysis of variance on item 94	238
Table	162.	Analysis of variance on item 95	238
Table	163.	Analysis of variance on item 96	239
T a ble	164.	Analysis of variance on item 100	239
Table	165.	Means and standard deviations of responses on items 1 through 8 by college	241
Table	166.	Means and standard deviations of responses on items 1 through 8 by donor classification	241

		Page
Table 167.	Means and standard deviations of responses on items 1 through 8 by era of graduation	242
Table 168.	Means and standard deviations of responses on items 9 through 11 by college	242
Table 169.	Means and standard deviations of responses on items 9 through 11 by donor classification	243
Table 170.	Means and standard deviations of responses on items 9 through 11 by era of graduation	243
Table 171.	Means and standard deviations of responses on items 12 through 21 by college	244
Table 172.	Means and standard deviations of responses on items 12 through 21 by donor classification	244
Table 173.	Means and standard deviations of responses on items 12 through 21 by era of graduation	245
Table 174.	Means and standard deviations of responses on items 22 through 26 by college	245
Table 175.	Means and standard deviations of responses on items 22 through 26 by donor classification	246
Table 176.	Means and standard deviations of responses on items 22 through 26 by era of graduation	[.] 246
Table 177.	Means and standard deviations of responses on items 27 through 42 by college	247
Table 178.	Means and standard deviations of responses on items 27 through 42 by donor classification	247
Table 179.	Means and standard deviations of responses on items 27 through 42 by era of graduation	248
Table 180.	Means and standard deviations of responses on items 43, 44, 53, 54, and 55 by college	248
Table 181.	Means and standard deviations of responses on items 43, 44, 53, 54, and 55 by donor classification	249
Table 182.	Means and standard deviations of responses on items 43, 44, 53, 54, and 55 by era of graduation	249

.

.

Table 183. Means and standard deviations of responses on items 45 through 52 by college 250 Table 184. Means and standard deviations of responses on items 45 through 52 by donor classification 250 Table 185. Means and standard deviations of responses on items 45 through 52 by era of graduation 251 Tab**l**e **186**. Means and standard deviations of responses on items 56 through 63 by college 251 Table 187. Means and standard deviations of responses on items 56 252 through 63 by donor classification Table 188. Means and standard deviations of responses on items 56 through 63 by era of graduation 252 Table 189. Means and standard deviations of responses on items 64 through 66 by college 253 Table 190. Means and standard deviations of responses on items 64 253 through 66 by donor classification Table 191. Means and standard deviations of responses on items 64 254 through 66 by era of graduation Table 192. Means and standard deviations of responses on items 67 254 through 71 by college Table 193. Means and standard deviations of responses on items 67 255 through 71 by donor classification Table 194. Means and standard deviations of responses on items 67 255 through 71 by era of graduation Table 195. Means and standard deviations of responses on items 72 through 78 by college 256 Table 196. Means and standard deviations of responses on items 72 through 78 by donor classification 256 Table 197. Means and standard deviations of responses on items 72 257 through 78 by era of graduation Table 198. Means and standard deviations of responses on items 80 through 86 by college 257

xvi

Page

Table 199. Means and standard deviations of responses on items 80 through 86 by donor classification 258 Table 200. Means and standard deviations of responses on items 80 258 through 86 by era of graduation Table 201. Means and standard deviations of responses on items 87 through 92 by college 259 Tab1e 202. Means and standard deviations of responses on items 87 through 92 by donor classification 259 Table 203. Means and standard deviations of responses on items 87 through 92 by era of graduation 260 Table 204. Means and standard deviations of responses on items 93 through 100 by college 260 Table 205. Means and standard deviations of responses on items 93 through 100 by donor classification 261 Means and standard deviations of responses on items 93 Table 206. 261 through 100 by era of graduation

xvii

Page

xviii

LIST OF FIGURES

				Page
Figure	1.	Interaction c item 32	f donor classifications with eras on	70
Figure	2.	Interaction o	E colleges with eras on item 10	78
Figure	3.	Interaction o	E colleges with eras on item ll	79
Figure	4.	Interaction o	f colleges with eras on item 98	105
Figure	5.	Interaction o item 46	f colleges with donor classifications on	123
Figure	6.	Interaction o	f colleges with eras on item 58	135
Figure	7.	Interaction o	f colleges with eras on item 62	136
Figure	8.	Interaction o item 89	f donor classifications with eras on	174

.

.

INTRODUCTION

Financing of higher education became one of the major problems confronting higher education in the 1970's. Public and private institutions of higher learning had been affected by the gap between annual income and the level of expenditure required to maintain a high quality of education. The financial problems were made more severe by the fact that the cost of higher education was rising more rapidly than the resources allocated to cover the increasing costs (5, 7, 49, 50, 86).

One of the reasons for the increased cost of higher education was the increase in numbers of people attending colleges and universities. During the 1960's, enrollment in institutions of higher education more than doubled, and the Carnegie Commission projected that during the 1970's enrollment would increase by 59 percent. However, the pattern of growth at public and private colleges and universities differed. In 1950 the student population was approximately equally distributed among public and private institutions of higher education, while in 1970, 75 percent of the students were in public colleges and universities (14). Increase in enrollment was expected to continue. It was anticipated that part of the expected growth would result from elimination of economic barriers for those to whom higher education was previously inaccessible (12, 13, 15, 16).

One of the major questions facing higher education was: Who would support the growing numbers in higher education? Historically, for many years private funds were the major source of revenue for colleges and universities. The total of voluntary support showed a growth trend of approximately nine percent per year until 1968-1969. While "...this growth rate

was significantly lower than the rates at which college and university expenditures were rising, it was generally higher than the rate of growth of the national economy" (88, p. 8).

In the late 1960's, the major sources of support, averaged over public and private institutions of higher education, were: tuition and fees from students (approximately 20 percent); the Federal Government (approximately 24 percent); the state (approximately 23.5 percent); and voluntary support -- alumni, non-alumni individuals, foundations, business corporations, and other (approximately 10 percent) (18, 40, 81).

However, a break in the trend of total voluntary support for each of its major sources was indicated for the period 1969-1971. It was believed to be due to (88):

(1) The economic recession of 1969-1971;

(2) The Tax Reform Act of 1969;

and, (3) Campus unrest during 1968-1970.

Of the total amount of funds from voluntary sources in 1970-1971, over one-half (51.2 percent) came from individuals with alumni contributing approximately one-half (24.6 percent) of this amount. Alumni gifts to American colleges and universities had increased in 1970-1971 by 18.6 percent. While the number of alumni donors increased by 9.2 percent, the increase in the amount of money contributed was 8.2 percent. The average alumni gift decreased .9 percent (88).

The remaining sources of private funds were: foundations, 22.5 percent; business corporations, 13.9 percent; religious denominations, 5.6 percent; and miscellaneous donors, 6.8 percent. Decreases in amount of contributions from these sources were reported as follows: foundations (down 5.1 percent), business corporations (down 5.2 percent), and miscellaneous donors (down 18.5 percent) (88).

Authorities on the subject of financing of higher education claimed that colleges and universities need "...substantial private support not just to continue its important contributions, but, in some cases to survive" (8, p. 2). Stressing the importance of increased private support for colleges and universities, the report <u>Margin for Excellence</u> (56, p. 16) stated that growing private support is essential to:

...provide the broadest possible educational opportunities so that all talented and able youths will have the chance to contribute to society regardless of their social or economic background;

fill the tax support gaps in areas for which tax funds may not be used or available because of their needs; and

insure diversity, richness, and quality in higher education -- public and private -- in this country.

The need of alumni support was recognized by many authors (3, 9, 19, 20, 25, 26, 29, 30, 37, 61, 68, 69, 75, 78, 87). Commenting on the overall importance of alumni support, McAnally (61, p. 21) contended that:

Strong alumni support can help bridge the gap between essential needs and available funds, but it can also achieve much more than the financial goals. With a strong, viable alumni program, the following must inevitably result:

- 1. A greater awareness of the college's position in the educational world and a more intense desire to help the institution meet its needs and strengthen its purpose.
- 2. The creation of a partnership between the alumnus and the college, in which the alumnus becomes better informed about the college. He will recognize the physical, financial and educational needs, and be more aware of the problems of admissions, of securing and holding an outstanding faculty with mounting financial pressure, etc.
- 3. A more sympathetic understanding of the merits of an organized program of alumni giving.

~1

As colleges and universities experienced the tightening of purse strings, the support of the alumni became more significant. According to Cooley (25, p. 10), "For most schools the importance of a successful alumni fund is often the difference between standing still and moving ahead." Brakeley (8, p. 11) stated that, "Annual alumni giving is the closest thing, next to soundly invested endowment, if available, to assured philanthropic income that a school, college, or university can hope to have."

Not only was the need for private support recognized, but the practice of publicizing support received from alumni and other private sources was considered important. Commenting on this, Bennett (3, p. 15) stated:

All of us know that the foundation or corporate prospect wants to know how the alumni are doing. If the present trend continues, it will be up to all of us to sell the new concept that our friends -- including alumni and non-alumni -- are supporting our institutions at a higher level than ever before. And in identifying and cultivating these friends, the research and fact-finding capabilities must be increased proportionally.

The present study was conducted for the purpose of providing information about the attitudes of alumni donors at selected institutions of higher education. It was expected that a better understanding of alumni would result. The alumni donor was chosen "...because the alumni of a particular institution are, or should be, the most important source of support for that institution" (25, p. 8). Frantzreb (69) stressed that for greater success in fund raising, institutions should approach alumni with knowledge of their ideals and goals. He went on to advise (69, p. 7), "Get to know the kind of person he is and the kinds of things he is interested in." According to Andrews (1, p. 7), if colleges and universities "...are to flourish, or even to survive, we need to know much more about givers' attitudes in today's changing world."

While the necessity of knowing the attitudes of alumni was expressed, there was a paucity of research directed to discovering their attitudes. There was also an apparent need to distinguish among the attitudes of (1) donors who gave large amounts, (2) those who gave small amounts on a regular basis, (3) those who gave small amounts but not regularly, and (4) those who were non-donors. Although major donors were an important source of income for colleges and universities, the attitudes of those who gave small amounts were also considered to be important as Eldridge (30, p. 30) claimed that individuals "...who have once contributed on either a large or small scale are very likely to continue their support through the years." The range of attitudes of the different types of donors as well as variations due to type of college or university which the alumnus attended and his year or projected year of graduation, were also considered important.

Definitions

In order to clarify the meaning of several terms used in the present study, the following definitions were established:

<u>Alumnus</u>: An individual who is a resident of North America and has graduated from one of the selected institutions of higher education before January 1, 1969, and is maintained on the lists of alumni in the Alumni Offices at the selected institutions.

<u>Donor</u>: An alumnus who has made a monetary contribution to his <u>alma</u> <u>mater</u> during the time period 1969 to 1971 inclusive.

<u>Major donor</u>: A donor who has contributed a total of at least \$1,000 during the specified time period.

<u>Consecutive donor</u>: A donor who has contributed a total of less than \$1,000 and has contributed each year during the specified time period.

<u>Non-consecutive donor</u>: A donor who has contributed a total of less than \$1,000 but has not contributed each year during the specified time period.

<u>Non-donor</u>: An alumnus who has not contributed monetarily to his <u>alma</u> <u>mater</u> during the specified time period.

Respondent: An alumnus who has returned a completed instrument.

Purpose of the Study

The purpose of this research was an investigation of the attitudes of donors at Cornell College, Drake University, and Iowa State University related to certain topical areas which were considered important in higher education. These areas pertain to the philosophy and objectives of colleges and universities, the role of the alumni office in the overall functioning of the college or university, and issues related to financing and fund raising.

It was believed that the findings would contribute to a better understanding of donors by the personnel of the alumni and development offices and by the administration of the selected institutions. This information would aid in the development of more effective programs for the promotion of closer cooperation among all the constituents of the college or university community. Furthermore, it was believed that the findings would be of interest to other American institutions of higher education.

Objectives of the Study

The specific objectives of the study were to:

- Describe the attitudes of donors related to certain topical areas which are considered to be important in higher education
- Analyze the attitudes of donors in terms of relationships to the variables:
 - a. Type of college or university
 - b. Donor classification
 - c. Era of graduation.

Hypotheses

The hypotheses tested in the present study are:

There are no significant differences in the attitudes of donors by:

- a) Type of college or university
- b) Donor classification
- c) Era of graduation.

Assumptions

The following assumptions were considered basic to the study:

- The sampled alumni were representative of the sampled populations from which they were selected
- The respondents expressed their real attitudes in response to the instrument.

Limitations

- The research was limited to a study of donors at Cornell College, Drake University, and Iowa State University
- The self-report measures of the sampled donors' attitudes were limited to what the alumnus knew about his attitudes and was willing to relate (66).
- Sample stratification was limited to the defined donor classifications and eras of graduation.

LITERATURE REVIEW

To provide background for the study of the attitudes of donors in higher education, the report of literature included: (1) the history of fund raising in higher education; (2) reports of research related to the present study; and (3) concerns of higher education relevant to the study.

History of Fund Raising in Higher Education

The history of fund raising for higher education began with the history of higher education (33). In his treatment of fund raising in general, Curti in Cutlip (28, pp. xii-xiii) characterized it in this way:

... the history of fund raising in the United States is distinctively American. It is American in its functional relationships to our changing social structure, notably in the shift of philanthropy from a social elite to a mass base....

But what stands out perhaps most of all is the way in which fund raising in our time reflects our business culture. The American flair for organization, the fetish of efficiency, the onslaught in the name of these against chaos, waste, conflict, and deception in organized giving, the uses of publicity techniques, and the introduction of scientific methods into fund raising - all these take on full and significant meaning. So does the increasing role of corporate giving in relation to tax exemption and to the effort to create a favorable image.

Although "systematic fund raising is a twentieth century development" (28, p. 3), it had deep roots in early colonial times. According to Cutlip (28, p. 3), "The first systematic effort to raise money on this continent was for a college." This was the 1641 Weld-Peter begging mission on behalf of Harvard College which Morison (64, p. 303) described as "...the first concerted 'drive' to obtain income and endowment for the College." Even in the early efforts of fund raising for higher education, emphasis was placed on planning. Marts (60, p. 97) quoted Franklin's advice to a fund raiser seeking assistance:

In the first place I advise you to apply to all those whom you know will give something; next, to those whom you are uncertain whether they will give anything or not, and show them the list of those who have given; and lastly, do not neglect those whom you are sure will give nothing, for in some of them you may be mistaken.

Typical of educational fund raising in the nineteenth century were the efforts of Mary Lyon to raise \$30,000 to found Mt. Holyoke. According to Marts (59, p. 23), colleges during this period

...were using the "financial agent," frequently the president himself, who was sent to the eastern cities to preach in the churches and gather funds for the colleges of the west and south....

This personal search for gifts was the major technique used all through the Nineteenth Century for founding and maintaining our colleges. Indeed, it was the accepted technique for college fund-raising in America right up to the close of World War I.

Prior to 1890, much of the efforts at fund raising were conducted by the Presidents. Their annual reports were used mainly for this purpose. Flack (33, p. 1) stated that, "With the establishment of the Yale Alumni Fund in 1890, an entirely new idea came into being so far as the raising of funds for colleges and universities was concerned." According to Flack (33, p. 1), 1890 "...marks the beginning of the organized period of fund raising by alumni."

Large scale philanthropy to higher education emerged in the latter nineteenth and early twentieth centuries with gifts of Andrew Carnegie and John D. Rockefeller. Rockefeller's gift of six-hundred thousand dollars to help found the University of Chicago was followed in 1900 and 1901 by gifts

of a million dollars in each year. In 1902 Rockefeller "...established the General Education Board which he endowed with more than \$130 million to advance higher education and scientific research in the United States" (28, p. 34).

The Carnegie Institute was set up in Washington, D.C., by Andrew Carnegie in 1902. Carnegie

...endowed the Carnegie Foundation for the Advancement of Teaching in 1905, and in 1911 made his largest gift to establish the Carnegie Corporation. The last-named foundation, like the General Education Board, has played an important and influential role in the advancement of American higher education and the extension of knowledge (28, p. 34).

What Cutlip (28, p. 480) characterized as "...the first organized fund-raising compaign on behalf of a college or university..." was that of the 1904-1905 Harvard Campaign which was the effort of the Harvard Alumni Association. Under the leadership of the president of the Harvard Alumni Association, Bishop Lawrence, approximately 2,000 Harvard alumni contributed \$2.4 million. This money was to be used in "...her endowment fund for faculty salaries, for retiring allowance and for the permanent endowment of professorships" (33, p. 3). The fund raising "was done by personal interviews, by letters, and by circulars sent to all Harvard graduates" (33, p. 3).

Two other significant events in the development of fund raising by alumni in American colleges and universities occurred in the early part of the twentieth century. These were the formation of the Committee of Fifty at Princeton in 1904 and the \$1 million campaign for a new Student Union Building at the University of Michigan in 1914-15 (28).

Until World War I, the promotion of the existing alumni funds had been largely carried on under the direction of alumni associations or alumni offices. Following World War I, a definite trend began; colleges and universities "...set up special organizations with special offices charged with the responsibility of raising, not only the annual alumni funds, but also funds for endowment, buildings, other special projects, including the promotion of bequest programs" (33, p. 7). In reference to alumni organizations, Cutlip (28, p. 250) stated that, "Building a strong alumni organization was often the first step fund raisers took on a college campus."

Fund raising in higher education has been greatly aided by large fund raising firms. After years of experience in various fund raising endeavors, Charles S. Ward and Harvey Hill in 1919 "...opened their pioneering fund raising firm, Ward and Hill Association" (28, pp. 158-159). Later the same year, the firm became known as Ward, Hill, Pierce, and Wells with the addition of Lyman Pierce and H. Herbert Wells as partners. Two offshoots of this firm were those of Tamblyn and Brown, founded in 1920, and Hedrick, Marts, and Lundy, which was organized in 1926 by the men whose name the company bore (28).

One of the leading lights in the early years of commercial fund raising was John Price Jones. According to Cutlip (28, p. 170),

Jones fetish for research, for careful record keeping, and for thorough planning made the methodical Charles S. Ward appear slovenly and haphazard by comparison. Jones brought to fund raising a deep appreciation for the value of research and planning, an increased emphasis on public relations, and in his penchant for paper work he codified the principles and procedures for fund raising.

When Jones and his associates sold control of the firm in June, 1955, the Jones firm had raised \$237,206,696 for higher education in the United States (28). Jones' techniques were described by Cutlip (28, p. 183):

Jones brought great advances to the art of fund raising as well as financial success for himself. He had a genius that enabled him to harness the newly discovered power of publicity to the efficient business methods he admired, and thus to create a wholly new approach to fund raising. He undergirded fund appeals, from the early twenties on, with thorough research on the institution to be served, its degree of support, and the case to be presented in the fund appeal. He insisted on standardizing the procedures of fund-raising, yet knew that each campaign must be tailored to the institution for which it was waged.

In 1926 the John Price Jones Corporation made a survey

...of sixty-eight different college campaigns which had been conducted subsequent to 1919. These campaigns resulted in securing \$149,391,142.38 from 491,893 givers. The total amount given by alumni was \$68,797,129.35 from 315,493 alumni, or 46.1 per cent of the total amount raised. Of the total amount given to the endowed colleges and universities since the intensive campaign period from 1919 to 1926, an increasing percentage has been given by the alumni (33, p. 6).

Gifts and bequests to institutions of higher education solicited through alumni associations and professional fund raisers have greatly contributed to the financial stability of American colleges and universities. Cutlip (28, pp. 243-244) in discussing the trend in gifts and bequests to colleges and universities stated that:

The 30-year trend of gifts and bequests to educational institutions in general followed the trend of economic conditions. It was gradual and upward after 1921. It reached a peak in 1925-1926 due to several unusually large gifts (George F. Baker's gift of \$5 million to Harvard for its Graduate School of Business), and then fell back to a normal increase until it reached a new peak of \$92,007,000 in 1929-1930. Then came the depression and a fairly rapid decline in capital fund raising. The low point of this 30-year span was reached in 1933, when only \$23,174,000 was donated to colleges. From there on there was a fluctuating upward trend until the post-World War II years were reached since then the upward movement has been rapid and steady. Where it will stop nobody knows. It is worth noting that the greater part of this philanthropy has been in contributions by the living, less than one-third in bequests, reflecting the sure hand of the fund raiser. Over the 30-year span gifts constituted 69.37 per cent of the total, bequests the remainder.

The trend in giving to institutions of higher education during the 1950's and 1960 indicated increased support by Americans for colleges and universities. According to the American Association of Fund Raising Counsel (36, p. 7), Americans during this period

...increased their investment in the nation's philanthropically supported institutions at a faster pace than either personal income or the gross national product advanced. Private support of our religious, educational, health, and social welfare organizations increased 199 per cent in this period, while personal income rose 78 per cent, and the gross nation product 77 per cent.

The upward trend in gifts continued through the 1960's and early 1970's. However, costs of American higher education have continued to increase at a faster rate than ever before. American colleges and universities were founded on gifts in the seventeenth century - American colleges and universities needed gifts throughout their history to continue serving American society - American colleges and universities in the 1970's need gifts to continue to provide a high quality of higher education.

Related Research

No studies were found which treated directly the attitudes of donors where valid sampling criteria or statistical significance tests were used. However, several studies were found which dealt with research related to the present study.

Spaeth and Greeley (83) investigated the attitudes of a national sample of college alumni from the class of 1961 on several important issues in higher education: loyalty to one's alma mater; participation of students in determining policies; and financing of higher education. According to the findings reported, alumni of 1961 would not be considered loyal supporters of their <u>alma mater</u>. Findings showed that approximately 75 percent of the alumni reported that they did not have strong feelings toward their <u>alma mater</u>; 20 percent had never visited their <u>alma mater</u> since graduation; and 60 percent did not belong to alumni organizations.

Alumni did not appear to favor student participation in campus decision making. Approximately four-fifths of the alumni responding opposed conceding rights to students to participate in decisions on faculty tenure, admission standards, and tuition. The report indicated that more than 50 percent were sympathetic to student protests while 60 percent thought students should have the right to participate in decisions on the organization of the curriculum.

The alumni sampled expressed their views on financing of higher education:

...nearly three in five agree that state taxes should be raised to provide more money for higher education. Forty-five percent agree that all colleges should receive federal aid to help cover operating expenses; 61 percent would favor federal aid to institutions with no religious affiliation; only 17 percent favor no federal aid at all. Opinions on state aid are very similar. Forty-one percent favor state aid to all colleges; 61 percent would extend such aid to public and nondenominational institutions (83, p. 6).

Findings indicated that alumni appeared to be "...aware of the problems of financing higher education, concerned that they be solved, willing to undergo at least a mild sacrifice to contribute to their solution, and receptive to government subsidies for schools and students" (83, p. 7). It was also found that campus unrest was not related to giving. The charac-
teristics of the college, the alumnus' loyalty to the college, and the alumnus' socioeconomic background were the most important kinds of variables found to be related to alumni giving.

Bacon and Pride (2) reported on an American College Public Relations Association survey which studied responsibilities and development goals related to fund raising and alumni affairs. Included in the study were 241 institutions of higher education: 39 state universities, 20 private universities, and 182 private colleges. Findings showed that over two-thirds of the institutions sampled reported that they had long-range objectives. Approximately 90 percent of the institutions who responded to the question reported that their long-range development goals were expressed in terms of dollars. "A slight tendency toward stating objectives in terms of dollars was evident at institutions raising the most money in all three institutional categories" (2, p. 10).

Trustees and the president had important functions in the fund raising process. Approximately 80 percent of the sampled colleges and universities stated that their trustees made personal contact with prospective donors with the purpose of explicitly requesting a gift. The percentage reporting solicitation calls by the president was over 90 percent.

Alumni offices reported that 20 to 40 percent of their time was devoted to fund raising. The median for private colleges was higher than for public and private universities.

Andrews (1) reported a research study on the attitudes of givers which was conducted by the National Opinion Research Center in 1953. Data were collected from interviews with people of various incomes measuring their attitudes on giving in general and was not specifically related to giving

in higher education. No valid sampling technique was used, the sample studied was small, and no tests of statistical significance were performed on the data. Findings indicated that: (1) many major contributors "...were, or had been, volunteer workers for the agencies which fared best in their giving" (1, p. 22); (2) to raise money an institution had to ask for it; (3) giving did something for the donor himself; and (4) giving arose from direct sympathy with the project being funded.

Concerns of Higher Education Relevant to the Study

The overall purpose of the present research was to describe and analyze the attitudes of donors concerning certain topical areas which are important in higher education. In the preliminary stages of designing the study to achieve this purpose, many factors were considered and decisions were made that culminated in the definition of scope and the specific objectives presented in the Introduction. Review of literature indicated the following areas to be relevant to the study: the philosophy and objectives of colleges and universities, the alumni office in the overall functioning of the college or university, and issues pertaining to financing and fund raising in higher education.

Philosophy and objectives of colleges and universities

Knowledge of, and respect for, the philosophy and objectives played a significant part in the total functioning of the university. If a college or university is to develop, the process of development should involve the whole of the college or university community (92). According to Wireman (92, p. 4), "...development is an effort on the part of the entire institu-

tion to analyze critically its educational philosophy, and program specific steps which must be taken to realize that philosophy...."

Gross and Grambsch (39) have shown that discrepancies existed between the perceived and preferred goals of colleges and universities. And yet, according to Eldridge (30, p. 29), "The first principle [in fund raising] is that a successful fund-raising campaign must grow out of a philosophy of education in general and of one's own institution in particular." Gould (37, p. 14) in discussing the weaknesses of higher education related that:

The real problem ... is that too many institutions of learning have no clear conception of their own particular purposes and goals. They all share in a common desire to be better and stronger and of greater service, but they have rarely gone through the intellectual exercise of determining just exactly what their roles are in the total spectrum of educational need.

In discussing the positive effects of the fund raising process in higher education and its relation to academic goals and philosophy and the self-study initiated within this process, Hanson (41, p. 14) stated that:

...it achieves understanding of problems and acceptance of goals on the part of the participants.... All public relations and fund raising activities are conceived and executed as means for helping to achieve the educational goals of the institution.... The knowledge, insight and skill of the members of the academic community are harnessed and used in carrying the program forward. The result is better morale and increased dedication to accepted ideals. In short, the development program becomes an educational enterprise, full of learning experiences, reaching high for the fuller achievement of the purposes of the institution.

Questions were being asked in the early 1970's regarding the role of institutions of higher education in relation to society and the student. American colleges and universities, public and private, have historically reflected prevailing societal values (58). However, questions have arisen as to whether institutions of higher education could best serve society in this manner or by being centers of independent thinking "...where social

and personal norms are under constant reevaluation" (58, p. 8). Research has shown that the preferred college experience encouraged critical thinking and a spirit of intellectual reflection (31, 48, 58, 83). Martin (58,

p. 62) contended that:

The challenge before colleges and universities, then, is to persuade the general public that their role is to educate students to serve society as a critical conscience and a source of alternative futures... ...society must be brought to see, despite great risks inherent in this process that students and faculty serve best when they criticize and create.

However, Martin (57, p. 29) claimed that:

Independence dare not mean isolation, because the next transformation of man will involve a world culture for the whole man. Yet, independence must mean free inquiry and independent thought if we are to effect a transformation.

Luria and Luria (54) suggested that there was a danger that colleges and universities only considered what they could do for society as it was rather than what role they could play in society's evolution. They stated (54, p. 77) that "...many people believe that the university has a critical responsibility to interact in an active rather than a passive role." Their claim was that (54, pp. 78-79):

Even though to do so represents a departure from some cherished illusions of neutrality and detachment, it amounts only to acknowledging the real situation and making the university's role in society less ambiguous. The university today is a major business enterprise, preempting facilities of increasing magnitude and competing with other sectors of the community for funds and Lebensraum.

In contrasting students of the 1950's with students of the 1960's, Sanford (76) suggested that "...we may anticipate educational innovation and reform. Changes will be guided by increased understanding of students' needs...." However, although individual development and emphasis on the student were stressed in the philosophy of many college and university catalogues and also in their commencement addresses, Sanford (76) claimed that it tended to be ignored in practice.

Alumni office

The alumni office acted as a liaison between the alumni and other constituents of the university community (94). The importance of effective communication among the various constituencies was stressed by Gould (37). He stated (37, p. 27):

If higher education wishes to regain public confidence, it will have to reorganize itself to be closer to the community it serves.... This community includes students, faculty, and alumni, who constitute its internal community; it also includes business, industry, civic leaders, cultural and social agencies, any group or any individuals concerned about the present and future patterns of American life.

Maintaining communication with alumni could be accomplished through a program of reunions, seminars, continuing education, and direct mailing. According to Bennett (3), experience has shown that colleges and universities with the soundest programs and the best communication vehicles for these programs would get their share and more of available funds. Bennett (3), Pollard (68), and Umbeck (87) emphasized the necessity of a sound, long-range development plan as prerequisite to a successful fund raising program. Attention, interest, involvement, and commitment were the important concepts in developing alumni support emphasized by McAnally (61).

Once the college or university had the attention of the alumni constituency, the interest of the alumni would be built. Discussing the concept of interest in one's <u>alma mater</u>, McAnally (61, p. 29) stated:

This is the primary function of the case statement, which should be a simple summary of the aims, objectives and needs of the institution which can be realized through alumni support.... ...people are entitled to know why you are asking for money and what you intend to do with it. You must give your alumni a reason to want to give to the college, and you must present it in such a way that it will precipitate affirmative action.

McAnally (61) concluded that involvement and commitment by alumni should proceed from a strong alumni program built on attention and interest.

Davis (29) and Eldridge (30) stressed the importance of suggesting to donors that gifts be given for specific purposes and that donors be informed as to the use being made of their gifts. It had been the experience of Eldridge (30, p. 29) "...that people who have the means to support higher education will respond to interesting ideas which are well presented."

Financing higher education

Financial policies of colleges and universities from early colonial times to the present were closely related to voluntary support for colleges and universities. American higher education in the colonial period was financed by student fees, endowment, and public subsidies (10, 74). Although these early institutions of higher education accepted gifts, they did not surrender control over the policies and objectives of the college (10). In the 1970's, a major question regarding financing of higher education was who should have control over the shaping and planning of the financial policies of colleges and universities.

Expenditures for American higher education increased from \$6.6 billion to \$21.0 billion during the 1960's. While expenditures for colleges and universities tripled, enrollment more than doubled from 3.6 million to 7.9 million for the same period (8, 49). Increased expenditures for American higher education created pressures on colleges and universities to find new sources of support or obtain greater support from existing sources. These

pressures had also caused concern regarding the inefficient use of existing resources (6, 19, 20, 37, 44, 79, 89).

The major sources of funds for institutions of higher education as a percentage of total income averaged over public and private institutions for the late 1960's were: Federal Government (approximately 24.0 percent); State (approximately 23.5 percent); student tuition and fees (approximately 22 percent); all other - including private gifts and endowment earnings (approximately 30.5 percent) (18, 40, 81).

Increasing state aid in the form of direct grants to private colleges and universities and grants to students who attended them appeared "...to be aggravating anew the conflict between public and private institutions of higher education" (80). In 1971, 35 states gave aid, at least indirectly, to private colleges and universities (27, 63). Two basic arguments were presented by advocates of state aid to private colleges and universities:

That such aid is cheaper in the long run for the states than starting new public institutions.

That if private colleges fail, the diversity of higher education will be destroyed (80, p. 5).

Support of higher education by the Federal Government "...originated with the provision for land grants in the Northwest Ordinances of the 1780's " (18, p. 16). Two of the greatest developments which influenced the American higher educational system came from the Federal Government: (1) the Morrill Land Grant Act of 1862 and the Second Morril Act in 1890; and (2) federal support of scientific research during World War II (51). Brubacher (10, p. 235) stated that:

...through most of the history of federal aid to education, funds were granted directly to the states or to public institutions through the states. It was not until the 1930's that Washington

began to grant assistance in peacetime to private institutions, with which it commenced to deal directly. Even then, it did so by dispensing funds to individuals attending institutions of learning, rather than to the institutions themselves.

According to Wolk (93, p. 1):

From the end of World War II until the launching of the Soviet Sputnik, educators and government officials debated whether the federal government should aid higher education. ...the debate [today] revolves around the permanent form that the federal aid will take.

Five major alternative methods of federal funding for higher education

have been suggested:

- 1. Categorical Aid funds provided through grants, contracts, or loans in support of a specific project or goal designated by the granting agency.
- 2. Aid to Students grants or loans directly to students or through institutions to cover all or part of educational expenses.
- 3. Grants to Institutions funds provided to institutions for broad or undesignated purposes.
- 4. Tax Relief assistance to taxpayers for educational expenses through exemptions, deductions, or credits in the payment of taxes....
- 5. Revenue Sharing the return to the states of certain tax monies collected by the federal government (93, p. 9).

Fund raising

Financial planning was an aspect of fund raising which was a concern of various constituencies in the college or university community. Stressing the importance of planning in helping to solve the financial problems of colleges and universities, Pollard (68, p. 47) suggested carrying on a development program

...based on a) the mission of the institution, its particular role in society, b) intelligent planning in which all of its responsible elements - trustees, president, faculty, alumni, other friends, and students - take part fully, and c) cultivation and solicitation for an appropriate educational program, on a broad scale, among all of the institution's constituencies. Identification of prospective donors and assistance in the fund raising process by students, parents of students, faculty, the president, trustees, alumni, and friends of the institution was also stressed by several authors (2, 23, 24, 30, 47, 67, 69, 92). A group of professional fund raisers and educators suggested that volunteers have an important function in the fund raising process (4, 30, 68, 71, 85).

Factors were identified which encouraged or discouraged potential donors to higher education. Factors identified as possibly encouraging potential donors were: loyalty, tax considerations, an altruistic impulse, confidence in the strength of the college or university, past accomplishments of gifts, and belief in the work of the institution (9, 34, 35, 53, 68, 87, 92). Factors identified as possibly discouraging potential donors were: problematic business conditions, an uncertain stock market, contributions to the church and other charitable organizations, campus unrest, lack of interest, lack of finances, and lack of contact with one's <u>alma</u> mater (28, 53, 68, 83, 88).

According to the Council for Financial Aid to Education report on Voluntary Support of Education 1970-1971, a distinct change in the pattern of voluntary support per institution by purpose emerged in the period 1965 to 1971. It was reported that (88, p. 66):

The most important of these [changes] concerns support given for physical plant - funds for the purchase, construction, improvement, operation and maintenance of buildings, grounds, equipment and other facilities. Support for this purpose which rose more than 13% per year prior to 1964-65, has shown no growth whatever in the past six years. In fact, the 1970-71 figure is 8.3% less than the amount reported in 1964-65. Since this is one of the principal categories of support for capital purposes, this observation is consistent with the fact that support for current operations has been responsible for all of the growth in total voluntary support since 1964-65.

Support designated for student aid, basic research, and unrestricted support maintained relatively stable growth patterns. Approximately one-third of voluntary support for higher education was unrestricted as to use, and about two-thirds was designated for specific purposes (88).

Many private business firms have participated in matching gift programs where they contribute an amount equal to that contributed by their employees. These companies have matching gift programs with both public and private institutions of higher education and most include public and private institutions on an equal basis (56). The total dollar amount from corporate support received through matching gift programs has risen every year since data were first tabulated in 1966-1967. The overall gain for the four-year period, 1966-1970, was 70 percent. Both an increase in the total number of gifts matched by business and industry and an increase in the size of the average gift matched were reflected in the growth (88).

Fund raising activities involving trusts and insurance programs which provided income to a college or university while continuing to offer protection to the donor could help to assure ultimate capital gifts (30, 33, 67). A drop of 11.7 percent was reported in the total of deferred giving in 1970-1971. However, bequests accounted for over one-third of the total support received from individuals in 1970-1971, which was an increase of 43.3 percent (88). According to Webster (90), a bequest is a gift of money or other personal property left by will. Cash contributions continued to be a favored form of giving to colleges and universities in 1970-1971.

Tax incentives had helped colleges and universities to obtain gifts that donors previously thought they could not afford, and they had encour-

aged donors to increase the size of gifts (32, 45, 46, 68). However, the Tax Reform Act of 1969 provided that deductions for gifts-in-kind could be valued only at cost. Deductions were previously allowed on such gifts at their market value (27, 62). The net effect of this legislation was not yet clear (88).

The investment policies of colleges and universities "...involves not only choosing good securities, but, more important, the selection of the right combination of securities of different kinds to provide a constant maximum return consistent with investment objectives" (40, p. 38). Three of the principal categories of securities in which institutions of higher education have invested were: common and preferred stocks, bonds, and real estate (17, 22, 40, 44, 52, 56, 75, 84). Investing of college and university funds was usually carried out by a committee of trustees - individuals experienced in investments and industry or a volunteer alumni committee, a large bank or investment house, or a small investment house (17, 22, 56, 75).

METHOD OF PROCEDURE

The purpose of the present study was to describe and analyze the attitudes of alumni donors concerning certain topical areas which are considered important in higher education. These areas pertain to the philosophy and objectives of colleges and universities, the role of the alumni office in the overall functioning of the college or university, and issues concerned with financing and fund raising. Procedures used in research design, sample selection, instrument development, data collection and analysis were described in this chapter.

Research Design

A survey method of investigation was used to determine the attitudes of donors. Because of the wide geographical distribution of the sample, it was considered to be reasonable and economical to collect data by mail. The survey was conducted in one phase using a survey instrument.

Population and Sample

Based on factors of time and economy, it was decided to limit the study to donors from three institutions of higher education within Iowa. These institutions were characteristic of three types of colleges and universities: the private college, the private university, and the public university. The selected college and universities were: Cornell College, a private college; Drake University, a private university; and Iowa State University, a public university. The sampled population were alumni from these three institutions of higher education.

It was believed that the attitudes of alumni who attended college in certain time periods might differ from alumni of other time periods due to different social, political, and economic factors. The following periods of time were established as being relevant for the study: Pre-1930, 1930-39, 1940-49, 1950-59, and 1960-68. The rationale for selecting these eras was:

Pre-1930: The Pre-1930 era included the pre-World War I period and the World War I period. In the period preceding World War I, the United States shed its nineteenth century isolationism and emerged as a world power. Large scale philanthropy which influenced colleges and universities began (28). There was little fund raising by the three selected institutions of higher education. World War I brought financial problems to practically all colleges and universities (33). The era of the intensive campaign, the post-war period, was

...ideal for ...[fund raising] drives, first because the need for funds was imperative; second, the country was in a condition of unprecedented prosperity; third, the American people were still in the habit and spirit of giving to worthwhile causes; and fourth, a highly developed technique had been evolved for nationwide intensive campaigns as a result of the war service drives (33, p. 5).

1930-39: The financial resources of most Americans were affected by the great depression. The depression years also brought economic hardships to many colleges and universities. The Federal Government responded with the establishment of the Federal Emergency Relief Act in 1933, the founding of the National Youth Administration in 1935, and in 1937 the establishment of the National Cancer Institute Act and the Civilian Conservation Corps (93). An increase in enrollments was experienced during this era putting increasing financial pressures on colleges and universities.

1940-49: With World War II and its aftermath, the 1940's provided a challenging era to higher education. Until World War II, "There was no continuing federal involvement with higher education" (51, p. 52). Enrollment was low in the early 1940's, but with the passage of the G.I. Bill in 1944, a dramatic increase in enrollment in higher education was experienced.

1950-59: The Korean War, the McCarthy era, and the launching of the Soviet space satellite were forces that influenced the direction of higher education in the 1950's. Broadening of federal support to higher education was provided by the establishment of the National Science Foundation in 1950, the Housing Act in the same year, and the passage of the National Defense Education Act in 1958.

Sanford (76, p. 32) commented on the effect of the period on colleges:

During ...[this] period there was a relative shortage of young people of college age, which had resulted from the lower birth rate of the Depression years. At the same time, there was great emphasis on economic growth and national security. Such a combination produces conservative ideology.... Education was geared to produce young people who would strengthen the society and its economy.

1960-68: The 1960's witnessed a great increase in enrollments at colleges and universities, and national attention was being focused on campus events. During the 1960's, the Kennedy civil rights movement

...has waxed and waned and has been replaced by Black Power and Black Separatism. Vietnam has raised an entirely new set of issues. And both racism and the actions of the military-industrial complex have moved, as sources of concern, from somewhere "out there" to become foci of direct relevance to a college or university (83, p. 1).

In discussing alumni of the early 1960's, Greeley (38, p. 2) contended that, "However they may differ from their predecessors in style, the 1961 alumni ...have much in common with those who came after them."

Sampling technique

The sampled population was stratified by era of graduation and donor classification. Since alumni from similar eras of graduation were hypothesized to be more homogeneous with respect to their attitudes, stratification was expected to produce greater precision in the estimation of population characteristics. Cochran (21, p. 88) stated that, "If each stratum is homogeneous, ...a precise estimate of any stratum mean can be obtained from a small sample in that stratum. These estimates can then be combined into a precise estimate for the whole population." Alumni were selected for each era on the basis of their year or projected year of graduation. It was decided that a further gain in precision would be obtained by listing alumni alphabetically by college or division in which they earned their first degree at the university being sampled for each year of graduation.

For the two universities included in the study, the colleges or divisions within each university were ordered alphabetically. The College of Divinity at Drake University was discontinued in 1968. However, the sampled population from Drake included alumni from this college and so it was included in the listing of colleges. The ordering of colleges for Drake University was: College of Business Administration, College of Divinity, College of Education, College of Fine Arts, School of Journalism, Law School, College of Liberal Arts, and College of Pharmacy. The ordering for Iowa State University was: College of Agriculture, College of Education, College of Engineering, College of Home Economics, College of Sciences and Humanities, and College of Veterinary Medicine. Alumni from the Graduate College at Iowa State University were included in the college of their major subject.

Listings of major donors, consecutive donors, non-consecutive donors, and non-donors were compiled from the files at the Development Offices of Cornell College and Drake University and from the Alumni Office at Iowa State University. Because the number of major donors at each of the selected institutions of higher education was less than 75, the whole population of major donors was included in the study. A stratified systematic sampling technique was used to select 75 alumni from each of the remaining donor classifications at each of the three institutions.

Development of the Instrument¹

The purpose of the instrument was to obtain, as accurately and completely as possible, information concerning the attitudes of donors at Cornell College, Drake University, and Iowa State University on topical areas which are important in higher education. The characteristics desired for the instrument were that it:

1. measure the attitudes of donors;

2. permit a range of responses;

3. yield scores that could be treated statistically;

and, 4. be relatively short.

A nine-point scale was constructed using numerical designations and descriptive phrases to define the points on a continuum. In the instructions provided, each respondent was requested to consider the extent of his agreement with each of the first 91 items and then record his judgment by entering the appropriate number in the blank before each item.

¹Item 79 was inadvertently omitted in the reproduction of the instrument.

The scale used was:



In the final part of the instrument, a statement was presented to which the respondent was to respond by writing in the percentages which in his opinion were appropriate.

The instrument was pre-tested with college and university alumni who were not in the sample. These alumni represented a wide range of majors and ages. Revisions were made based on a review of the interpretation of specific questions, style of questions, layout of the instrument, and the time required to complete the instrument.

The items selected for the instrument were based on issues identified in the literature as being of interest to donors in higher education. These issues pertained to the philosophy and objectives of colleges and universities, the role of the alumni office in the overall functioning of the college or university, and issues concerned with financing and fund raising in higher education.

Items 1 through 8 dealt with the attitudes of alumni concerning the philosophy and objectives of colleges and universities. Included were items which related to the philosophy and objectives of the college or university in relation to society, students, the clarity and internal consistency of the philosophy and objectives, and the retention of private colleges and universities in the American system of higher education.

The attitudes of alumni relating to the role of the alumni office in the overall functioning of the college or university were covered in items

27 through 42. Although fund raising through alumni has been the function of the Development Offices at Cornell College and Drake University since 1964, it was believed that most alumni associate fund raising with the alumni office and thus the term alumni office was used in these items. Included were items pertaining to the communication of the alumni office with alumni, monetary gifts to one's <u>alma mater</u> in relation to the alumni office, and evaluation of the program of the alumni office.

Items 10 through 26 and 93 through 100 pertained to the financing of higher education. Issues included were those relating to the lack of financial support for colleges and universities, the forces that are effective in shaping or changing the financial planning of colleges and universities, the role of the Federal Government in increased funding for higher education, and an analysis of the contributions from the major sources of support for higher education.

Fund raising in higher education was treated in items 43 through 92. Included were items pertaining to the role of various constituents in the fund raising process, preferred forms of giving by alumni, uses to be made of gifts received in fund raising, investment of monies received through gifts, tax incentives in relation to gifts, and factors which encourage or discourage alumni gifts.

Data Collection

At the time of the initial mailing of the instrument, June 1, 1972, a total of 843 alumni composed the sample. A copy of the instrument, Appendix A, with an accompanying letter explaining the purpose of the instrument, Appendix B, and a stamped, self-addressed envelope were sent to each of the

843 alumni. The instrument was marked with a code number to facilitate follow-up. In the cover letter, the respondents were assured that their responses would be treated with strict confidence and that the code number had been included only for follow-up purposes.

Approximately two weeks after the initial mailing, a follow-up letter, Appendix B, was sent to all of those who had not replied. A second followup letter, Appendix B, was sent approximately two weeks after the first, accompanied by a copy of the instrument and a stamped, self-addressed envelope. First class postage was used in all mailings.

Analysis of Data

Pearson product moment correlation coefficients (81) were calculated for the first 91 items of the instrument. The correlation coefficients were tested for significance to study the relationships among the items.

Factor analyses (43, 65) by the principal components technique and varimax rotation were performed on items 1 through 42 and items 43 through 92 to determine common factors. Factor analyses by the principal components technique and varimax rotation for items 1 through 8 and items 27 through 42 were performed to determine common factors for these two groups of items.

The coefficient of reliability (73) was calculated for each of the groups except group 5 which included the items for which responses were recorded in percentages rather than a nine-point rating scale. Richardson defined the coefficient of reliability (R) as:

$$R = \frac{n\overline{r}}{1 + (n-1)\overline{r}}$$

where n = the number of items and \overline{r} is the average intercorrelation among the items. However, since the statements within each group were analyzed individually and not as a composite, reliability coefficients were only reported for future reference.

Because of the unequal numbers of observations on the various treatments, an unweighted factorial analysis of variance (82, 91) using three factors (colleges, donor classifications, and eras of graduation) was performed on each item to analyze the variation of the data by type of college, donor classification, and era of graduation, and the interaction effects of these factors. Since there were no major donors from Cornell's 1960-68 era, a degree of freedom was lost from the three-way interaction of colleges, donor classifications, and eras of graduation. Scheffé's test (77) was used for testing hypotheses regarding differences between means when compared on a paired basis.

The five percent level of significance was chosen as the level of rejection of the null hypotheses. Throughout this study, conclusions in regard to whether the null hypotheses were rejected were implied from the reported results of the statistical analyses.

FINDINGS

The present study investigated the attitudes of donors concerning certain topical areas which are considered important in higher education (3, 51, 76, 92). Following the discussion of response to the instrument and determination of groupings, the findings of the study are presented in relation to the following areas: the philosophy and objectives of colleges;¹ the role of the alumni office in the overall functioning of the college; and issues pertaining to financing and fund raising in higher education.

The specific null hypotheses to be tested were:

There were no significant differences in the attitudes of donors by:

- a) Type of college
- b) Donor classification
- c) Era of graduation.

Response to the Instrument

The percentage distribution of respondents is shown in Table 1. The number of respondents was not reported because of the confidential nature of the number of major donors. Six hundred and thirty of the alumni in the sample, or 74.7 percent, completed the instrument. The percentages of alumni who responded by college were 76.3, 67.7, and 80.5 for Cornell, Drake, and Iowa State University, respectively. When alumni were categorized by donor classification as major, consecutive, non-consecutive, and non-donor, the percentages who responded were 70.8, 82.7, 79.6, and 64.9, respectively. The percentages of respondents by era of graduation

¹ Throughout the remainder of this study, colleges and universities are referred to as colleges.

	Era of	п	onor class	ification ^a		
College	graduation	M	C	NC	ND	Total
	Pre-1930	68.0	80.0	80.0	33.3	65.7
	1930-39	87 .0	86.7	73.3	66.7	77.4
Cornel1	1940-49	71.4	93 .3	86.7	80.0	80.0
	1950-59	100.0	86.7	73.3	73.3	78.3
	1960-68		86.7	86.7	66.7	80.0
	Total	73.2	86.7	80.0	64.0	76.3
	Pre-1930	60.0	80.0	80.0	33.3	62.7
	1930-39	61.5	80.0	66.7	60.0	67.2
Drake	1940-49	66.7	73.3	86.7	53.3	70.2
	1950-59	54.5	66.7	80.0	66.7	67.9
	1960-68	80.0	80.0	73.3	66.7	74.0
	Total	62.0	76.0	77.3	56.0	67.7
	Pre-1930	81.8	93.3	86.7	46.7	77.2
	1930-39	76.9	80.0	80.0	86.7	81.0
Iowa State	1940-49	88.9	93.3	86.7	66.7	83.3
	1950-59	66.7	80.0	73.3	86.7	77.8
	1960-68	100.0	80.0	80.0	86.7	83.3
	Total	80.4	85.3	81.3	75.0	80.5
	Grand Total	70.8	82.7	79.6	64.9	74.7

Table l.	Percentage	distribution	n of re	spondents	classified	by	college,
	donor class	aification, a	nd era	of gradu	ation		

^aM, major donor; C, consecutive donor; NC, non-consecutive donor; ND, non-donor.

were 68.4, 75.2, 79.1, 74.7, and 79.0 for the Pre-1930, 1930-39, 1940-49, 1950-59, and the 1960-68 eras, respectively.

Response to the instrument was highest for alumni from Iowa State and lowest for Drake alumni. The percentage of alumni contributing to the annual fund during 1970-71 for Cornell, Drake, and Iowa State was 19.20, 13.67, and 13.30, respectively (88). From these data, it might be expected that Cornell would have the highest percentage of respondents. A partial explanation for Iowa State having the highest percentage of respondents might be that the study was being conducted by a student of Iowa State. Cornell is a small private college, and it is possible that a closer bond is felt by alumni to their <u>alma mater</u> than at a large private institution such as Drake. This could account for the higher percentage of respondents from Cornell than from Drake.

By donor classification, the largest percentage of respondents was in the consecutive donor classification, followed closely by non-consecutive donors. Consecutive donors, by definition, were donors who had contributed each year during the specified time period and might be expected to have the highest percentage of respondents. However, the high percentage of respondents from the non-consecutive donor group was unexpected. It was noted that of the seven items concerned with why alumni are discouraged from giving to their <u>alma mater</u>, "lack of finances" had the highest mean response for non-consecutive donors. A partial explanation for the high percentage of responses from non-consecutive donors might be that they were still interested in their <u>alma mater</u> but due to lack of finances did not contribute each year. It was of interest to note that Drake's non-consecutive donors had a higher percentage of responses than its consecutive donors.

A possible explanation for the relatively low percentage of respondents from the major donor classification might be that a larger percentage of major donors were from the Pre-1930 era (40.24 percent). Among the different eras of graduation, the Pre-1930 era had the lowest percentage of respondents. Non-donors had the lowest percentage of respondents.

Percentage distribution of respondents by era of graduation was highest for the 1940-49 era (79.1 percent); the 1960-68 era had a 79.0 percent response; the Pre-1930 era had the lowest percentage of respondents.

Examination of non-respondents showed that 50 alumni, or 5.6 percent of the sample, did not cooperate because of sickness, death, lack of interest, or because completed instruments were received after the cutoff date. It had been anticipated that since there would be alumni from the Pre-1930 era who graduated prior to 1900, the sample would include alumni who were incapacitated or had already died, but alumni office lists had not been updated.

There was 19.3 percent of alumni who did not respond to any of the mailings. A five percent sample of these non-respondents would be eight alumni. It was decided that since the number of respondents was large, 630, the procedure of sampling five percent of non-respondents would not significantly alter the findings.

Determination of Groupings

Relationships between variables were estimated by calculating Pearson product moment correlation coefficients¹ (Appendix C) and factor analyses of items 1 through 92 (Appendix D).

Factor analyses by the principal components technique and varimax rotation of the principal components solution were performed on items 1 through 92 to determine common factors. Because of the large number of

¹In all correlation matrices included in this study, the decimal point has been omitted and only the first two digits of each coefficient are given.

factors extracted, it was decided to analyze the data by groupings as indicated by Pearson product moment correlation coefficients, factor analyses, and organization of the instrument.

There were 91 items analyzed in 12 groups; the eight remaining statements were analyzed individually. Groups and statements classified under four topical areas were:

- Philosophy and objectives of colleges
 Group 1: items 1 through 8
- Alumni office in the overall functioning of the college Group 2: items 27 through 42
- 3. Financing higher education

Items 9, 10, and 11

Group 3: items 12 through 21 Group 4: items 22 through 26 Group 5: items 93 through 100

4. Fund raising in higher education Items 43, 44, 53, 54, and 55 Group 6: items 45 through 52 Group 7: items 56 through 63 Group 8: items 64 through 66 Group 9: items 67 through 71 Group 10: items 72 through 78 Group 11: items 80 through 86 Group 12: items 87 through 92.

Analysis of Areas

Factorial analyses of variance were used to test for significant differences among main effects (colleges, donor classifications, and eras of graduation) and significant interaction effects of these factors. Tables for items where no main effect was found to be significant are given in Appendix E. Fifteen significant interaction effects were noted. Interactions which were found to be significant but which had no corresponding significant main effect were not discussed. Thirty-one significant differences and 59 highly significant differences were found for main effects. Summary of significant differences for main effects is presented in Table 2. The numbers of significant differences found among colleges, donor classifications, and eras of graduation were 32, 28, and 30, respectively.

Where a main effect was significant at the .05 level, Scheffe's test was used to test for significant differences between means when compared on

Area	No. significant differences by college	No. significant differences by donor	No. significant differences by era
Philosophy and objectives	3	0	1
Alumni office	4	4	6
Financing	12	2	5
Fund raising	13	22	18
Total	32	28	30

Table 2. Summary of the numbers of significant differences among colleges, donor classifications, and eras of graduation by area

paired basis. Means and standard deviations for all items classified by college, donor classification, and era of graduation are presented in Appendix F. Table 3 presents the summary of the numbers of significant differences between colleges, donor classifications, and eras of graduation. The numbers of significant differences noted between colleges, donor classifications, and eras of graduation were 45, 36, and 35, respectively.

	<u></u>		Area	<u>, , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , </u>	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·
Comparison	Philosophy and objectives	Alumni office	Financing	Fund raising	Total
CO-D		3	1	7	11
CO-IS	2	1	9	8	20
D-IS	1		8	5	14
M-C			1	4	5
M-NC		1	1	5	7
M-ND		3	2	10	15
C-NC		-		1	1
C-ND		3		5	8
NC-ND					
E1-E2					
E1-E3		5		4	9
E1-E4		2		5	7
E1-E5	1	2	1	10	14
E2-E3		1			1
E2-E4		· 1			1
E2-E5		1	1		2
E3-E4					
E3-E5			1		1
E4-E5					

Table 3. Summary of the numbers of significant differences between colleges, donor classifications, and eras of graduation by area

^aCO, Cornell; D, Drake; IS, Iowa State.

^bM, major donor; C, consecutive donor; NC, non-consecutive donor; ND, non-donor.

^CE1, Pre-1930; E2, 1930-39; E3, 1940-49; E4, 1950-59; E5, 1960-68.

Philosophy and objectives of colleges

Items pertaining to the philosophy and objectives of colleges formed group 1. Statements numbered as in the instrument were:

- Colleges and universities should have a philosophy and objectives relevant to today's society.
- Colleges and universities should have clarity and internal consistency in their philosophy and objectives.
- 3. Colleges and universities should be responsive to students' goals.
- Colleges and universities should be centers of independent thinking.
- 5. Colleges and universities should evolve with society.
- 6. Colleges and universities should have extracurricular activities related to the objectives of the school.
- 7. Colleges and universities should be mediums for social change.
- 8. Private colleges and universities should be retained in the American system of higher education.

Although none of the mean responses to the statements on the instrument was rated "agree completely" by the respondents, degrees of agreement, disagreement, and uncertainty were indicated by the mean ratings. Each mean had a possible value from one to nine. Mean ratings of 3 or below were indicative of disagreement. Weak disagreement was indicated by means between 3 and 4. Ratings of 4 through 6 indicated uncertainty, that is, respondents neither agreed nor disagreed with the statements. Weak agreement was indicated by means between 6 and 7. Means of 7 or above were considered indicative of agreement with the statements. Means and standard deviations for donors are presented in Table 4. To facilitate discussion, the items in this and subsequent tables are numbered as in the instrument.

	Don	ors
Item no.	Mean	S.D.
1	7.70	1.65
2	7.94	1.70
3	7.02	1.80
4	7.22	2.03
5	7.13	1.82
6	7.40	1.81
7	5.61	2.47
8	8.65	1.06

Table 4. Means and standard deviations of responses on items 1 through 8 for donors

Donors indicated agreement with all statements in the group except item 7. In response to item 7 that "Colleges should be mediums for social change," donors indicated uncertainty, neither agreeing nor disagreeing with the statement. The standard deviation was high on this item indicating that donors did not agree about what influence colleges should have as mediums for social change. In this and subsequent tables, mean responses between 4 and 6 along with high standard deviations (2 or above) indicated a wide variation in responses.

Findings indicated agreement with Frantzreb (69) in that clarity, consistency, and relevance to today's society were considered important aspects of the philosophy and objectives of colleges. This was important because, as Frantzreb (69, p. 7) emphasized, the first thing for a college to do in the fund raising process is "...to decide upon a mission and then be sure it is relevant to today's society." In practice, Gross and Grambsch (39) noted that discrepancies existed between the perceived and preferred goals of colleges.

Agreement by donors that colleges should be centers of independent thinking and that colleges should evolve with society were indicated. Donors seemed to agree with the findings of Spaeth and Greeley (83) and Feldman and Newcomb (31) and the writings of Katz (48) and Martin (57) that colleges could best serve society by being centers of independent thinking.

Donors also seemed to agree with Sanford (76) that colleges should be more responsive to students' goals. However, as noted in the review of literature, Sanford (76) claimed that although emphasis on the student was stressed in the philosophy of many college catalogs and also in their commencement addresses, it tended to be ignored in practice. The findings of Gross and Grambsch's study of administrators, governing boards, and a 10 percent sampling of faculty at 68 universities, both public and non-denominational private, indicated that "...goals related to students receive relatively little emphasis at American universities...." (39, p. 109).

Donors agreed very strongly that private colleges should be retained in the American system of higher education. This could help to ensure diversity and provide alternatives within the higher educational system.

Intercorrelations and reliability coefficient Pearson product moment correlation coefficients were employed to test the relationships between each of the eight items related to the philosophy and objectives of colleges. The correlation matrix is presented in Table 5. A correlation coefficient of .08 was significantly different from zero at the .05 level

Item no.	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8
1		- <u></u>						
2	22							
3	41	12						
4	34	01	38					
5	48	11	42	36				
6	21	29	22	05	24			
7	35	-01	31	41	36	14		
8	06	11	08	07	07	16	05	

Table 5. Intercorrelations for items related to philosophy and objectives of colleges

with 628 degrees of freedom. The coefficient of reliability for the group was .70.

<u>Factor analyses</u> Factor analyses of items 1 through 8 were used to determine common factors. Results of principal components factor analysis and varimax rotation of the principal components solution are presented in Tables 6 and 7, respectively.

After varimax rotation of the principal components solution, items 1, 3, 4, 5, and 7 loaded highly (.450 or above) on factor I. Items 2 and 6 loaded highly on factor II. Item 8 did not load highly on either factor. Although the percent of total variance accounted for by the two factors was relatively low, 33.677, it appeared that at least two things were being measured:

- The internal consistency of the philosophy and objectives of colleges, and
- Colleges in relation to the external expression of their philosophy and objectives.

	Fa	ctor	0	
Item no.	I	II	h ²	
	665	049	. 444	
2	227	480	.281	
3	614	.022	.377	
4	569	. 304	.416	
5	676	.028	.458	
6	358	443	. 324	
7	547	. 215	. 345	
8	138	167	.047	
Percent				
variance accounted f	or 26.193	7.454		
Percent of total var	iance accounte	d for by two facto	rs = 33.677	

Table 6. Results of principal components factor analysis, items 1 through 8 on two factors

Table 7. Results of varimax rotation of principal components factor analysis, items 1 through 8 on two factors

	Fac	tor	
Item no.	I	11	
1	. 587	. 316	<u> </u>
2	.011	.530	
3	.569	. 231	
4	.643	045	
5	. 629	. 251	
6	.145	. 551	
7	.587	.027	
8	.058	. 209	

Because of the relatively low percent of total variance accounted for by the two factors, 33.677 percent, it was decided to analyze statements in this group individually.

<u>Analyses of variance</u> Factorial analyses of variance were used to test for mean differences among colleges, donor classifications, and eras of graduation and the interaction effects of these variables. Summary of significant differences for main effects on items 1 through 8 is presented in Table 8. One significant difference and three highly significant differences for main effects were found.

Table 9 shows the summary of overall mean scores and significantly different means between colleges, donor classifications, and eras of graduation. Five significant differences between means were noted.

	Hypothesis					
	NO SIGNIFICANT difference	No significant difference	No significant difference			
Item no.	by college	by donor	by era			
1						
2						
3	HS**		HS**			
4	S*					
5						
6						
7						
8	HS**					

Table 8. Summary of significant differences for main effects on items 1 through 8

*Significant at .05 level.

**Significant at .01 level.

Item no.	Overall mean scores	Significantly different means between colleges	Significantly different means between donors ^b	Significantly different means between eras
1	7.71			
2	7.98			
3	7.06	CO-IS		E1-E5
4	7.18	CO-D		
		CO-IS		
5	7.13			
6	7.44			
7	5.54			
8	8.63	D-IS		

Table 9. Summary of overall mean scores and significantly different means between colleges, donor classifications, and eras of graduation on items 1 through 8

^aCO, Cornell; D, Drake, IS, Jowa State.

^bM, major donor; C, consecutive donor; NC, non-consecutive donor; ND, non-donor.

^cE1, Pre-1930, E2, 1930-39; E3, 1940-49; E4, 1950-59; E5, 1960-68.

Results of factorial analyses of variance on items 3, 4, and 8 are presented in Tables 10, 11, and 12, respectively.

Highly significant differences among both colleges and eras of graduation were found on item 3. Cornell had a significantly different mean response from Iowa State. The two private colleges, Cornell and Drake, agreed that colleges should be responsive to students' goals while Iowa State was in weak agreement with the statement. All eras except the Pre-1930 era agreed with the statement. However, the Pre-1930 era differed significantly from the 1960-68 era. The 1960-68 era had the highest mean response, 7.45, while the lowest mean response was 6.61 for the Pre-1930 era. A possible explanation for this difference could be the emphasis

Source of vari	ation	df		MS	F ^a	
Colleges (A)	<u> </u>	2		.7.90		<u> </u>
Donors (B)		3		4.71	1.4	1
Eras (E)		4	1	2.57	3.7	5**
Interactions:						
АхВ		6		0.94	<1	
АхЕ		8		1.75	<1	
ВхЕ		12		2.13	<1	
АхВхЕ		23		4.31	1.2	9
Error		571		3.35		
Significantly	different (means between	colleges: ^b	CO-15		
Significantly	different	means between	donors: c			
Significantly	different	means between	eras: ^d E1-H	25		

Table 10. Analysis of variance and significantly different means between colleges, donor classifications, and eras of graduation on item 3

^aF(.05) 3,571 = 2.62 > 1.41 F(.05) 23,571 = 1.55 > 1.29. *F(.01) 2,571 = 4.65 < 5.34, p<.01. **F(.01) 4,571 = 3.35 < 3.75, p<.01. ^bCO, Cornell; D, Drake; IS, Iowa State.

^CM, major donor; C, consecutive donor; NC, non-consecutive donor; ND, non-donor.

^dE1, Pre-1930; E2, 1930-39; E3, 1940-49; E4, 1950-59; E5, 1960-68.

writers in higher education (31, 48, 76) are putting on students rather than programs, and their writings might be better known to alumni of the 1960's.

Although a significant difference among colleges was found on item 4, the three colleges agreed that colleges should be centers of independent

Source of variation	df	MS	F ^a
Colleges (A)	2	18.64	4.42*
Donors (B)	3	10.00	2.37
Eras (E)	4	6.50	1.54
Interactions:			
A x B	6	6.96	1.65
АхЕ	8	4.59	1.09
ВхЕ	12	2.10	<1
AxBxE	23	4.73	1.22
Error	571	4.22	
Significantly different Significantly different	means between dong means between eras	CO-IS CO-IS	
$a^{a}F(.05) 3,571 = 2.6$ F(.05) 4,571 = 2. F(.05) 6,571 = 2. F(.05) 8,571 = 1. F(.05) 23,571 = 1.	62 > 2.37 39 > 1.54 11 > 1.65 96 > 1.09 .55 > 1.22.		
*F(.05) 2,571 = 3.	01 < 4.42, p<.05.		
^b CO, Cornell; D, D	rake; IS, Iowa Sta	te.	
^C M, major donor; C	, consecutive dono:	r; NC, non-consecutiv	e donor;

Table 11. Analysis of variance and significantly different means between colleges, donor classifications, and eras of graduation on item 4

ND, non-donor.

^dE1, Pre-1930; E2, 1930-39; E3, 1940-49; E4, 1950-59; E5, 1960-68.

thinking. Significant differences were noted between Cornell and both Drake and Iowa State.

A highly significant difference among colleges was found on item 8, "Private colleges should be retained in the American system of higher edu-
Source of vari	lation	df		MS	F ^a
Colleges (A)		2		8.22	7.21*
Donors (B)		3		1.28	1.12
Eras (E)		4		1.39	1.22
Interactions:					
АхВ		6		0.43	<1
AxE		8		0.31	<1
ВхЕ		12		1.00	<1
АхВхЕ		23		0.72	<1
Error		571		1.14	
Significantly	different me	ans between	colleges: ^b	D-IS	
Significantly	different me	ans between	donors: c		
Significantly	different me	ans between	eras: ^d		

Table 12. Analysis of variance and significantly different means between colleges, donor classifications, and eras of graduation on item 8

^aF(.05) 3,571 = 2.62 > 1.12 F(.05) 4,571 = 2.39 > 1.22.

F(.01) 2,571 = 4.65 < 7.21, p<.01.

^bCO, Cornell; D, Drake; IS, Iowa State.

^CM, major donor; C, consecutive donor; NC, non-consecutive donor; ND, non-donor.

^dE1, Pre-1930; E2, 1930-39; E3, 1940-49; E4, 1950-59; E5, 1960-68.

cation." All three colleges were in agreement with the statement. Yet, Drake had a significantly different mean response from Iowa State. Although Iowa State had the lowest mean response, 8.43, Iowa State was in strong agreement with retaining private colleges at a time when controversy exists over pluralism and diversity in American higher education (72). Alumni office in the overall functioning of the college

Items related to the alumni office in the overall functioning of the college comprised group 2.

<u>Group 2</u>: <u>items 27 through 42</u> Statements included in this group were:

- 27. The Alumni Office should have consistent communication with its alumni.
- 28. The Alumni Office should provide opportunities for alumni reunions and area meetings.
- 29. The Alumni Office should show the uses to be made of gifts received in fund raising programs.
- 30. The Alumni Office should propose gifts for specific purposes.
- 31. The Alumni Office should inform alumni of the possible financial benefits to donors from giving.
- 32. The Alumni Office should have matching gift programs with business and industry.
- 33. The Alumni Office should ask for money the college or university needs.
- 34. The Alumni Office should ask for money it thinks it can get.
- 35. The Alumni Office should have an ongoing evaluation of its program.

The Alumni Office should provide information on what is happening regarding the following:

- 36. Athletics
- 37. Cultural Events
- 38. Continuing Education Programs

53

- 39. Curricular Developments
- 40. The Plans of the College or University
- 41. Changes in the Philosophy and Objectives of the Institution
- 42. Travel Opportunities

Means and standard deviations for donors on items 27 through 42 are presented in Table 13. Donors expressed agreement with all statements except items 34 and 42. On statement 34, "The alumni office should ask for money it thinks it can get," a high percentage of uncertain responses was noted among all donor groups. With the exception of "travel opportunities", donors agreed that the alumni office should provide information on what is happening regarding athletics, cultural events, continuing education pro-

	Don	ors	
Item no.	Mean	S.D.	
27	8.07	1.63	
28	7.56	1.89	
29	8.07	1.53	
30	7.30	1.95	
31	7.94	1.63	
32	7.36	2.09	
33	7.07	2.21	
34	5.55	2.67	
35	8.33	1.34	
36	7.15	2.15	
37	7.69	1.67	
38	8.03	1.59	
39	7.90	1.65	
40	8.31	1.35	
41	8.27	1.39	
42	5.90	2.55	

Table 13. Means and standard deviations of responses on items 27 through 42 for donors

grams, curricular developments, the plan of the college, and changes in the philosophy and objectives of the college.

Donors were in agreement with Bennett (3) and Gould (37) that effective communication should exist between alumni and their <u>alma mater</u>. Findings supported the writings of Davis (29), Eldridge (30), and McAnally (61) as to the importance of suggesting gifts for specific purposes and of keeping donors informed as the use being made of these gifts.

Some donors indicated that they did not understand why item 34 was included in the instrument as they found it redundant. Yet, donors lent support to Frantzreb's suggestion that when asking for money "...ask not for what you think you can get, but ask for what you need" (69, p. 7). The results were in partial agreement with the findings of Andrews (1) that to raise money an institution has to ask for it.

When mean responses for donors on items 36 through 42 were ranked from high to low, the results were:

- 1. The plans of the college or university
- 2. Changes in the philosophy and objectives of the institution
- 3. Continuing education programs
- 4. Curriculum development
- 5. Cultural events
- 6. Athletics
- 7. Travel opportunities

It would appear that donors were most interested in finding out information about "the plans of the college" and "changes in the philosophy and objectives of the institution" and least interested in "athletics" and

55

"travel opportunities." However, no tests of significance were performed on differences in mean responses across items.

Intercorrelations and reliability coefficient Pearson product correlation coefficients for items in group 2 are shown in Table 14. A correlation coefficient of .08 was significantly different from zero at the .05 level with 628 degrees of freedom. The coefficient of reliability for this group was .86.

Table 14. Intercorrelations for items related to the alumni office

Item no.	27	28	29	30	31	32	33	34	35	36	37	38	39	40	41
27															
28	65														
29	36	38													
30	23	31	46												
31	35	35	37	41											
32	24	24	24	24	40										
33	21	12	16	25	29	31									
34	12	17	09	19	20	17	25								
35	26	24	29	25	34	16	31	14							
36	41	38	23	22	33	14	15	19	20						
37	37	35	27	19	32	13	22	18	17	67					
38	32	28	29	20	25	13	16	07	18	43	63				
39	28	19	23	19	19	12	15	05	18	38	48	70			
40	29	27	36	27	32	19	22	09	26	37	45	61	62		
41	26	19	23	17	22	15	19	05	22	31	39	50	52	66	
42	21	31	15	17	17	08	07	17	05	35	39	28	27	24	22

<u>Factor analyses</u> Factor analyses of items 27 through 42 were employed to determine common factors. Results of principal components factor analysis and varimax rotation of the principal components solution are presented in Tables 15 and 16, respectively. After varimax rotation of the principal components solution, items 27 and 28 loaded highly (.450 or

		Factor						
Item no.	I	II	III	IV	h ²			
27	592	267	. 218	192	.495			
28	602	423	.390	337	. 507			
29	509	249	123	158	. 349			
30	444	310	181	.003	.317			
31	545	355	165	.116	.375			
32	342	303	206	.083	. 228			
33	357	216	279	.257	. 245			
34	240	203	016	.269	.128			
35	386	213	207	.016	. 219			
36	640	.054	.304	. 229	.501			
37	730	. 225	.310	.317	.612			
38	713	.397	.005	038	.633			
39	649	.433	096	088	.572			
40	723	. 302	285	165	.600			
41	587	. 307	208	121	.471			
42	403	.048	.221	. 094	. 220			
Percent of variance								
accounted f	or 30.09	8.43	5.08	3.45				
Percent of	total varianc	e accounted for	by four fact	ors = 47.05				

Table 15. Results of principal components factor analysis, items 27 through 42 on four factors

above) on factor IV; items 30 through 33 loaded highly on factor II; items 36 and 37 loaded highly on factor III; and items 38 through 41 loaded highly on factor I. Items 29, 34, 35, and 42 did not load highly on any of the factors. Although the percent of total variance accounted for by the four factors was relatively low, 47.05 percent, it appeared that at least four things were being measured.

- 1. The alumni office and communication with its alumni
- 2. The alumni office in relation to gifts to the college

	Factor							
Item no.	I	II	III	· IV				
27	177	256	259	584				
28	.067	.230	.259	.831				
29	.247	.403	.031	. 370				
30	.140	.496	.050	. 241				
31	.134	.601	.169	. 236				
32	.066	.484	.035	.133				
33	.103	. 540	.115	~.047				
34	056	. 338	.233	.007				
35	.1 71	.429	.030	.153				
36	. 255	.187	.640	. 219				
37	.392	.154	.767	.122				
38	.703	.086	. 384	.134				
39	.737	. 072	.266	.080				
40	. 788	.261	.116	.137				
41	.668	.167	.127	.085				
42	.174	.075	. 393	.177				

Table 16. Results of varimax rotation of principal components factor analysis, items 27 through 42 on four factors

- 3. The alumni office providing information on athletics and cultural events
- 4. The alumni office providing information on continuing education programs, curricular developments, plans of the college, and changes in the philosophy and objectives of the college.

Because of the relatively low percent of total variance accounted for by the four factors, 47.05 percent, it was decided to analyze statements in this group individually.

<u>Analyses of variance</u> Summary of significant differences for main effects on items in group 2 is presented in Table 17. Fourteen significant or highly significant differences were found.

	Hypothesis						
Item no.	No significant difference by college	No significant difference by donor	No significant difference by era				
27		HS**	HS * *				
28	S*	 HS**	HS **				
29							
30			S*				
31							
32	HS**	HS**					
33	HS **	HS**					
34			HS**				
35							
36							
37			S*				
38		1					
39							
40							
41							
42	S*		HS **				

Table 17. Summary of significant differences for main effects on items 27 through 42

*Significant at .05 level.

**Significant at .01 level.

Table 18 gives the summary of overall mean scores and significantly different means between colleges, donor classifications, and eras of graduation. Four significant differences between colleges, seven significant differences between donor classifications, and 12 significant differences between eras of graduation were found.

Results of factorial analyses of variance on items 27, 28, 30, 32, 33, 34, 37, and 42 are presented in Tables 19, 20, 21, 22, 23, 24, 25, and 26, respectively.

ltem no.	Overall mean scores	Significantly different means between colleges ^a	Significantly different means between donors ^b	Significantly different means between eras
27	7.96	ی این این این این این این این این این ای	M-NC M-ND	E1-E3 E1-E4
			C-ND	
28	7.48		M-ND	E1-E3
				E1-E4
				E1-E5
				E2-E3
				E2-E4
				E2-E5
29	8.10			
30	7.21			E1-E5
31	7.92			
32	7.24	CO-D	C-ND	
33	6.89	CO-D	M-ND	
		CO-IS	C-ND	
34	5.50			E1-E3
35	8.31			
36	7.10			
37	7.65			E1-E3
38	8.04			
39	7.85			
40	8.30			
41	8.24			
42	5.91	CO-D		E1-E3

Table 18.	Summary of overall mean scores and significantly different means
	between colleges, donor classifications, and eras of graduation
	on items 27 through 42

^aCO, Cornell; D, Drake; IS, Iowa State.

^bM, major donor; C, consecutive donor; NC, non-consecutive donor; ND, non-donor.

^cE1, Pre-1930; E2, 1930-39; E3, 1940-49; E4, 1950-59; E5, 1960-68.

Source of variat	ion	df	MS	F ^a
Colleges (A)		2	5.56	2.04
Donors (B)		3	16.99	6.22*
Eras (E)		4	16.78	6.15%
Interactions: A x B		6	1.97	<1
АхЕ		8	1.75	<1
ВхЕ		12	. 57	<1
АхВхЕ		23	2.97	1.09
Error		571	2.73	
Significantly di	fferent means	between	colleges: ^b	
Significantly di	fferent means	between	donors: ^C M-NC M-ND C-ND	
Significantly di	fferent means	between	eras: ^d E1-E3 E1-E4	

Table 19. Analysis of variance and significantly different means between colleges, donor classifications, and eras of graduation on item 27

^aF(.05) 2,571 = 3.01 > 2.04 F(.05) 23,571 = 1.55 > 1.09. *F(.01) 3,571 = 3.82 < 6.22, p<.01. **F(.01) 4,571 = 3.35 < 6.15, p<.01. ^bCO, Cornell; D, Drake; IS, Iowa State.

^CM, major donor; C, consecutive donor; NC, non-consecutive donor; ND, non-donor.

^dE1, Pre-1930; E2, 1930-39; E3, 1940-49; E4, 1950-59; E5, 1960-68.

Highly significant differences among both donor classifications and eras were found on item 27. Although all donor groups agreed that "The alumni office should have consistent communication with its alumni," significant differences were found between major donors and both non-consecu-

Source of variation	df	MS	F ^a
Colleges (A)	2	10.25	3.03*
Donors (B)	3	13.06	3.86**
Eras (E)	4	37.30	11.04***
Interactions:			
АхВ	6	2.86	<1
AxE	8	2.56	<1
ВхЕ	12	0.72	<1
АхВхЕ	23	4.08	1.21
Error	571	3.38	
Significantly differen	t means between coll	.eges: ^b	
Significantly differen	t means between donc	ors: ^C M-ND	
Significantly differen	t means between eras	s: ^d E1-E3	
		E1-E4	
		E1-E5	
		E2-E3	
		E2-E4	
		E2-E5	

Table 20. Analysis of variance and significantly different means between colleges, donor classifications, and eras of graduation item 28

*F(.05) 2,571 = 3.01 < 3.03, p<.05.

**F(.01) 3,571 = 3.82 < 3.86, p<.01.

***F(.01) 4,571 = 3.35 < 11.04, p<.01.

^bCO, Cornell; D, Drake, IS, Iowa State.

^CM, major donor; C, consecutive donor; NC, non-consecutive donor; ND, non-donor.

^dE1, Pre-1930; E2-1930-39; E3, 1940-49; E4, 1950-59; E5, 1960-68.

Source of vari	ation	df	MS	F ^a
Colleges (A)		2	4.33	1.15
Donors (B)		3	9.09	2.42
Eras (E)		4	12.14	3.23*
Interactions:				
АхВ		6	10.62	2.82**
АхЕ		8	3.26	<1
ВхЕ		12	6.60	1.76
АхВхЕ		23	2.49	<1
Error		571	3.76	
Significantly	different means	between	colleges: ^b	
Significantly	different means	be t ween	donors: ^C	
Significantly	different means	between	eras: ^d E1-E5	

Table 21. Analysis of variance and significantly different means between colleges, donor classifications, and eras of graduation on item 30

^aF(.05) 2,571 = 3.01 > 1.15 F(.05) 3,571 = 2.62 > 2.42 F(.05) 12,571 = 1.77 > 1.76. *F(.05) 4,571 = 2.39 < 3.23, p<.05. **F(.05) 6,571 = 2.11 < 2.82, p<.05. ^bCO, Cornell; D, Drake, IS, Iowa State.

^CM, major donor; C, consecutive donor; NC, non-consecutive donor; ND, non-donor.

^dE1, Pre-1930; E2, 1930-39; E3, 1940-49; E4, 1950-59; E5, 1960-68.

tive donors and non-donors. The mean response for the consecutive donor group also differed significantly from non-donors. The Pre-1930 era had a significantly different mean response from both the 1940-49 and the 1950-59 eras. However, all eras agreed with the statement. It was noted that the oldest eras had the strongest agreement with the statement, and except for

Source of vari	ation.	df		MS	F ^a
Colleges (A)		2		20.45	5.69*
Donors (B)		3		17.92	4.17**
Eras (E)		4		2.97	<1
Interactions:					
АхВ		6		6.17	1.43
A x E		8		4.75	1.10
ВхЕ		12		9.02	2.10***
АхВхЕ		23		2.55	<1
Error		571		4.30	
Significantly	different	means between	colleges: ^b	CO-D	
Significantly	different	means between	donors: ^C C	-ND	
Significantly	different	means between	eras: d		

Table 22. Analysis of variance and significantly different means between colleges, donor classifications, and eras of graduation on item 32

^aF(.05) 6,571 = 2.11 > 1.43 F(.05) 8,571 = 1.96 > 1.10. *F(.01) 2,571 = 4.65 < 5.69, p<.01. **F(.01) 3,571 = 3.82 < 4.17, p<.01. ***F(.05) 12,571 = 1.77 < 2.10, p<.05. ^bCO, Cornell; D, Drake; IS, Iowa State. ^cM, major donor; C, consecutive donor; NC, non-consecutive donor; ND, non-donor.

^dE1, Pre-1930; E2, 1930-39; E3, 1940-49; E4, 1950-59; E5, 1960-68.

a slight difference between the 1940-49 and the 1950-59 eras, the mean responses had a direct relationship to years since graduation.

A significant difference among colleges and highly significant differences among both donor groups and eras were noted on item 28, "The alumni

Source of vari	ation.	df		MS	F ^a	
Colleges (A)		2		69.05	14.21	*
Donors (B)		3		34.01	7.00	**
Eras (E)		4		5.64	1.16	
Interactions:						
АхВ		6		1.19	<1	
АхЕ		8		9.03	1.86	
ВхЕ		12		3.70	<1	
АхВхЕ		23		5.71	1.17	
Error		571		4.86		
Significantly	different	means between	colleges:)		
Significantly	different	means between	donors: ^c	M-ND C-ND		
Significantly	different	means between	eras: ^d			

Table 23. Analysis of variance and significantly different means between colleges, donor classifications, and eras of graduation on item 33

^aF(.05) 4,571 = 2.39 > 1.16 F(.05) 8,571 = 1.96 > 1.86 F(.05) 23,571 = 1.55 > 1.17. *F(.01) 2,571 = 4.65 < 14.21, p<.01. ***F(.01) 3,571 = 3.82 < 7.00, p<.01. ^bCO, Cornell; D, Drake; IS, Iowa State.

^CM, major donor; C, consecutive donor; NC, non-consecutive donor; ND, non-donor.

^dE1, Pre-1930; E2, 1930-39; E3, 1940-49; E4, 1950-59; E5, 1960-68.

Source of vari	ation	df	MS	F ^a
Colleges (A)		2	20.42	2.98
Donors (B)		3	10.67	1.56
Eras (E)		4	35.55	5.18*
Interactions:				
АхВ		6	6.96	1.01
АхЕ		8	3.49	<1
ВхЕ		12	9.53	1.39
АхВхЕ		23	5.30	<1
Error		571	6.86	
Significantly	different mea	ns between col	lleges: ^b	
Significantly	different mea	ns between dor	nors: ^C	
Significantly	different mea	ns between era	as: ^d E1-E3	

Table 24. Analysis of variance and significantly different means between colleges, donor classifications, and eras of graduation on item 34

^aF(.05) 2,571 = 3.01 > 2.98 F(.05) 3,571 = 2.62 > 1.56 F(.05) 6,571 = 2.11 > 1.01 F(.05) 12,571 = 1.77 > 1.39. *F(.01) 4,571 = 3.35 < 5.18, p<.01. ^bCO, Cornell; D, Drake; IS, Iowa State.

^CM, major donor; C, consecutive donor; NC, non-consecutive donor; ND, non-donor.

^dE1, Pre-1930; E2, 1930-39; E3, 1940-49; E4, 1950-59; E5, 1960-68.

office should provide opportunities for alumni reunions and area meetings." No significant differences were found between colleges. Although all donor classifications agreed with the statement, major donors differed significantly from non-donors. The rank order of agreement for donor classification was major, consecutive, non-consecutive, and non-donors.

Source of variation		df	MS	F ^a	
Colleges (A)		2	5.97	2.12	
Donors (B)		3	2.64	<1	
Eras (E)		4	8.03	2.85*	
Interactions:					
A x B		6	5.55	1.97	
АхЕ		8	4.17	1.48	
ВхЕ		12	3.93	1.39	
АхВХЕ		23	2.23	<1	
Error		571	2.82		
Significantly	different	means between	colleges: ^b		
Significantly	different	means between	donors: ^C		
Significantly	different	means between	eras: ^d E1-E3		

Table 25. Analysis of variance and significantly different means between colleges, donor classifications, and eras of graduation on item 37

^aF(.05) 2,571 = 3.01 > 2.12 F(.05) 6,571 = 2.11 > 1.97 F(.05) 8,571 = 1.96 > 1.48 F(.05) 12,571 = 1.77 > 1.39. *F(.05) 4,571 = 2.39 < 2.85, p<.05. ^bCO, Cornell; D, Drake; IS, Iowa State.

^CM, major donor; C, consecutive donor; NC, non-consecutive donor; ND, non-donor.

^dE1, Pre-1930; E2, 1930-39; E3, 1940-49; E4, 1950-59; E5, 1960-68.

The Pre-1930 era had the strongest agreement with statement 28. The mean response for the Pre-1930 era was significantly different from all other eras except the 1930-39 era. Significant differences were also noted between the 1930-39 era and the following eras: 1940-49, 1950-59, and 1960-68. The oldest eras had the strongest agreement with the statement,

	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·				· ·
Source of variation		df		MS	F ^a
Colleges (A)		2		25.31	3.88*
Donors (B)		3		1.03	<1
Eras (E)		4		22.33	3.42**
Interactions:					
АхВ		6		9.36	1.43
АхЕ		8		3.47	<1
ВхЕ		12		8.94	1.37
AxBxE		23		6.00	<1
Error		571		6.53	
Significantly	different	means between	colleges: ^b	CO-D	
Significantly	different	means between	donors: ^c		
Significantly	different	means between	eras: ^d E1	-ЕЗ	

Table 26. Analysis of variance and significant different means between colleges, donor classifications, and eras of graduation on item 42

^aF(.05) 6,571 = 2.11 > 1.43 F(.05) 12,571 = 1.77 > 1.37. *F(.05) 2,571 = 3.01 < 3.88, p<.05. **F(.01) 4,571 = 3.35 < 3.42, p<.01. ^bCO, Cornell; D, Drake; IS, Iowa State.

^CM, major donor; C, consecutive donor; NC, non-consecutive donor; ND, non-donor.

^dE1, Pre-1930; E2, 1930-39; E3, 1940-49; E4, 1950-59; E5, 1960-68.

and except for a slight difference between the 1950-59 and 1960-68 eras, the mean responses had a direct relationship to years since graduation.

A significant difference among eras was found on item 30, "The alumni office should propose gifts for specific purposes." The Pre-1930 and the 1960-68 eras were found to differ significantly. Although the interaction of colleges with donors was found to be significant, it was not investigated further since neither of the corresponding main effects was significant.

On item 32, "The alumni office should have matching gift programs with business and industry," highly significant differences among both colleges and donor classifications were noted. A significant difference between Cornell and Drake was found. Cornell and Iowa State indicated agreement with the statement while Drake showed weak agreement. The mean response for consecutive donors was significantly different from non-donors. However, this significant difference among donor groups must be interpreted in the light of the significant interaction of donor groups with eras which is shown graphically in Figure 1. Significant differences among donor groups were also found within both Cornell and Iowa State. It was of interest to note the high fluctuation in mean responses across eras for major donors and the low mean response for consecutive donors from the 1930-39 era.

Highly significant differences among both colleges and donor classifications were found on item 33. Cornell had a highly significant different mean response from both Drake and Iowa State. Cornell agreed that the alumni office should ask for money the college needs. Drake and Iowa State indicated weak agreement with the statement. A partial explanation for this difference might be that Drake's fund raising program is carried out through the Development Office, and Drake alumni might have taken the statement too literally. However, as noted in the review of literature, fund raising at Cornell is also a function of the Development Office and at Iowa State a function of both the Alumni Office and the Development Office.

69



Figure 1. Interaction of donor classifications with eras on item 32

Non-donors differed significantly from both major and consecutive donors on item 33. Major and consecutive donors agreed with the statement whereas non-consecutive donors and non-donors were in weak agreement.

On item 34, "The alumni office should ask for money it thinks it can get," a highly significant difference among eras was found. The Pre-1930 and the 1940-49 eras differed significantly. The Pre-1930 era was the only era which indicated even weak agreement with the statement; all other eras expressed uncertainty in their mean responses.

On item 37 a significant difference among eras was found. Although all eras were in agreement with the statement, the Pre-1930 and the 1940-49 eras differed significantly on whether the alumni office should provide information on what is happening regarding cultural events.

A significant difference among colleges and a highly significant difference among eras were noted on item 42. Cornell and Drake differed significantly as to whether the alumni office should provide information on travel opportunities. Drake and Iowa State expressed uncertainty in their mean responses to the statement while Cornell was in weak agreement. A significant difference was found between the Pre-1930 and the 1940-49 eras. The Pre-1930 era agreed weakly with the statement; all other eras expressed uncertainty in their mean responses. All eras had high standard deviations.

Financing higher education

Statements pertaining to the financing of higher education were analyzed as three groups with statements 9, 10, and 11 analyzed separately. The groupings of items were: group 3, items 12 through 21; group 4, items 22 through 26; and group 5, items 93 through 100.

71

Items 9 through 11 Statements were:

- 9. Private colleges and universities should receive public assistance equivalent to public institutions of higher education.
- 10. Colleges and universities are not really underfinanced.
- 11. One of the major problems in financing higher education is the inefficient use of existing resources.

Table 27 shows the means and standard deviations for donors on items 9 through 11. Donors did not indicate agreement with any of the three statements. All of the overall mean responses for donors indicated uncertainty, and the standard deviations were high. Although experts on financing of higher education (6, 19, 20, 37, 44, 79, 89) expressed concern about the inefficient use of existing resources, donors did not seem to agree about the inefficient use of existing resources.

<u>Analyses of variance</u> Summary of significant differences for main effects is given in Table 28. Three significant or highly significant differences were found.

Item no.	Dor Me an	nors S.D.	
9	4.31	2.71	<u></u>
10	4.19	2.38	
11	5.59	2.23	

Table 27. Means and standard deviations of responses on items 9 through 11 for donors

	Hypothesis								
ltem no.	No significant difference by college	No significant difference by donor	No significant difference by era						
9	HS**								
10	S*								
11	S*								

Table 28. Summary of significant differences for main effects on items 9 through 11

*Significant at .05 level.

**Significant at .01 level.

Table 29 shows the overall mean scores and significantly different means between colleges, donor classifications, and eras of graduation. Four significant differences between colleges were noted.

Tables 30, 31, and 32 give the results of factorial analyses of variance on items 9, 10, and 11, respectively.

Although a highly significant difference among colleges was found on item 9, none of the colleges indicated agreement or disagreement in mean responses to the statement that "Private colleges and universities should receive public assistance equivalent to public institutions of higher education." Significant differences were noted between Iowa State and both Cornell and Drake. Iowa State, a public college, had the lowest mean response, 3.75, while the two private colleges, Cornell and Drake, had mean responses of 4.57 and 4.64, respectively.

ltem no.	Overall mean scores	Significantly different means between colleges	Significantly different means between donors ^b	Significantly different means between eras
9	4.30	CO-IS D-IS		
10	4.28	CO-IS		
11	5.64	CO-D		

Table 29. Summary of overall mean scores and significantly different means between colleges, donor classifications, and eras of graduation on items 9 through 11

^aCO, Cornell; D, Drake; IS, Iowa State.

^bM, major donor; C, consecutive donor; NC, non-consecutive donor; ND, non-donor.

^CE1, Pre-1930; E2, 1930-39; E3, 1940-49; E4, 1950-59; E5, 1960-68.

A significant difference among colleges was found on item 10, "Colleges and universities are not really underfinanced." However, there was also a significant interaction of colleges with eras which is shown graphically in Figure 2. A highly significant difference among Cornell's eras of graduation was also noted. The Pre-1930 era differed significantly from the following eras: 1930-39, 1940-49, and 1950-59. It was of interest to note that the highest agreement on item 10 among Cornell's eras was the Pre-1930 era. Thus, the significant difference found between Cornell and Iowa State must be interpreted in the light of the interaction of colleges with eras. Weak agreement with the item was indicated by Cornell; Drake and Iowa State expressed uncertainty. However, the large number of means between 4 and 6 indicated wide variation in responses.

Source of vari	ation		df		MS	F ^a	F ^a
Colleges (A)			2		53.06	7.2	5*
Donors (B)			3		12.63	1.7	3
Eras (E) International			4		10.41	1.4	Z
A x B			6		6.07	<1	
A x E			8		8.19	1.1	.2
ВхЕ			12		8.92	1.2	.2
АхВхЕ			2 3		8.27	1.1	.3
Error			571		7.32		
Significantly	different	means	between	colleges: ^b	CO-IS D-IS		
Significantly	different	means	betwe e n	donors: ^C			
Significantly	different	means	between	eras: ^d			

Table 30. Analysis of variance and significantly different means between colleges, donor classifications, and eras of graduation on item 9

^aF(.05) 3,571 = 2.62 > 1.73 F(.05) 4,571 = 2.39 > 1.42 F(.05) 8,571 = 1.96 > 1.12 F(.05) 12,571 = 1.77 > 1.22 F(.05) 23,571 = 1.55 > 1.13. *F(.01) 2,571 = 4.65 < 7.25, p<.01. ^bCO, Cornell; D, Drake; IS, Iowa State.

^CM, major donor; C, consecutive donor; NC, non-consecutive donor; ND, non-donor.

^dE1, Pre-1930; E2, 1930-39; E3, 1940-49; E4, 1950-59; E5, 1960-68.

Although a significant difference among colleges was noted on item 11, "One of the major problems in financing higher education is the inefficient use of existing resources," there was also a significant interation of colleges with eras (Figure 3). A significant difference among Cornell's eras

Source of vari	ation	df MS		· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·		
Colleges (A)		2		19.41	3.	.68*
Donors (B)		3		10.45	1.	.98
Eras (E)		4		8.20	1	. 56
Interactions:						
АхВ		6		10.27	1	. 95
ΑxΕ		8		10.37	1	. 97**
ВхЕ		12		8.58	1	.63
АхвхЕ		23		5.80	1	.10
Error		571		5.27		
Significantly	different means	between	colleges: ^b	CO-IS		
Significantly	different means	be tw e e n	donors: ^c			
Significantly	different means	between	eras: d			

... Table 31. Analysis of variance and significantly different means between colleges, donor classifications, and eras of graduation on item 10

^aF(.05) 3,571 = 2.62 > 1.98 F(.05) 4,571 = 2.39 > 1.56 F(.05) 6,571 = 2.11 > 1.95 F(.05) 12,571 = 1.96 > 1.63 F(.05) 23,571 = 1.55 > 1.10. *F(.05) 2,571 = 3.01 < 3.68, p<.05. **F(.05) 8,571 = 1.96 < 1.97, p<.05. ^bCO, Cornell; D, Drake; IS, Iowa State.

^CM, major donor; C, consecutive donor; NC, non-consecutive donor; ND, non-donor.

^dE1, Pre-1930; E2, 1930-39; E3, 1940-49; E4, 1950-59; E5, 1960-68.

Source of variat	ion	df		MS	 	F	
			······································				
Colleges (A)		2		20.02	4.1	L2*	
Donors (B)		3		4.23	<	L	
Eras (E)		4		1.69	<	L	
Interactions:							
АхВ		6		3.77	<	L	
АхЕ		8		9.74	2.0	00**	
ВхЕ		12		3.98	<	1	
AxBxE		2 3		4.65	<	1	
Error		571		4.86			
Significantly d	ifferent means	between	colleges: ^a	CO-D			
Significantly d	ifferent means	between	donors: ^b				
Significantly d	ifferent means	between	eras: ^C				

Table 32. Analysis of variance and significantly different means between colleges, donor classifications, and eras of graduation on item 11

*F(.05) 2,571 = 3.01 < 4.12, p<.05.

**F(.05) 8,571 = 1.96 < 2.00, p<.05.

CO, Cornell; D, Drake; IS, Iowa State.

^bM, major donor; C, consecutive donor; NC, non-consecutive donor; ND, non-donor.

^cE1, Pre-1930; E2, 1930-39; E3, 1940-49; E4, 1950-59; E5, 1960-68.

was also found. The Pre-1930 era had significantly different mean responses from the 1950-59 era. Thus, the significant difference found between Cornell and Drake must be interpreted in the light of the interaction of colleges with eras. All colleges indicated uncertainty in their mean responses, and all colleges had high standard deviations.



Figure 2. Interaction of colleges with eras on item 10



Figure 3. Interaction of colleges with eras on item 11

- <u>Group 3: items 12 through 21</u> Statements analyzed in group 3 were: The following should be effective forces in shaping or changing the financial planning of colleges and universities:
- 12. Students
- 13. Faculty
- 14. Alumni
- 15. Taxpayers
- 16. Administrators
- 17. Board of Trustees (Regents)
- 18. State Legislature
- 19. Federal Government
- 20. Agencies supplying funds for contract grants
- 21. Sources of large private grants or endowments

Means and standard deviations for donors on items 12 through 21 are shown in Table 33. Donors agreed that the Board of Trustees (Regents) and administrators should be effective forces in shaping or changing the financial planning of colleges. Weak agreement was expressed by donors that alumni, faculty, and the state legislature should be effective forces in shaping or changing the financial planning of colleges.

When mean responses for donors were ranked from high to low, the results were:

- 1. Board of Trustees (Regents)
- 2. Administrators
- 3. Alumni
- 4. Faculty
- 5. State Legislature

	Don	ors .
Item no.	Mean	S.D.
12	4.55	2.66
13	6.22	2.31
14	6.52	2.00
15	5.83	2.51
16	7.93	1.43
17	8.05	1.49
18	5.98	2.62
19	4.54	2.67
20	4.86	2.61
21	5.43	2.65

Table 33. Means and standard deviations of responses on items 12 through 21 for donors

6. Taxpayers

7. Sources of large private grants or endowments

8. Agencies supplying funds for contract grants

9. Students

10. Federal Government

It appeared that donors thought that the Board of Trustees (Regents) and administrators should be the two most effective forces in shaping or changing the financial planning of colleges. Alumni were ranked third. There was a large difference between the highest mean response, 8.05 for the Board of Trustees (Regents), and the lowest mean response, 4.54 for the Federal Government. The range for mean responses was 3.51. However, no tests of significance were performed on differences in mean responses across items.

Ranking at the bottom were agencies supplying funds for contract grants, students, and the Federal Government. In general, the standard

deviations were high, indicating that throughout the sample there was not substantial agreement about the role which each person or group held. A partial explanation seemed to lie in the inclusion of both private and public colleges in the sample. However, at a public college, state legislature, Federal Government, and taxpayers traditionally have had more power than at private institutions where large private donors have considerable influence (83). However, the Federal Government had low mean ratings across all three colleges.

In the Gross and Grambsch study (39) where respondents were administrators, governing boards, and faculty, when the mean scores for potential power-holders at American colleges were ranked, the first two rankings were held by the president and the regents, respectively. Ranking at the bottom of the 16 potential power-holders were the alumni, students, citizens of state, and parents. Although the present study was not directly comparable to the Gross and Grambsch study, it was interesting to note the relatively high ranking of alumni and the low ranking of students when area responses of donors were ranked in the present study.

Intercorrelations and reliability coefficient Intercorrelations for items related to who should be effective forces in shaping or changing the financial planning of colleges are shown in Table 34. A correlation coefficient of .08 was significantly different from zero at the .05 level with 628 degrees of freedom. The coefficient of reliability was .72.

<u>Analyses of variance</u> Table 35 gives the summary of significant differences for main effects on items in group 3. Four significant differences and five highly significant differences were found.

82

ltem no.	12	13	14	15	16	17	18	19	20	21
12										
13	54									
14	20	27								
15	08	02	29							
16	-01	21	18	07						
17	-13	-07	19	21	40					
18	03	-04	12	46	13	29				
19	18	07	11	30	03	10	57			
20	14	08	22	2 4	08	12	26	49		
21	10	06	29	21	05	13	23	43	76	

Table 34. Intercorrelations for items related to shaping or changing the financial planning of colleges

Table 35. Summary of significant differences for main effects on items 12 through 21

Item no.	Hypothesis					
	No significant difference by college	No significant difference by donor	No significant difference by era			
12			S*			
13			S*			
14						
15	HS**					
16						
17			S*			
18	HS**		HS**			
19						
20	HS**	S**				
21	HS**					

*Significant at .05 level.

****Significant** at .01 level.

Summary of overall mean scores and significantly different means between colleges, donor classifications, and eras of graduation is presented in Table 36. Seven significant differences between colleges, one significant difference between donor classifications, and two significant differences between eras of graduation were noted.

Results of factorial analyses of variance on items 12, 13, 15, 17, 18, 20, and 21 are presented in Tables 37, 38, 39, 40, 41, 42, and 43, respectively.

Table 36. Summary of overall mean scores and significantly different means between colleges, donor classifications, and eras of graduation on items 12 through 21

Item no.	Overall mean scores	Significantly different means between colleges	Significantly different means between donors ^b	Significantly different means between eras
12	4.60			
13	6.29			
14	6.49			
15	5.87	CO-IS		
		D-IS		
16	7.92			
17	8.00			E3-E5
18	6.01	CO-IS		E2-E5
		D-IS		
19	4.44			
20	4.93	CO-1S	M-ND	
21	5.46	CO-IS		
		D-IS		

^aCO, Cornell; D, Drake; IS, Iowa State.

^bM, major donor; C, consecutive donor; NC, non-consecutive donor; ND, non-donor.

^cE1, Pre-1930; E2, 1930-39; E3, 1940-49; E4, 1950-59; E5, 1960-68.

Source of variation		df	MS	F ^a	
Colleges (A)	<u></u>	2	13.58	1.91	
Donors (B)		3	6.18	<1	
Eras (E)		4	18.03	2.53*	
Interactions: A x B A x E B x E A x B x E Error		6 8 12 23 571	6.74 7.74 4.06 5.46 7.12	<1 1.09 <1 <1	
Significantly	different mea	ans between c	olleges: ^b		
Significantly	different mea	ans between d	onors: C		
Significantly	different mea	ans between e	ras: d		

Table 37. Analysis of variance and significantly different means between colleges, donor classifications, and eras of graduation on item 12

^aF(.05) 2,571 = 3.01 > 1.91 F(.05) 8,571 = 1.96 > 1.09. *F(.05) 4,571 = 2.39 < 2.53, p<.05. ^bCO, Cornell; D, Drake; IS, Iowa State.

^CM, major donor; C, consecutive donor; NC, non-consecutive donor; ND, non-donor.

^dE1, Pre-1930; E2, 1930-39; E3, 1940-49; E4, 1950-59; E5, 1960-68.

A significant difference among eras was found on item 12, that students should be effective forces in shaping or changing the financial planning of colleges. However, no significant differences were found between eras. All mean responses for eras indicated uncertainty and all eras had high standard deviations.

			$\mathbf{F}^{\mathbf{a}}$	
Colleges (A)	2	6.06	1.20	
Donors (B)	3	12.73	2.53	
Eras (E)	4	16.39	3.25*	
Interactions:	<i>,</i>	10.71	0.704.0	
A x B	6	13./1	2./2***	
AXE	8	2.89	<1	
	12	0.JU 7.07	1.29	
	2 <i>3</i> 571	5 04	1.40	
a F(.05) 2,571 = 3	.01 > 1.20			
F(.05) 3,571 = 2	.62 > 2.52			
F(.05) 12,571 =	1.77 > 1.29			
F(.05) 23,5/1 = 1	1.55 > 1.40			
*F(.05) 4,571 = 2	.39 < 3.25, p<.05.			
**F(.05) 6,571 = 2	.11 < 2.72, p<.05.			
^b CO, Cornell; D,	Drake; IS, Iowa Sta	te.		
^C M, major donor;	C, consecutive dono	r; NC, non-consecuti	ve donor;	

Table 38. Analysis of variance and significantly different means between colleges, donor classifications, and eras of graduation on item 13

Although the interaction of colleges with donors was significant on item 13, that faculty should be effective forces in shaping or changing the financial planning of colleges, since there were no significant differences among corresponding main effects, the effect of the interaction was not

Source of vari	ation		df		MS		F ^a
Colleges (A) Donors (B) Eras (E) Interactions:			2 3 4		61.15 4.23 7.33	*******	10.35* <1 1.24
A x B A x E B x E A x B x E Error			6 8 12 23 571		4.33 7.67 7.06 7.24 5.91		<1 1.30 1.19 1.23
Significantly	different	means	between	colleges: ^b	CO-IS D-IS		
S ignificantly	different	means	between	donors: ^C			
Significantly	different	means	between	eras: ^d			

Table 39. Analysis of variance and significantly different means between colleges, donor classifications, and eras of graduation on item 15

^aF(.05) 4,571 = 2.39 > 1.24 F(.05) 8,571 = 1.96 > 1.30 F(.05) 12,571 = 1.77 > 1.19 F(.05) 23,571 = 1.55 > 1.23. *F(.01) 2,571 = 4.65 < 10.35, p<.01. ^bCO, Cornell; D, Drake; IS, Iowa State.

^CM, major donor; C, consecutive donor; NC, non-consecutive donor; ND, non-donor.

^dE1, Pre-1930; E2, 1930-39; E3, 1940-49; E4, 1950-59; E5, 1960-68.

investigated. A significant difference among eras of graduation was found on item 13. All eras except the 1930-39 era indicated weak agreement with the statement. The 1930-39 era mean response was 5.99, which indicated uncertainty. Between eras there were no significant differences. High standard deviations for all eras indicated wide variation in responses.
Source of vari	ation	df		MS	F ^a
Colleges (A)		2	1		<1
Donors (B)		3	3	3.44	1.41
Eras (E)		4	8	3.10	3.32*
Interactions:					
A x B		6	4	+.95	2.03
АхЕ		8	1	L.54	<1
ВхЕ		12	1	L.59	<1
АхВхЕ		23	1	L.41	<1
Error		571	2	2.44	
Significantly	different	means between	colleges: ^b		
Significantly	different	means between	donors: ^c		
Significantly	different	means between	eras: ^d E3-E5	5	

Table 40. Analysis of variance and significantly different means between colleges, donor classifications, and eras of graduation on item 17

^aF(.05) 3,571 = 2.62 > 1.41 F(.05) 6,571 = 2.11 > 2.03. *F(.05) 4,571 = 2.39 < 3.32, p<.05. ^bCO, Cornell; D, Drake; IS, Iowa State.

^CM, major donor; C, consecutive donor; NC, non-consecutive donor; ND, non-donor.

^dE1, Pre-1930; E2, 1930-39; E3, 1940-49; E4, 1950-59; E5, 1960-68.

On item 15, a highly significant difference among colleges was found. Individual significant differences were noted between Cornell and both Drake and Iowa State. Respondents from Iowa State weakly agreed that taxpayers should be effective forces in shaping or changing the financial planning of colleges, while respondents from Cornell and Drake appeared uncertain, neither agreeing nor disagreeing with the statement. A probable

Source of vari	ation	df		MS	F ^a	
Colleges (A)		2	1	12.14	17.0	9*
Donors (B)		3		2.09	<1	
Eras (E)		4		22.54	3.44	4**
Interactions:						
A x B		6		6.90	1.0	5
АхЕ		8		6.41	<1	
ВхЕ		12		6.71	1.0	2
АхВхЕ		23		3.89	<1	
Error		571		6.56		
Significantly	different means	between	colleges; ^b	CO-IS D-IS		
Significantly	different means	between	donors: ^C			
Significantly	different means	betw een	eras: ^d E2-	E5		

Table 41. Analysis of variance and significantly different means between colleges, donor classifications, and eras of graduation on item 18

^aF(.05) 6,571 = 2.11 > 1.05 F(.05) 12,571 = 1.77 > 1.02. *F(.01) 2,571 = 4.65 < 17.09, p<.01. **F(.01) 4,571 = 3.35 < 3.44, p<.01. ^bCO, Cornell; D, Drake; IS, Iowa State.

^CM, major donor; C, consecutive donor; NC, non-consecutive donor; ND, non-donor.

^dE1, Pre-1930; E2, 1930-39; E3, 1940-49; E4, 1950-59; E5, 1960-68.

explanation for this difference might be that Iowa State is a public college and Cornell and Drake are both private colleges. The standard deviation was high on this item indicating that respondents did not agree about what influence taxpayers should have in shaping or changing the financial planning of colleges.

Source of vari	ation	df		MS	F	,a
				<u> </u>		
Colleges (A)		2		37.39	5.7	6*
Donors (B)		3		22.17	3.4	2**
Eras (E)		4		10.19	1.5	57
Interactions:						
АхВ		6		6.52	1.0	00
АхЕ		8		5.57	<1	-
ВхЕ		12		10.52	1.6	52
АхВхЕ		23		4.88	<1	Ļ
Error		571		6.49		
Significantly	different me	ans between	colleges: ^b	CO-1S		
Significantly	different me	ans between	donors: c	M-ND		
Significantly	different me	ans between	eras: ^d			

Table 42. Analysis of variance and significantly different means between colleges, donor classifications, and eras of graduation on item 20

^aF(.05) 4,571 = 2.39 > 1.57 F(.05) 6,571 = 2.11 > 1.00 F(.05) 12,571 = 1.77 > 1.62. *F(.01) 2,571 = 4.65 < 5.76, p<.01. **F(.05) 3,571 = 2.62 < 3.42, p<.05. ^bCO, Cornell; D, Drake; IS, Iowa State.

^CM, major donor; C, consecutive donor; NC, non-consecutive donor; ND, non-donor.

^dE1, Pre-1930; E2, 1930-39; E3, 1940-49; E4, 1950-59; E5, 1960-68.

A significant difference was found among eras on item 17. All eras agreed that the Board of Trustees (Regents) should be an effective force in shaping or changing the financial planning of colleges. Mean responses for the 1940-49 and the 1960-68 eras differed significantly.

14.10* 1.76 1.21
1.76 1.21
1.21
<1
1.33
1.76
1.01

Table 43. Analysis of variance and significantly different means between colleges, donor classifications, and eras of graduation on item 21

F(.05) 4,571 = 2.39 > 1.21
F(.05) 8,571 = 1.96 > 1.33
F(.05) 12,571 = 1.77 > 1.76
F(.05) 23,571 = 1.55 > 1.01.
*F(.01) 2,571 = 4.65 < 14.10, p<.01.
bCO, Cornell; D, Drake; IS, Iowa State.</pre>

^CM, major donor; C, consecutive donor; NC, non-consecutive donor; ND, non-donor.

^dE1, Pre-1930; E2, 1930-39; E3, 1940-49; E4, 1950-59; E5, 1960-68.

Highly significant differences among both colleges and eras were found on item 18. Iowa State differed significantly from both Cornell and Drake. Respondents from Iowa State weakly agreed that the Board of Trustees (Regents) should be an effective force in shaping or changing the financial planning of colleges. Respondents from Cornell and Drake indicated uncertainty. High standard deviations for the three colleges indicated wide variation in responses. The 1930-39 and the 1960-68 eras differed significantly. The Pre-1930, 1930-39, and 1950-59 eras agreed weakly with the statement; the 1940-49 and 1960-68 eras expressed uncertainty in their mean responses. Again high standard deviations indicated wide variation in mean responses. A probable explanation for this could be the differences reflected by the private and public colleges. It was of interest to note that the 1960-68 era had the lowest mean responses on items 17 and 18.

A highly significant difference among colleges and a significant difference among donor classifications were found on item 20. Cornell and Iowa State had significantly different mean responses on item 20, whether agencies supplying funds for contract grants should be effective forces in shaping or changing the financial planning of colleges. Yet, all three colleges had mean responses which indicated uncertainty, and all colleges had high standard deviations.

Major donors and non-donors differed significantly on item 20. All mean responses were between 4 and 6, indicating that donors neither agreed nor disagreed that agencies supplying funds for contract grants should be effective forces in shaping or changing the financial planning of colleges. High standard deviations for all donor groups reflected the wide variation in responses.

Mean responses among colleges on item 21, whether sources of private grants or endowments should be effective forces in shaping or changing the financing planning of colleges, showed highly significant differences. Iowa State differed significantly from both Cornell and Drake. Cornell

92

showed weak agreement with the statement while Drake and Iowa State indicated uncertainty. High standard deviations were noted for all colleges.

<u>Group 4</u>: <u>items 22 through 26</u> Group 4 included the following statements:

Increased Federal Funding for higher education should come from the following alternatives:

22. Categorical Aid (aid for specific purposes)

23. Aid to Students (scholarships, fellowships and loans)

24. Institutional Grants

25. Tax Relief

26. Revenue Sharing and Aid to States

Means and standard deviations for donors on items in group 4 are given in Table 44. Donors agreed that increased federal funding for higher education should come in the form of aid to students. Categorical aid, institutional grants, and tax relief were weakly agreed on by donors as alternative forms of increased federal funding for higher education.

	Dor	ors	
Item no.	Mean	S.D.	
22	6.20	2.41	<u>-</u>
23	7.10	2.13	
24	6.46	2.15	
25	6.01	2.47	
26	5.65	2.63	

Table 44. Means and standard deviations of responses on items 22 through 26 for donors

When mean responses for donors were ranked from high to low, the results were:

1. Aid to students

2. Institutional grants

3. Categorical aid

4. Tax relief

5. Revenue sharing and aid to states.

No tests of significance were performed on differences in mean responses across items.

Intercorrelations and reliability coefficient Pearson product moment correlation coefficients for items 22 through 26 are presented in Table 45. A correlation coefficient of .08 was significantly different from zero at the .05 level with 628 degrees of freedom. The coefficient of reliability for this group was .56.

Item no.	22	23	24	25	26
22					
23	26				
24	33	34			
25	08	12	12		
26	10	16	26	26	

Table 45. Intercorrelations for items related to increased federal funding for higher education

<u>Analyses of variance</u> Summary of significant differences for main effects on items 22 through 26 is presented in Table 46. Only one significant difference was found.

		Hypothesis	
	No significant difference	No significant	No significant
Item no.	by college	by donor	by era
22			
23	S*		
24			
25			
26			

Table 46. Summary of significant differences for main effects on items 22 through 26

*Significant at .05 level.

**Significant at .01 level.

Table 47 gives the summary of overall mean scores and significantly different means between colleges, donor classifications, and eras of graduation. One significant difference between college means was noted.

Table 48 presents the results of factorial analysis of variance on item 23. A significant difference among colleges on increased federal funding for higher education coming in the form of aid to students was found. Cornell and Iowa State differed significantly. Cornell and Drake agreed with the statement; Iowa State showed weak agreement.

Item no.	Overall mean scores	Significantly different means between colleges ^a	Significantly different means between donors ^b	Significantly different means between eras
22	6.24			
23	7.16	CO-IS		
24	6.51			
25	6.03			
26	5.71			

Table 47. Summary of overall mean scores and significantly different means between colleges, donor classifications, and eras of graduation on items 22 through 26

^aCO, Cornell; D, Drake; IS, Iowa State.

^bM, major donor; C, consecutive donor; NC, non-consecutive donor; ND, non-donor.

^CE1, Pre-1930, E2, 1930-39; E3, 1940-49; E4, 1950-59; E5, 1960-68.

<u>Group 5</u>: <u>items 93</u>, <u>through 100</u> Statements included in this group were:

The present approximate percentages of total income to public higher education by sources are presented below. Please write in the percentages which <u>in your opinion</u> the identified sources <u>should be</u> contributing to public higher education.

		Presently	Should Be
93.	State	39%	
94.	Federal Government	20%	
95.	Students	20%	
96.	Local Tax District	4%	

Source of variation	đf	MS	F ^a
Colleges (A)	2	18.17	3.98*
Donors (B)	3	8.62	1.89
Eras (E)	4	2.63	<1
Interactions:	,	0.70	
	6	0.73	>
A X E P F	8 12	4.35	<1
D X E A v B v F	12	4.00	1 20
Error	571	4.57	1.20
Significantly different m	eans between coll	eges: ^b CO-IS	
Significantly different m	eans between dond	ors: ^C	
Significantly different m	means between eras	, d	
a F(.05) 3,571 = 2.62 F(.05) 23,571 = 1.5	2 > 1.89 5 > 1.20.		
*F(.05) 2,571 = 3.01	. < 3.98, p<.05.		
^b CO, Cornell; D, Dra	ake; IS, Iowa Star	te.	
^C M, major donor; C, ND, non-donor.	consecutive dono	; NC, non-consecutiv	e donor;
^d E1, Pre-1930; E2, 1	1930-39; E3, 1940	-49; E4, 1950-59; E5,	1960-68.
97. Alumni and Frie	ends	4%	
98. Foundations		3%	
99. Business Corpor	cations	2%	
100. Other (Communit	ty Groups,	8%	
Endowmen	nt Earnings, etc.)	
	~ .	100%	

.

Table 48. Analysis of variance and significantly different means between colleges, donor classifications, and eras of graduation on item 23

Table 49 shows the means and standard deviations for donors on items 93 through 100. The Federal Government, alumni and friends, foundations, and business corporations were the identified sources that donors thought should be contributing more to public higher education. Donors felt that the state, students, and the local tax district should be contributing less to public higher education. Findings substantiated the observations of writers (3, 8, 11, 42, 56, 61) that alumni and friends, foundations, and business corporations should be contributing more to public higher education.

Table /0	Noone and standard	dans stand	of moononooo		1 .	0.2	: All a such
Table 49.	means and standard	deviations	or responses	on	ltems	22	Chrough
	100 for donors						

	Donors			
Item no.	Mean	S.D.		
93	35.97	10.27		
94	20.60	9.83		
95	19.63	8.47		
96	3.15	2.65		
97	6.31	4.38		
98	4.30	3.07		
99	4.33	3.90		
100	6.61	. 3.59		

<u>Analyses of variance</u> Summary of significant differences for main effects on items in group 5 is given in Table 50. Six highly significant differences were found.

Table 51 shows the summary of overall mean responses and significantly different means between colleges, donor classifications, and eras of graduation. Seven significant differences between colleges, three significant

		Hypothesis	
Item no.	No significant difference by college	No significant difference by donor	No significant difference by era
93	HS**		
94			
95			
96			
97	HS**	HS**	
98	HS**		
99	HS **		HS**
100			

Table 50. Summary of significant differences for main effects on items 93 through 100

*Significant at .05 level.

****Significant at .01 level.**

Table 51. Summary of overall mean responses and significantly different means between colleges, donor classifications, and eras of graduation on items 93 through 100

ltem no.	Overall mean responses	Significantly different means between colleges ^a	Significantly different means between donors ^b	Significantly different means between eras ^C
93	36.22	CO-IS D-IS		
94	20.73	5 10		
95	19.36			
96	3.19			
97	6.08	CO-IS	M-C	
		D-IS	M-NC	
			M-ND	
98	4.40	CO-IS		
		D-IS		
99	4.40	D-IS		E1-E5
100	6.56			

^aCO, Cornell; D, Drake, IS, Iowa State.

^bM, major donor; C, consecutive donor; NC, non-consecutive donor; ND, non-donor.

^CE1, Pre-1930; E2, 1930-39; E3, 1940-49; E4, 1950-59; E5, 1960-68.

differences between donor classifications, and one significant difference between eras of graduation were noted.

Results of factorial analyses of variance on items 93, 97, 98, and 99 are shown in Tables 52, 53, 54, and 55, respectively.

Table 52. Analysis of variance and significantly different means between colleges, donor classifications, and eras of graduation on item 93

Source of vari	ation		df	2	MS	F	а
Colleges (A)	<u></u>		2	12	36.10	12.	26*
Donors (B)			3		90.03	<	1
Eras (E)			4	1	04.82	1.	04
Interactions:							
АхВ			6		35.62	<	1
АхЕ			8		81.27	<	1
🖸 🗙 E			12	1	18.90	1.	18
АхВхЕ			23	1	15.45	1.	14
Error			490	1	00.85		
Significantly	different r	means	between	colleges: b	CO-IS D-IS		
Significantly	different 1	means	between	donors: c			
Significantly	different 1	means	between	eras: ^d			

^aF(.05) 4,571 = 2.39 > 1.04 F(.05) 12,571 = 1.78 > 1.18 F(.05) 23,571 = 1.55 > 1.14. *F(.01) 2,571 = 4.65 < 12.26, p<.01. ^bCO, Cornell; D, Drake; IS, Iowa State.

^CM, major donor; C, consecutive donor; NC, non-consecutive donor; NC, non-donor.

^dE1, Pre-1930; E2, 1930-39; E3, 1940-49; E4, 1950-59; E5, 1960-68.

Source of variation	df	MS	F ^a
Colleges (A)	2	142.34	8.96*
Donors (B)	3	112.27	7.07**
Eras (E)	4	29.15	1.84
Interactions:			
АхВ	6	8.12	<1
АхЕ	8	21.42	1.35
ВхЕ	12	16.75	1.05
АхвхЕ	23	12.63	<1
Error	490	15.88	
Significantly different	means between col means between don	leges: ^b CO-IS D-IS wors: ^c M-C M-NC M-ND	
Significantly different	means between era	as: ^d	
a F(.05) 4,571 = 2.3 F(.05) 8,571 = 1.9 F(.05) 12,571 = 1.	9 > 1.84 6 > 1.35 78 > 1.05.		
*F(.01) 2,571 = 4.6	5 < 8.96, p<.01.		
**F(.01) 3,571 = 3.8	3 < 7.07, p<.01.		
^b CO, Cornell; D, Dr	ake, IS, Iowa Sta	ate.	
^C M, major donor; C,	consecutive dond	or; NC, non-consecuti	ve donor;

Table 53. Analysis of variance and significantly different means between colleges, donor classifications, and eras of graduation on item 97

ND, non-donor.

^dE1, Pre-1930; E2, 1930-39; E3, 1940-49; E4, 1950-59; E5, 1960-68.

Source of vari	ation		df	1	MS	F ^a
Colleges (A)			2	7	4.59	8.02**
Donors (B)			3		6.43	<1
Eras (E)			4	1	6.25	1.75
Interactions:						
АхВ			6		9.30	1.00
A x E			8	2	0.36	2.19**
ВхЕ			12	1	3.24	1.42
АхВхЕ			23	1	0.89	1.17
Error			490		9.30	
Significantly	different	means	be tw een	colleges: ^b	CO-IS D-IS	
Significantly	different	means	between	donors: ^C		
Significantly	different	means	between	eras: ^d		

Table 54. Analysis of variance and significantly different means between colleges, donor classifications, and eras of graduation on item 98

^aF(.05) 4,571 = 2.39 > 1.75 F(.05) 6,571 = 2.12 > 1.00 F(.05) 12,571 = 1.78 > 1.42 F(.05) 23,571 = 1.55 > 1.17. *F(.01) 2,571 = 4.65 < 8.02, p<.01. **F(.05) 8,571 = 1.96 < 2.19, p<.05. ^bCO, Cornell; D, Drake; IS, Iowa State.

^CM, major donor; C, consecutive donor; NC, non-consecutive donor; ND, non-donor.

^dE1, Pre-1930; E2, 1930-39; E3, 1940-49; E4, 1950-59; E5, 1960-68.

A highly significant difference among colleges was noted on item 93. Iowa State differed significantly from both Cornell and Drake in the amount respondents thought the state should be contributing to public higher education. Respondents from Cornell and Drake felt that the state should be

Source of vari	ation	df		MS	F ^a
Colleges (A)		2]	147.94	8.26*
Donors (B)		3		8.74	<1
Eras (E)		4		64.86	3.62**
Interactions:					
АхВ		6		10.81	<1
АхЕ		8		28.14	1.57
ВхЕ		12		10.96	<1
АхВхЕ		23		18.08	<1
Error		490		17.91	
Significantly	different mea	ans between	colleges: ^b	D-IS	
Significantly	different mea	ans between	donors: c		
Significantly	different mea	ans between	eras: ^d El	-E5	

Table 55. Analysis of variance and significantly different means between colleges, donor classifications, and eras of graduation on item 99

^aF(.05) 8,571 = 1.96 > 1.57.

*F(.01) 2,571 = 4.65 < 8.26, p<.01.

**F(.01) 4,571 = 3.36 < 3.62, p<.01.

^bCO, Cornell; D, Drake; IS, Iowa State.

^CM, major donor; C, consecutive donor; NC, non-consecutive donor; ND, non-donor.

^dE1, Pre-1930; E2, 1930-39; E3, 1940-49; E4, 1950-59; E5, 1960-68.

contributing less than the 39 percent which it contributed to public higher education in 1971.

According to respondents, alumni and friends of the college should be contributing a greater percentage to public higher education than they did in 1971 (four percent), item 97. A highly significant difference was found among colleges. Iowa State differed significantly from both Cornell and Drake. The mean responses for Cornell, Drake, and Iowa State were 6.61, 6.69, and 5.11, respectively.

There was also a highly significant difference among donor groups found on item 97. Major donors differed significantly from each of the other donor groups. The mean percentages that donor classifications indicated alumni and friends of the college should be contributing to public higher education were 7.72, 5,75, 5.97, and 5.31 for the major, consecutive, non-consecutive, and non-donor classifications, respectively. The significant difference among colleges found on item 98 was not interpretable without consideration of the significant interaction of colleges with eras (Figure 4).

Significant differences were found between Iowa State and both Cornell and Drake regarding the percentage contributed to public higher education by foundations. Three percent was the amount presented as having been contributed to public higher education by foundations in 1971. The mean responses by college were 4.92, 4.66, and 3.74, for Cornell, Drake, and Iowa State, respectively. However, a significant difference among eras of graduation from Drake was noted. It was also of interest to note the low mean responses for Iowa State's eras.

Respondents indicated that business corporations should be contributing more to public higher education than the two percent which they had contributed in 1971, item 99. Highly significant differences among both colleges and eras were found on this item. Mean responses for Drake and Iowa State differed significantly. The Pre-1930 and the 1960-68 eras differred significantly. The lowest mean response was 3.47 for the Pre-1930 era. The 1960-68 era had the highest mean response, 5.37.

104



Figure 4. Interaction of colleges with eras on item 98

Fund raising in higher education

The items in this section were analyzed in seven groups with statements 43, 44, 53, 54, and 55 analyzed separately from the groupings.

Items 43, 44, 53, 54, and 55 Statements analyzed apart from the groups were:

- 43. In fund raising, a volunteer should have a better chance of getting money than a professional fund raiser.
- 44. Academic excellence should attract financial support to a college or university.

Monies contributed to a college or university should be invested by:

53. Committee of Trustees

54. Large Bank or Investment House

55. Small Investment House

Means and standard deviations for donors on items 43, 44, 53, 54, and 55 are presented in Table 56. Donors agreed that "Academic excellence should attract financial support to a college or university." Weak agreement that monies contributed to a college should be invested by a committee of trustees or a large bank or investment house was shown by donors.

Donors expressed uncertainty in mean responses to item 43. The standard deviation was high on this item indicating that donors did not agree about whether in fund raising a volunteer should have a better chance of getting money than a professional fund raiser. It is possible that ambiguity existed over the use of the term "professional fund raiser." Some personnel of alumni and development offices directly involved in the fund raising process are considered to be professional fund raisers. Yet.

<u></u>	Don	<u></u>	
Item no.	Mean	S.D.	
43	5.32	2.49	
44	8.08	1.34	
53	6.41	2.63	
54	6.33	2.43	
55	4.27	2.18	

Table 56. Means and standard deviations of responses on items 43, 44, 53, 54, and 55 for donors

alumni might have limited a professional fund raiser to one who works for a professional fund raising firm.

<u>Analyses of variance</u> Summary of significant differences for main effects is shown in Table 57. Eight significant or highly significant differences were noted.

Table 57. Summary of significant differences for main effects on items 43, 44, 53, 54, and 55

	Hypothesis					
Item no.	No significant difference by college	No significant difference by donor	No significant difference by era			
43	S*		HS**			
44			HS**			
53	S*		HS**			
54						
55	HS**	S*	S*			

*Significant at .05 level.

**Significant at .01 level.

Table 58 gives the summary of overall mean scores and significantly different means between colleges, donor classifications, and eras of graduation. Eleven significant differences between means were found.

Item no.	Overall mean scores	Significantly different means between colleges ^a	Significantly different means between donors ^b	Significantly different means between eras ^C
43	5.24	CO-IS		E1-E4
44	8.07			E1-E5 E1-E4
53	6.40	CO-IS		E1-E3 E1-E5
54	6.34			
55	4.27	CO-IS CO-D	M-C	E1-E5

Table 58. Summary of overall mean scores and significantly different means between colleges, donor classifications, and eras of graduation on items 43, 44, 53, 54, and 55

^aCO, Cornell; D, Drake; IS, Iowa State.

^bM, major donor; C, consecutive donor; NC, non-consecutive donor; ND, non-donor.

^cE1, Pre-1930; E2, 1930-39; E3, 1940-49; E4, 1950-59; E5, 1960-68.

Results of factorial analyses of variance on items 43, 44, 53, and 55 are presented in Tables 59, 60, 61, and 62, respectively.

A significant difference among colleges and a highly significant difference among eras were noted on item 43. Cornell and Iowa State differed significantly in mean responses to the statement that "In fund raising, a volunteer should have a better chance of getting money than a professional

Source of variation	df	MS	F ^a	
Colleges (A)	2	24.56	3.99*	
Donors (B)	3	11.68	1.90	
Eras (E)	4	24.62	4.00**	
Interactions:				
АхВ	6	3.11	<1	
АхЕ	8	8.83	1.43	
ВхЕ	12	10.55	1.71	
АхВхЕ	23	4.64	<1	
Error	571	6.16		
Significantly differe	ent means between col	leges: ^b CO-IS		
Significantly differe	ent means between don	ors: C		
Significantly differe	ent means between era	s: ^d E1-E4 E1-E5		

Table 59. Analysis of variance and significantly different means between colleges, donor classifications, and eras of graduation on item 43

^aF(.05) 3,571 = 2.62 > 1.90 F(.05) 8,571 = 1.96 > 1.43 F(.05) 12,571 = 1.77 > 1.71. *F(.05) 2,571 = 3.01 < 3.99, p<.05. **F(.01) 4,571 = 3.35 < 4.00, p<.01. ^bCO, Cornell; D, Drake, IS, Iowa State.

^CM, major donor; C, consecutive donor; NC, non-consecutive donor; ND, non-donor.

^dE1, Pre-1930; E2, 1930-39; E3, 1940-49; E4, 1950-59; E5, 1960-68.

fund raiser." The Pre-1930 era differed significantly from both the 1950-59 and the 1960-68 eras. However, all colleges and eras expressed uncertainty in their mean responses, and high standard deviations indicated wide variation in responses.

Source of vari	ation	df		MS		F ^a
Colleges (A)		2		1.39	**************************************	<1
Donors (B		3		2.87		1.56
Eras (E)		4		8.89		4.83*
Interactions:						
АхВ		6		1.43		<1
АхЕ		8		1.08		<1
ВхЕ		12		1.47		<1
АхВхЕ		23		1.32	•	<1
Error		571		1.84		
Significantly	different me	ans between	colleges	b		
Significantly	different me	ans between	donors: c			
Significantly	different me	eans between	eras: ^d 1	E1-E4		

Table 60. Analysis of variance and significantly different means between colleges, donor classifications, and eras of graduation on item 44

^aF(.05) 3,571 = 2.62 > 1.56.

*F(.01) 4,571 = 3.35 < 4.83, p<.01.

^bCO, Cornell; D, Drake; IS, Iowa State.

^CM, major donor; C, consecutive donor; NC, non-consecutive donor; ND, non-donor.

^dE1, Pre-1930; E2, 1930-39; E3, 1940-49; E4, 1950-59; E5, 1960-68.

A highly significant difference among eras was found on item 44. Although all eras agreed that academic excellence should attract financial support to a college, the Pre-1930 and the 1950-59 eras differed significantly. The order of agreement by eras from high to low was: Pre-1930, 1930-39, 1940-49, 1960-68, and 1950-59.

A significant difference among colleges and a highly significant difference among eras were noted on item 53, that monies contributed to a col-

Source of variation		df		MS	F ^a
Colleges (A)		2		29.85	4.57*
Donors (B)		3		12.31	1.89
Eras (E)		4		27.98	4.28**
Interactions:					
АхВ		6		7.71	1.18
ΑxΕ		8		7.88	1.21
ВхЕ		12		4.49	<1
АхВхЕ		23		11.03	1.69
Error		571		6.53	
Significantly	different m	eans between	colleges: ^b	CO-1S	
Significantly	different m	eans between	donors: ^c		
Significantly	different m	eans between	eras: ^d E1- E1-	-E3 -E5	

Table 61. Analysis of variance and significantly different means between colleges, donor classifications, and eras of graduation on item 53

^aF(.05) 3,571 = 2.62 > 1.89 F(.05) 6,571 = 2.11 > 1.18 F(.05) 8,571 = 1.96 > 1 21 F(.05) 23,571 = 1.55 > 1.69 *F(.05) 2,571 = 3.01 < 4.57, p<.05. **F(.01) 4,571 = 3.35 < 4.28, p<.01. ^bCO, Cornell; D, Drake; IS, Iowa State.

^CM, major donor; C, consecutive donor; NC, non-consecutive donor; ND, non-donor.

^dE1, Pre-1930; E2, 1930-39; E3, 1940-49; E4, 1950-59; E5, 1960-68.

lege should be invested by a committee of trustees. Cornell and Iowa State differed significantly. The three colleges agreed weakly with the statement. The Pre-1930 era differed significantly from both the 1940-49 and the 1960-68 eras. Only the Pre-1930 era agreed with the statement. How-

Source of vari	ation	df	MS	3	F ^a
Colleges (A)		2	48.	. 89	10.84*
Donors (B)		3	12.	. 82	2.84**
Eras (E)		4	15.	. 29	3.39***
Interactions: A x B A x E B x E A x B x E Error		6 8 12 23 571	1 . 3 . 6 . 4 . 4 .	.77 .42 .96 .58 .51	<1 <1 1.54 1.02
Significantly	different	means between	colleges: ^b	CO-IS CO-D	
Significantly	different	means between	donors: C M	- C	
Significantly	different	means between	eras: ^d E1-I	E5	

Table 62. Analysis of variance and significantly different means between colleges, donor classifications, and eras of graduation on item 55

^aF(.05) 12,571 = 1.77 > 1.54 F(.05) 23,571 = 1.55 > 1.02. *F(.01) 2,571 = 4.65 < 10.84, p<.01. **F(.05) 3,571 = 2.62 < 2.84, p<.05. ***F(.01) 4,571 = 3.35 < 3.39, p<.01. ^bCO, Cornell; D, Drake; IS, Iowa State.

^CM, major donor; C, consecutive donor; NC, non-consecutive donor; ND, non-donor.

^dE1, Pre-1930; E2, 1930-39; E3, 1940-49; E4, 1950-59; E5, 1960-68.

ever, high standard deviations for all colleges and eras indicated wide variation in responses.

A highly significant difference among colleges was found on item 55. A significant difference among donor groups was also noted. Cornell differed significantly from both Drake and Iowa State. However, none of the colleges agreed that monies contributed to a college should be invested by a small investment house. Major and consecutive donors differed significantly. Yet, none of the donor groups agreed with the statement. The Pre-1930 and the 1960-68 eras differed significantly. The Pre-1930 era disagreed weakly with the statement; the other eras expressed uncertainty. A high percentage of "5" ratings was noted on this item.

<u>Group 6</u>: <u>items 45 through 52</u> Group 6 included the following statements:

The fund raising process should be an important concern of each of the following:

- 45. Students
- 46. Faculty
- 47. Alumni Office
- 48. President
- 49. Parents of Students
- 50. Board of Trustees (Regents)
- 51. Alumni and Friends of the Institution
- 52. Professional Fund Raiser

Means and standard deviations for donors on items included in this group are given in Table 63. Donors agreed that the fund raising process should be an important concern of the Board of Trustees (Regents), the president, the alumni office, and alumni and friends of the institution. That the fund raising process be an important concern of parents of students, faculty, and the professional fund raiser was weakly agreed on by donors.

	Don	ors	
Item no.	Mean	S.D.	
45	5.47	2.85	
46	6.34	2.63	
47	8.19	1.33	
48	8.37	1.43	
49	6.61	2.26	
50	8.48	1.26	
51	8.16	1.40	
52	6.21	2.85	

Table 63. Means and standard deviations of responses on items 45 through 52 for donors

When the mean responses for donors were ranked from high to low, the rankings were:

- 1. Board of Trustees (Regents)
- 2. President
- 3. Alumni office
- 4. Alumni and friends of the institution
- 5. Parents of students
- 6. Faculty
- 7. Professional fund raiser
- 8. Students

Ranking the Board of Trustees (Regents) and the president in the first two places substantiated the findings of Bacon and Pride (2). The low mean response for students was contrary to the writings of Eldridge (30), Pollard (68), and Wireman (92), who emphasized the important role of students in the fund raising process. No tests of significance were performed on differences in mean responses across items. Intercorrelations and reliability coefficient Pearson product moment correlation coefficients for items in group 6 are shown in Table 64. A correlation coefficient of .08 was significantly different from zero at the .05 level with 628 degrees of freedom. The coefficient of reliability was .76.

Item no.	45	46	47	48	49	50	51	52
45		<u> </u>		<u></u>			<u></u>	
46	76							
47	30	34						
48	32	39	2 5					
49	56	53	34	30				
50	17	20	22	4 2	29			
51	21	23	60	16	34	26		
52	09	06	08	15	08	16	11	

Table 64. Intercorrelations for items related to fund raising process being an important concern

<u>Analyses of variance</u> Summary of significant differences for main effects on items 45 through 52 are presented in Table 65. Eight significant or highly significant differences were found.

Table 66 gives the summary of overall mean scores and significantly different means between colleges, donor classifications, and eras of graduation. Three significant differences between college means, four significant differences between donor means, and two significant differences between era means were noted.

Results of factorial analyses of variance on items 46, 47, 48, 49, 51, and 52 are presented in Tables 67, 68, 69, 70, 71, and 72, respectively.

No significant difference	No significant	No significant
by college	difference by donor	difference by era
HS**		
-	HS **	
	S*	
	S*	HS**
	HS**	HS**
HS**		
	HS**	HS** HS** HS** HS**

Table 65. Summary of significant differences for main effects on items 45 through 52

*Significant at .05 level.

**Significant at .01 level.

Table 66. Summary of overall mean scores and significantly different means between colleges, donor classifications, and eras of graduation on items 45 through 52

Item no.	Overall mean scores	Significantly different means between colleges ^a	Significantly different means between donors ^b	Significantly different means between eras ^C
45	5.56			
46	6.40	CO-D		
		CO-IS		
47	8.12			
48	8.31		M-ND	
49	6.62			E1-E5
50	8.48			
51	8.11		M-NC	E1-E5
			M-ND	
			C-NC	
52	6.25	CO-IS		

^aCO, Cornell; D, Drake; IS, Iowa State.

^bM, major donor; C, consecutive donor; NC, non-consecutive donor; ND, non-donor.

^cE1, Pre-1930; E2, 1930-39; E3, 1940-49; E4, 1950-59; E5, 1960-68.

Source of variation	df	MS	F ^a
Colleges (A)	2	32.61	4.90*
Donors (B)	3	14.19	2.13
Eras (E)	4	14.73	2.21
Interactions:			
АхВ	6	14.18	2.13**
AxE	8	5.21	<1
ВхЕ	12	9.13	1.37
АхВхЕ	23	6.15	<1
Error	571	6.66	
Significantly different mear	ns between colleges	s: ^b CO-D CO-IS	
Significantly different mean	ns between donors:	2	
Significantly different mean	ns between eras: ^d		

Table 67. Analysis of variance and significantly different means between colleges, donor classifications, and eras of graduation on item 46

F(.05) 3,571 = 2.62 > 2.13 F(.05) 4,571 = 2.39 > 2.21 F(.05) 12,571 = 1.77 > 1.37. *F(.01) 2,571 = 4.65 < 4.90, p<.01. **F(.05) 6,571 = 2.11 < 2.13, p<.05. ^bCO, Cornell; D, Drake; IS, Iowa State.

^CM, major donor; C, consecutive donor; NC, non-consecutive donor; ND, non-donor.

^dE1, Pre-1930; E2, 1930-39; E3, 1940-49; E4, 1950-59; E5, 1960-68.

Although a highly significant difference among colleges was noted on item 46, there was also a significant interaction of colleges with donor groups which is shown graphically in Figure 5. Non-consecutive donors from Cornell had a significantly different mean response from Cornell's major

Source of vari	ation	df		MS	F ^a
Colleges (A)	nu	2		1.23	<1
Donors (B)		3		8.14	4.01*
Eras (E)		4		4.35	2.14
Interactions;					
АхВ		6		2.20	1.08
AxE		8		1.19	<1
ВхЕ		12		1.16	<1
АхВхЕ		23		1.92	<1
Error		571		2.03	
Significantly	different	means betw	en colleges: ^b		
Significantly	different	means betw	en donors: ^c		
Significantly	different	means betw	een eras: d		

Table 68. Analysis of variance and significantly different means between colleges, donor classifications, and eras of graduation on item 47

^aF(.05) 4,571 = 2.39 > 2.14 F(.05) 6,571 = 2.11 > 1.08. *F(.01) 3,571 = 3.82 < 4.01, p<.01. ^bC, Cornell; D, Drake; IS, Iowa State.

^CM, major donor; C, consecutive donor; NC, non-consecutive donor; ND, non-donor.

^dE1, Pre-1930; E2, 1930-39; E3, 1940-49; E4, 1950-59; E5, 1960-68.

donors on whether the fund raising process should be an important function of the faculty. Thus, the significant difference found between Cornell and both Drake and Iowa State must be interpreted in the light of the interaction of colleges with donors. Cornell expressed uncertainty in their mean responses while Drake and Iowa State showed weak agreement with the item.

Source of vari	ation	df		MS		F ^a
Colleges (A)		2		3.74	[
Donors (B)		3		7.63		3.25*
Eras (E)		4		1.28		<1
Interactions:						
АхВ		6		4.13]	L.76
АхЕ		8		0.88		<1
ВхЕ		12		· 2.1 9		<1
АхВхЕ		23		2.18		\triangleleft
Error		571		2.35		
Significantly	different means	between	colleges:	b		
Significantly	different means	between	donors: ^c	M-ND		
Significantly	different means	between	eras: ^d			

Table 69. Analysis of variance and significantly different means between colleges, donor classifications, and eras of graduation on item 48

^aF(.05) 2,571 = 3.01 > 1.59 F(.05) 6,571 = 2.11 > 1.76. *F(.05) 3,571 = 2.62 < 3.25, p<.05. ^bCO, Cornell; D, Drake; IS, Iowa State.

^CM, major donor; C, consecutive donor; NC, non-consecutive donor; ND, non-donor.

^dE1, Pre-1930; E2, 1930-39; E3, 1940-49; E4, 1950-59; E5, 1960-68.

High standard deviations for all colleges indicated wide variation in responses.

A highly significant difference among donor groups was found on item 47. However, all donor groups agreed that the fund raising process should be an important function of the alumni office. No significant differences were noted between donor classifications.

Source of vari	iation	df	MS	F ^a
Colleges (A)		2	7.73	1.59
Donors (B)		3	13.57	2.79*
Eras (E)		4	21.74	4.46**
Interactions:				
АхВ		6	9.38	1.93
ΑxΕ		8	4.86	<1
ВхЕ		12	8.17	1.68
AxBxE		23	5.00	1.03
Error		571	4.87	
Significantly	different me	ans between	colleges: ^b	
Significantly	different mea	ans between	donors: ^C	
Significantly	different mea	ans between	eras: ^d E1-E5	

Table 70. Analysis of variance and significantly different means between colleges, donor classifications, and eras of graduation on item 49

^aF(.05) 2,571 = 3.01 > 1.59 F(.05) 6,571 = 2.11 > 1.93 F(.05) 12,571 = 1.77 > 1.68 F(.05) 23,571 = 1.55 > 1.03. *F(.05) 3,571 = 2.62 < 2.79, p<.05. **F(.01) 4,571 = 3.35 < 4.46, p<.01. ^bCO, Cornell; D, Drake; IS, Iowa State.

^CM, major donor; C, consecutive donor; NC, non-consecutive donor; ND, non-donor.

^dE1, Pre-1930; E2, 1930-39; E3, 1940-49; E4, 1950-59; E5, 1960-68.

On item 48, a significant difference among donor groups was found. Major donors had a significantly different mean response from non-donors. However, all donor classifications agreed that the fund raising process should be an important function of the president.

Source of vari	ation	df	MS	F ^a
Colleges (A)		2	3.00	1.57
Donors (B)		3	15.86	8.30*
Eras (E)		4	7.37	3.86**
Interactions				
АхВ		6	1.14	<1
АхЕ		8	2.63	1.38
ВхЕ		12	0.73	<1
АхВхЕ		23	0.93	<1
Error		571	1.91	
Significantly	different mean	ns between coll	Leges: ^b	
Significantly	different mean	n s between dong	ors: M-NC	
			M-ND	
			C-NC	
Significantly	different mean	ns between eras	s: ^d E1-E5	

Table 71. Analysis of variance and significantly different means between colleges, donor classifications, and eras of graduation on item 51

^aF(.05) 2,571 = 3.01 > 1.57 F(.05) 8,571 = 1.96 > 1.38. *F(.01) 3,571 = 3.82 < 8.30, p<.01. **F(.01) 4,571 = 3.35 < 3.86, p<.01. ^bCO, Cornell; D, Drake; IS, Iowa State.

^CM, major donor; C, consecutive donor; NC, non-consecutive donor; ND, non-donor.

^dE1, Pre-1930; E2, 1930-39; E3, 1940-49; E4, 1950-59; E5, 1960-68.

A significant difference among donor groups and a highly significant difference among eras were found on item 49. However, no significant differences were noted between donor classifications. All donor groups agreed weakly that the fund raising process should be an important function of the

Source of variation df MS Colleges (A) 2 39.05 Donors (B) 3 8.39 Eras (E) 4 1.83	a
Colleges (A) 2 39.05 Donors (B) 3 8.39 Eras (E) 4 1.83	F
Donors (B) 3 8.39 Eras (E) 4 1.83	4.86*
Eras (E) 4 1.83	1.04
	<1
Interactions:	
A x B 6 6.56	<1
A x E 8 6.66	<1
B x E 12 4.45	<1
A x B x E 23 5.46	<1
Error 571 8.04	
Significantly different means between colleges: b CO-IS	
Significantly different means between donors: ^C	
Significantly different means between eras: ^d	

Table 72. Analysis of variance and significantly different means between colleges, donor classifications, and eras of graduation on item 52

^aF(.05) 3,571 = 2.62 > 1.04.

*F(.01) 2,571 = 4.65 < 4.86, p<.01.

^bCO, Cornell; D, Drake; IS Iowa State.

^CM, major donor; C, consecutive donor; NC, non-consecutive donor; ND, non-donor.

^dE1, Pre-1930; E2, 1930-39; E3, 1940-49; E4, 1950-59; E5, 1960-68.

parents of students. High standard deviations indicated wide variation in responses. The Pre-1930 era and the 1960-68 eras differed significantly. The Pre-1930 era agreed that the fund raising process should be an important function of the parents of students; the 1960-68 era indicated uncertainty while the other eras showed weak agreement with the item. High standard deviations were noted for all eras except the Pre-1930 era.



DONOR

Figure 5. Interaction of colleges with donor classifications on item 46
Highly significant differences among both donor groups and eras were noted on item 51. Major donors differed significantly from both non-consecutive donors and non-donors; consecutive donors differed significantly from non-consecutive donors. All donor groups agreed quite strongly that the fund raising process should be an important function of alumni and friends of the institution. Although all eras agreed with the statement, the Pre-1930 and the 1960-68 eras differed significantly.

A highly significant difference among colleges was noted on item 52. Cornell and Iowa State differed significantly regarding the fund raising process being an important concern of the professional fund raiser. Cornell and Drake expressed weak agreement with the item; Iowa State indicated uncertainty in its mean response.

<u>Group 7: items 56 through 63</u> The following items were included in group 7:

Alumni prefer their gifts to be used for:

- 56. Specific Projects
- 57. Unrestricted Projects
- 58. Current Operations
- 59. Capital Needs
- 60. Athletics
- 61. Organized Research
- 62. Student Aid
- 63. Endowments

Table 73 gives the means and standard deviations for donors on items 56 through 63. Donors agreed that alumni prefer their gifts to be used for specific projects. These findings seemed to concur with the findings on

,	Don	ors	
Item no.	Mean	S.D.	
56	7.27	1.98	
57	5.21	2.41	
58	4.90	2.48	
59	6.12	2.14	
60	4.78	2.39	
61	5.92	2,19	
62	6.86	1.92	
63	6.29	2.02	

Table 73. Means and standard deviations of responses on items 56 through 63 for donors

item 23, that federal funding for higher education be in the form of student aid, and item 30, that "The alumni office should propose gifts for specific purposes." That donors prefer their gifts be used for specific projects was also reflected in the approximately two-thirds of voluntary support for higher education in 1970-71 being designated for specific projects (87). Donors weakly agreed that gifts be used for capital needs, student aid, and endowments.

When the mean responses for donors were ranked from high to low, the rankings were:

- 1. Specific projects
- 2. Student aid
- 3. Endowments
- 4. Capital needs
- 5. Organized research
- 6. Unrestricted projects

- 7. Current operations
- 8. Athletics

Specific projects and student aid were ranked one and two, respectively. Current operations and athletics were ranked in the two last places. The low ranking of "current operations" did not concur with the fact that "...support for current operations has been responsible for all the growth in total voluntary support since 1964-1965" (88, p. 66). However, no tests of significance were performed on differences in mean responses across items.

Intercorrelations and reliability coefficient Pearson product moment correlation coefficients for items in group 7 are shown in Table 74. A correlation coefficient of .08 was significantly different from zero at the .05 level with 628 degrees of freedom. The coefficient of reliability for this group was .57.

<u>Analyses of variance</u> Table 75 gives the summary of significant differences for main effects on items in group 7. Ten significant or highly significant differences were found.

Tab	le	74.	Intercorrel	ations	for	items	related	to	the	use	of	alumni	gifts
-----	----	-----	-------------	--------	-----	-------	---------	----	-----	-----	----	--------	-------

Item no.	56	57	58	59	60	61	62	63
56								
57	-24							
58	-08	22						
59	12	12	37					
60	19	-01	04	12				
61	15	07	18	10	13			
62	10	09	12	08	07	31		
63	23	12	09	23	13	24	32	

126

	Hypothesis							
Item no.	No significant difference by college	No significant difference by depor	No significant difference					
	by college	by donor	by eta					
56								
57		HS**	HS**					
58	HS**	S*						
59	HS**							
60								
61	S*	S*						
62	HS**							
63	HS**		HS**					

Table 75. Summary of significant differences for main effects on items 56 through 63

*Significant at .05 level. **Significant at .01 level.

Summary of overall mean scores and significantly different means between colleges, donor classifications, and eras of graduation are shown in Table 76. Nine significant differences between colleges, two significant differences between donor classifications, and four significant differences between eras of graduation were noted.

Tables 77, 78, 79, 80, 81, and 82 present results of factorial analyses of variance on items 57, 58, 59, 61, 62, and 63, respectively.

Highly significant differences among both donor groups and eras of graduation were found on item 57. Consecutive and non-donors differed significantly that gifts be used for unrestricted projects. The Pre-1930 era differed significantly from both the 1940-49 and the 1950-59 eras. All donor groups and all eras had mean responses between 4 and 6 and high standard deviations.

Item no.	Overall mean scores	Significantly different means between colleges	Significantly different means between donors ^b	Significantly different means between eras
56	7.28	₩ <u>₩₩₩₩₩₩₩₩₩₩₩₩₩₩₩₩₩₩₩₩₩₩₩₩₩₩₩₩₩₩₩₩₩₩</u> ₩₩₩₩₩		
57	5.04		C-ND	E1-E3 E1-E4
58	5.01	CO-D		
		D-1S		
59	6.12	D-IS		
60	4.71			
61	6.04	D-IS	M-ND	
62	6.84	CO-D		
		D-IS		
63	6.24	CO-D		E1-E4
		CO-IS		E1-E5

Table 76.	Summary	of overall	l mean	scores	and	signi	ficar	itly	diff	Eerent	means
	between	colleges,	donor	classi	ficat	ions,	and	eras	of	gradu	ation
	on items	s 56 throug	2h 63								

^aCO, Cornell; D, Drake; IS, Iowa State.

^bM, major donor; C, consecutive donor; NC, non-consecutive donor; ND, non-donor.

^cE1, Pre-1930; E2, 1930-39; E3, 1940-49; E4, 1950-59; E5, 1960-68.

Although a highly significant difference among colleges was noted on item 58, there was also a significant interaction of colleges with eras which is shown graphically in Figure 6. Cornell differed significantly from both Drake and Iowa State, and Drake differed significantly from Iowa State. All mean responses for colleges expressed uncertainty. High standard deviations indicated that respondents did not agree about whether gifts should be used for current operations. However, the significant differences noted between colleges must be interpreted in the light of the college by era interaction. Iowa State had a highly significant difference

Source of vari	ation	df	MS	F ^a
Colleges (A) Donors (B) Eras (E)		2 3 4	16.26 25.41 20.87	2.83 4.43* 3.64**
Interactions: A x B A x E B x E A x B x E Error		6 8 12 23 571	7.99 3.40 5.57 4.47 5.74	1.39 <1 <1 <1 <1
Significantly	different mean	ns between	colleges: ^b	
Significantly	different mean	ns between	donors: C-ND	
Significantly	different mean	ns between	eras: ^d E1-E3 E1-E4	

Table 77. Analysis of variance and significantly different means between colleges, donor classifications, and eras of graduation on item 57

^aF(.05) 2,571 = 3.01 > 2.83 F(.05) 6,571 = 2.11 > 1.39. *F(.01) 3,571 = 3.82 < 4.43, p<.01. **F(.01) 4,571 = 3.35 < 3.64, p<.01. ^bCO, Cornell; D, Drake; IS, Iowa State.

^CM, major donor; C, consecutive donor; NC, non-consecutive donor; ND, non-donor.

^dE1, Pre-1930; E2, 1930-39; E3, 1940-49; E4, 1950-59; E5, 1960-68.

among eras. It was also of interest to note the low mean response for the 1950-59 era for Drake.

Although no significant differences were found between donor classifications on item 58, a significant difference was noted among donor groups. All mean responses for donor groups showed uncertainty. A larger percent-

Source of variation	df	MS	F ^a
Colleges (A)	2	85.89	14.96*
Donors (B)	3	16.60	2.89**
Eras (E)	4	10.72	1.88
Interactions:			
A x B	6	7.27	1.27
AxE	8	12.65	2.20***
ВхЕ	12	4.33	<1
АхВхЕ	23	5.98	1.04
Error	571	5.74	
Significantly different mean	ns between col	leges. ^b CO-D	
518-12100-121		CO-TS	
		D-IS	
Significantly different mean	ns between don	ors: ^C	
Significantly different mean	ns between era	s: ^d	

Table 78. Analysis of variance and significantly different means between colleges, donor classifications, and eras of graduation on item 58

^aF(.05) 4,571 = 2.39 > 1.88 F(.05) 6,571 = 2.11 > 1.27 F(.05) 23,571 = 1.55 > 1.04. *F(.01) 2,571 = 4.65 < 14.96, p<.01. **F(.05) 3,571 = 2.62 < 2.89, p<.05. ****F(.05) 8,571 = 1.96 < 2.20, p<.05. ^bCO, Cornell; D, Drake; IS, Iowa State.

^CM, major donor; C, consecutive donor; NC, non-consecutive donor; ND, non-donor.

^dE1, Pre-1930; E2, 1930-39; E3, 1940-49; E4, 1950-59; E5, 1960-68.

Source of var:	iation	df		MS	F ^a
Colleges (A)	<u> </u>	2		22.05	4.84*
Donors (B)		3		8.97	1.97
Eras (E)		4		6.61	1.45
Interactions:					
АхВ		6		3.26	<1
AxE		8		8.02	1.76
ВхЕ		12		7.16	1.57
АхВхЕ		23		5.14	1.13
Error		571		4.56	
Significantly	different	means between	colleges: ^b	D-IS	
Significantly	different	means between	donors: ^c		
Significantly	different	means between	eras: ^d		

Table 79. Analysis of variance and significantly different means between colleges, donor classifications, and eras of graduation on item 59

^aF(.05) 3,571 = 2.62 > 1.97 F(.05) 4,571 = 2.39 > 1.45 F(.05) 8,571 = 1.96 > 1.76 F(.05) 12,571 = 1.77 > 1.57 F(.05) 23,571 = 1.55 > 1.13 *F(.01) 2,571 = 4.65 < 4.48, p<.01.</pre>
^bCO, Cornell; D, Drake; IS, Iowa State.

A 14

^CM, major donor; C, consecutive donor; NC, non-consecutive donor; ND, non-donor.

^dE1, Pre-1930; E2, 1930-39; E3, 1940-49; E4, 1950-59; E5, 1960-68.

age of "5" ratings on this item indicated that donors were uncertain about gifts being used for current operations.

A highly significant difference among colleges was found on item 59. Drake and Iowa State differed significantly. Cornell and Drake had weak

Source of vari	ation	đf		MS	F	a
Colleges (A)		2		16.24	3.5	2*
Donors (B)		3		15.18	3.2	9**
Eras (E)		4		2.12	<1	•
Interactions:						
АхВ		6		5.40	1.1	.7
AxE		8		5.15	1.1	.1
ВхЕ		12		4.42	<1	-
АхВхЕ		23		2.16	<1	-
Error		571		4.62		
Significantly	different	means between	colleges:	D-IS		
Significantly	different	means between	donors: c	M-ND		
Significantly	different	means between	eras: ^d			

Table 80. Analysis of variance and significantly different means between colleges, donor classifications, and eras of graduation on item 61

^aF(.05) 6,571 = 2.11 > 1.17 F(.05) 8,571 = 1.96 > 1.11. *F(.05) 2,571 = 3.01 < 3.52, p<.05. **F(.05) 3,571 = 2.62 < 3.29, p<.05. ^bCO, Cornell; D, Drake; IS, Iowa State.

^CM, major donor; C, consecutive donor; NC, non-consecutive donor; ND, non-donor.

^dE1, Pre-1930; E2, 1930-39; E3, 1940-49; E4, 1950-59; E5, 1960-68.

agreement that gifts should be used for capital needs while Iowa State's respondents indicated uncertainty.

Significant differences among both colleges and donor classifications were noted on item 61. Drake and Iowa State differed significantly, and major donors differed significantly from non-donors that gifts be used for

Source of vari	ation	df	<u>, , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , </u>	MS	F	a
Colleges (A) Donors (B) Eras (E) Interactions: A x B A x E B x E A x B x E		2 3 4 6 8 12 23		49.22 7.69 4.17 0.07 12.22 2.73 4.94	13. 2. 1. 3. 4 1.	71* 14 16 1 40** 1 38
Error		571		3.59		
Significantly	different	means between	colleges: ^b	CO-D D-IS		
Significantly	different	means between	donors: ^c			
Significantly	different	means between	eras:			

Table 81. Analysis of variance and significantly different means between colleges, donor classifications, and eras of graduation on item 62

^aF(.05) 3,571 = 2.62 > 2.14 F(.05) 4,571 = 2.39 > 1.16 F(.05) 23,571 = 1.55 > 1.38. *F(.01) 2,571 = 4.65 < 13.71, p<.01. **F(.01) 8,571 = 2.54 < 3.40, p<.01. ^bCO, Corncl1; D, Drake; IS, Iowa State.

^CM, major donor; C, consecutive donor; NC, non-consecutive donor; ND, non-donor.

^dE1, Pre-1930; E2, 1930-39; E3, 1940-49; E4, 1950-59; E5, 1960-68.

organized research. Non-consecutive donors and non-donors agreed weakly with the item; major and consecutive donors expressed uncertainty.

A highly significant interaction of colleges with eras was found on item 62 (Figure 7). A highly significant difference among colleges was

Source of vari	lation	df		MS	F ^a	
Colleges (A)		2		27.12	6.76	*
Donors (B)		3		3.65	<1	
Eras (E)		4		22.42	5.59	**
Interactions:						
A x B		6		2.96	<1	
ΑxΕ		8		4.05	1.01	-
ВхЕ		12		4.16	1.04	ŀ
АхВхЕ		23		3.16	<1	
Error		571		4.01		
Significantly	different n	means between	colleges: ^b	CO-D CO-IS		
Significantly	different n	means between	donors: c			
Significantly	different n	means between	eras: ^d E1- E1-	E4 E5		

Table 82. Analysis of variance and significantly different means between colleges, donor classifications, and eras of graduation on item 63

^aF(.05) 8,571 = 1.96 > 1.01 F(.05) 12,571 = 1.77 > 1.04. *F(.01) 2,571 = 4.65 < 6.76, p<.01. **F(.01) 4,571 = 3.35 < 5.59, p<.01. ^bCO, Cornell; D, Drake; IS, Iowa State.

^CM, major donor; C, consecutive donor; NC, non-consecutive donor; ND, non-donor.

^dE1, Pre-1930; E2, 1930-39; E3, 1940-49; E4, 1950-59; E5, 1960-68.

also noted. Drake differed significantly from both Cornell and Iowa State on whether gifts should be used for student aid. Iowa State agreed with the item; Cornell and Drake indicated weak agreement. However, these significant differences among colleges must be interpreted in the light of the



Figure 6. Interaction of colleges with eras on item 58



Figure 7. Interaction of colleges with eras on item 62

college by era interaction. A significant difference among eras for Cornell and a highly significant difference among eras for Drake were also found. It was of interest to note that the Pre-1930 and the 1950-59 eras from Drake differed significantly.

Item 63 had highly significant differences among both colleges and eras of graduation. Cornell differed significantly from both Drake and Iowa State. All colleges showed weak agreement that gifts should be used for endowments. The Pre-1930 era differed significantly from both the 1950-59 and the 1960-68 eras. Weak agreement was expressed by the Pre-1930, the 1930-39, and the 1940-49 eras; the 1950-59 and the 1960-68 eras showed uncertainty in their mean responses.

Group 8: items 64 through 66 Statements in this group were:

Monies contributed to a college or university should be invested in:

64. Stocks

65. Bonds

66. Real Estate

Table 83 gives the means and standard deviations for donors on items 64 through 66. Weak agreement was shown by donors on all three items. A

Table	83	•	Means	and	standard	deviations	of	responses	on	items	6 4	through
			66 for	dor:	nors							

	Do	nors	
Item no.	Mean	S.D.	
64	6.18	2.11	
65	6.81	1.91	
66	6.14	2.21	

high percentage of uncertain responses was noted for each of the three items.

When mean responses for donors were ranked from high to low, the results were:

- 1. Bonds
- 2. Stock
- 3. Real estate

It would appear that donors prefer monies contributed to a college be invested in bonds. However, no tests of significance were performed on differences in mean responses across items.

<u>Intercorrelations and reliability coefficient</u> Correlation coefficients for item 64 through 66 are presented in Table 84. A correlation coefficient of .08 was significantly different from zero at the .05 level with 628 degrees of freedom. The coefficient of reliability was .53.

<u>Analyses of variance</u> Table 85 presents the summary of significant differences for main effects on items in group 8. One significant difference and one highly significant difference were found.

Table 84. Intercorrelations for items related to what monies should be invested in

q <u>aa</u> gi utoo oo ay ahaa ahaa ahaa ahaa	Item no.	64	65	66
	64		<u>, , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , </u>	
	65	35		
	66	23	23	

ltem no.	No significant difference by college	Hypothesis No significant difference by donor	No significant difference by era	
64		HS**		
65	S*			
66				

Table 85. Summary of significant differences for main effects on items 64 through 66

*Significant at .05 level.

**Significant at .01 level.

Summary of overall mean scores and significantly different means between colleges, donor classifications, and eras of graduation are shown in Table 86. Two significant differences were noted between means.

Table 86. Summary of overall mean scores and significantly different means between colleges, donor classifications, and eras of graduation on items 64 through 66

Item no.	Overall mean scores	Significantly different means between colleges ^a	Significantly different means between donors ^b	Significantly different means between eras ^C
64	6.04		M-ND	
65	6.81	D-IS		
66	6.19			

^aCO, Cornell; D, Drake; IS, Iowa State.

^bM, major donor; C, consecutive donor; NC, non-consecutive donor; ND, non-donor.

^cE1, Pre-1930; E2, 1930-39; E3, 1940-49; E4, 1950-59; E5, 1960-68.

Results of factorial analyses of variance on items 64 and 65 are shown in Tables 87 and 88, respectively.

Although a highly significant difference among donor groups was found on item 64, only major donors and non-donors differed significantly. Major donors and consecutive donors expressed weak agreement that monies con-

Table 87. Analysis of variance and significantly different means between colleges, donor classifications, and eras of graduation on item 64

Source of vari	ation	df		MS	F	,a
Colleges (A)		2		2.10	~	<1
Donors (B)		3		22.25	5.	14*
Eras (E)		4		4.64	1.	07
Interactions:						
АхВ		6		7.21	1.	67
АхЕ		8		3.05	<	<1
ВхЕ		12		3.73	<	<1
АхВхЕ		23		4.90	1.	.13
Error		571		4.33		
Significantly	different	means between	colleges:	b		
Significantly	different	means between	donors: ^c	M-ND		

Significantly different means between eras:

^aF(.05) 4,571 = 2.39 > 1.07 F(.05) 6,571 = 2.11 > 1.67 F(.05) 23,571 = 1.55 > 1.13 *F(.01) 3,571 = 3.82 < 5.14, p<.01. ^bCO, Cornell; D, Drake; IS, lowa State.

^CM, major donor; C, consecutive donor; NC, non-consecutive donor; ND, non-donor.

^dE1, Pre-1930; E2, 1930-39; E3, 1940-49; E4, 1950-59; E5, 1960-68.

Source of vari	ation	df		MS	F^{a}
Colleges (A)		2		14.01	4.10*
Donors (B)		3		1.62	<1
Eras (E)		4		2.75	<1
Interactions:					
АхВ		6		4.43	1.30
A x E		8		2.79	<1
ВхЕ		12		5.29	1.55
АхВхЕ		23		2.63	<1
Error		571		3.42	
Significantly	different	means between	colleges: ^b	D-IS	
Significantly	different	means between	donors: c		
Significantly	different	means between	eras: ^d		

Table 88. Analysis of variance and significantly different means between colleges, donor classifications, and eras of graduation on item 65

^aF(.05) 6,571 = 2.11 > 1.30 F(.05) 12,571 = 1.77 > 1.55. *F(.05) 2,571 = 3.01 < 4.10, p<.05. ^bCO, Cornell; D, Drake; IS, Iowa State.

^CM, major donor; C, consecutive donor; NC, non-consecutive donor; ND, non-donor.

^dE1, Pre-1930; E2, 1930-39; E3, 1940-49; E4, 1950-59; E5, 1960-68.

tributed to a college should be invested in stocks; non-consecutive donors and non-donors expressed uncertainty with the statement.

A significant difference among colleges was noted on item 65. Drake differed significantly from Iowa State. Drake agreed that monies contributed to a college should be invested in bonds, while Cornell and Iowa State were in weak agreement. <u>Group 9</u>: <u>items 67 through 71</u> Included in group 9 were the following statements:

Alumni prefer the following forms of giving:

67. Life Insurances

68. Cash Contributions

69. Deferred Gifts (trusts, wills)

Alumni are led by tax incentives to:

70. Increase the size of gifts already planned

71. Bequeath to colleges and universities

Means and standard deviations for donors on items 67 through 71 are presented in Table 89. Donors agreed that alumni prefer cash contributions as a form of giving. Weak agreement was shown for deferred gifts as a preferred form of giving. Donors also expressed weak agreement that alumni are led by tax incentives to increase the size of gifts already planned and to bequeath to colleges.

	Dor	nors	
Item no.	Mean	<u> </u>	
67	4.81	1.85	
68	7.59	1.60	
69	6.39	1.85	
70	6.67	1.93	
71	6.72	1.86	

Table 89. Means and standard deviations of responses on items 67 through 71 for donors

Intercorrelations and reliability coefficient Pearson product moment correlation coefficients for group 9 are presented in Table 90. A correlation coefficient of .08 was significantly different from zero at the .05 level with 628 degrees of freedom. The coefficient of reliability for group 9 was .60.

71
<u></u>

Table 90. Intercorrelations for items related to preferred forms of giving and tax incentives

<u>Analyses of variance</u> Summary of significant differences for main effects on items 67 through 71 are presented in Table 91. Five significant or highly differences were found.

Table 92 shows the summary of overall mean scores and significantly different means between colleges, donor classifications, and eras of graduation. Six significant differences between donor classifications and one significant difference between eras of graduation were noted.

Tables 93, 94, 95, and 96 present the results of factorial analyses of variance on items 67, 68, 70, and 71, respectively.

••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••	Hypothesis					
Item no.	No significant difference by college	No significant difference by donor	No significant difference by era			
67	,		S*			
68		HS**				
69						
70		HS**	HS**			
71		HS**				

Table 91. Summary of significant differences for main effects on items 67 through 71

*Significant at .05 level.

**Significant at .01 level.

Table 92. Summary of overall mean scores and significantly different means between colleges, donor classifications, and eras of graduation on items 67 through 71

Item no.	Overall mean scores	Significantly different means between colleges	Significantly different means between donors ^b	Significantly different means between eras
67	4.80			
68	7.49		C-ND	
69	6.40			
70	6.57		M-NC M-ND	E1-E4
71	6.62		M-C M-NC M-ND	

^aCO, Cornell; D, Drake; IS, Iowa State.

^bM, major donor; C, consecutive donor; NC, non-consecutive donor; ND, non-donor.

^cE1, Pre-1930; E2, 1930-39; E3, 1940-49; E4, 1950-59; E5, 1960-68.

Source of vari	ation	df		MS	F ^a
Colleges (A)		2	<u> </u>	2.01	<1
Donors (B)		3		0.79	<1
Eras (E)		4		10.32	3.10*
Interactions: A x B A x E		6 8		1.17	<1 1.23
BXE		12		3.20	<1
Error		571		3.33	1.00
Significantly	different me	ans between	colleges: ^b		
Significantly	different me	ans between	donors: ^C		
Significantly	different me	ans between	eras: ^d		

Table 93. Analysis of variance and significantly different means between colleges, donor classifications, and eras of graduation on item 67

^aF(.05) 8,571 = 1.96 > 1.23 F(.05) 23,571 = 1.55 > 1.00. *F(.05) 4,571 = 2.39 < 3.10, p<.05. ^bCO, Cornell; D, Drake; IS, Iowa State.

^CM, major donor; C, consecutive donor; NC, non-consecutive donor; ND, non-donor.

^dE1, Pre-1930; E2, 1930-39; E3, 1940-49; E4, 1950-59; E5, 1960-68.

Although no significant differences were found between eras of graduation on item 67, a significant difference was noted among eras in response to alumni preferring life insurances as a form of giving. All eras expressed uncertainty in their mean responses.

Item 68 showed a highly significant difference among donor classifications. Consecutive donors had a significantly different mean response from

Source of vari	ation	df		MS	F	a
Colleges (A)	<u>87</u>	2		3.06	1.	13
Donors (B)		3		11.90	4.	39*
Eras (E)		4		0.76	<	(1
Interactions:						
АхВ		6		2.47	<	<1
AxE		8		2.34	<	<1
ВхЕ		12		1.31	<	<1
АхВхЕ		23		2.05	<	<1
Error		571		2.71		
Significantly	different	means between	colleges:	Ь		
Significantly	different	means between	donors: ^c	C-ND		
Significantly	different	means between	eras: ^d			

Table 94. Analysis of variance and significantly different means between colleges, donor classifications, and eras of graduation on item 68

^aF(.05) 2,571 = 3.01 > 1.13.

*F(.01) 3,571 = 3.82 < 4.39, p<.01.

^bCO, Cornell; D, Drake; IS, Iowa State.

^CM, major donor, C, consecutive donor; NC, non-consecutive donor; ND, non-donor.

^dE1, Pre-1930; E2, 1930-39; E3, 1940-49; E4, 1950-59; E5, 1960-68.

non-donors. Yet, all donor groups agreed that alumni prefer cash contributions as a form of giving.

Highly significant differences among both donor groups and eras were noted on item 70. Major donors and non-donors differed significantly. Major donors agreed that "Alumni are led by tax incentives to increase the size of gifts already planned." Weak agreement with the item was indicated by all other donor classifications. The order of agreement by donor clas-

Source of vari	ation	df		MS	F ^a
Colleges (A)		2		1.38	<1
Donors (B)		Ĵ		25.26	7.22*
Eras (E)		4		12.37	3.47**
Interactions:					
АхВ		6		1.33	<1
АхЕ		8		2.04	<1
ВхЕ		12		0.16	<1
АхВхЕ		23		4.35	1.22
Error		571		3.56	
Significantly	different ma	eans between	colleges:	Ь	
Significantly	differen t mo	eans between	donors: c	M-NC M-ND	
Significantly	different m	eans between	eras: ^d E	1-E4	

Table 95. Analysis of variance and significantly different means between colleges, donor classifications, and eras of graduation on item 70

^aF(.05) 23,571 = 1.55 > 1.22. *F(.01) 3,571 = 3.82 < 7.22, p<.01. **F(.01) 4,571 = 3.35 < 3.47, p<.01. ^bCO, Cornell; D, Drake; IS, Iowa State.

^CM, major donor; C, consecutive donor; NC, non-consecutive donor; ND, non-donor.

^dE1, Pre-1930; E2, 1930-39; E3, 1940-49; E4, 1950-59; E5, 1960-68.

sification was major, consecutive, non-consecutive, and non-donors. The Pre-1930 and the 1950-59 eras differed significantly. Yet, all eras indicated weak agreement with the statement.

Item 71 had a highly significant difference among donor classifications. Major donors differed significantly from all other donor groups.

Source of variation	df	MS	F ^a
Colleges (A)	2	3.52	1.04
Donors (B)	3	26.13	7.69*
Eras (E)	4	5.63	1.66
Interactions:			
АхВ	6	3.89	1.14
АхЕ	8	0.92	<1
ВхЕ	12	1.38	<1
АхВхЕ	23	2.17	<1
Error	571	3.40	
Significantly different mean	ns between colle	eges: ^b	
Significantly different mean	ns between dono	rs: ^C M-C	
6		M-NC	
		M-ND	
		d	
Significantly different mean	ns between eras	:	

Table 96. Analysis of variance and significantly different means between colleges, donor classifications, and eras of graduation on item 71

F(.05) 4,571 = 2.39 > 1.66
F(.05) 6,571 = 2.11 > 1.14.
*F(.01) 3,571 = 3.82 < 7.69, p<.01.
bCO, Cornell; D, Drake; IS, Iowa State.</pre>

^CM, major donor; C, consecutive donor; NC, non-consecutive donor ND, non-donor.

^dE1, Pre-1930; E2, 1930-39; E3, 1940-49; E4, 1950-59; E5, 1960-68.

Major donors agreed that alumni are led by tax incentives to bequeath to colleges; weak agreement with the item was expressed by all other donor groups.

Group 10: items 72 through 78 Group 10 included the following items:

The fund raising process should involve the following in identifying potential sources of gifts:

- 72. Students
- 73. Faculty
- 74. Alumni Office
- 75. President
- 76. Parents of Students
- 77. Board of Trustees (Regents)
- 78. Alumni and Friends of the Institution

Means and standard deviations for donors on items 72 through 78 are given in Table 97. Donors agree that the fund raising process should involve the following in identifying potential sources of gifts: alumni and friends of the college, the alumni office, the Board of Trustees (Regents), and the president. Weak agreement that faculty and parents of students be involved in identifying potential sources of gifts in the fund raising process was indicated by donors. The mean responses on item 72, 5.39, indicated that donors were uncertain about the importance of involving students in the identification of potential sources of gifts in the fund raising process. This finding indicated a lack of agreement between the thinking of donors and the writings of experts in fund raising (30, 68, 91).

When the mean responses for donors were ranked from high to low, the rankings were:

- 1. Alumni and friends of the institution
- 2. Alumni of/fice
- 3. Board of Trustees (Regents)

149

	Donors		
Item no.	Mean	S.D.	
72	5.39	2.68	
73	6.12	2.38	
74	8.12	1.34	
75	7.68	1.92	
76	6.39	2.30	
77	7.95	1.65	
78	8.21	1.27	

Table 97. Means and standard deviations of responses on items 72 through 78 for donors

- 4. President
- 5. Parents of students
- 6. Faculty
- 7. Students

Alumni and friends of the college and the alumni office were ranked in the first two positions. The low rankings of the faculty and the students did not agree with the writings of Eldridge (30), Pollard (68), and Wireman (92). However, no tests of significance were performed on differences in mean responses across items.

Intercorrelations and reliability coefficient Pearson product moment correlation coefficients for items in group 10 are shown in Table 98. A correlation coefficient of .08 was significantly different from zero at the .05 level with 628 degrees of freedom. The coefficient of reliability was .80.

Item no.	72	73	74	75	76	77	78
72							
73	74						
74	21	24					
75	29	38	45				
76	57	51	31	33			
77	15	20	36	51	29		
78	16	21	61	28	38	42	

Table 98. Intercorrelations for items related to fund raising process and identification of potential donors

<u>Analyses of variance</u> Summary of significant differences for main effects on items 72 through 78 is given in Table 99. Three significant differences and one highly significant difference were found.

Table 99. Summary of significant differences for main effects on items 72 through 78

		Hypothesis	
	NO Significant difference	No significant	No significant
Item no.	by college	by donor	by era
72			
73			
74			
75			
76			S*
77	S*	HS**	
78		S*	

*Significant at .05 level.

**Significant at .01 level.

Table 100 presents the summary of overall mean scores and significantly different means between colleges, donor classifications, and eras of graduation. One significant difference between colleges and two significant differences between donor classifications were noted.

Table 100. Summary of overall mean scores and significantly different means between colleges, donor classifications, and eras of graduation on items 72 through 78

Item no.	Overall mean scores	Significantly different means between colleges ^a	Significantly different means between donors ^b	Significantly different means between eras
72	5.43			
73	6.12			
74	8.07			
75	7.65			
76	6.37			
77	7.95	CO-IS	M-C	
78	8.15		M-ND	

^aCO, Cornell; D, Drake; IS, Iowa State.

^bM, major donor; C, consecutive donor; NC, non-consecutive donor; ND, non-donor.

^cE1, Pre-1930; E2, 1930-39; E3, 1940-49; E4, 1950-59; E5, 1960-68.

Tables 101, 102, and 103 present the results of factorial analyses of variance on items 76, 77, and 78, respectively.

Although a significant difference among eras was noted on item 76, no significant differences were found between eras. Major, consecutive, and non-consecutive donors weakly agreed that parents of students should be involved in identifying potential sources of gifts in the fund raising

Source of vari	ation		df		MS		F ^a
Colleges (A)			2		0.00		<1
Donors (B)			3		9.37		1.75
Eras (E)			4		14.45	:	2.89*
Interactions:							
АхВ			6		5.89		1.10
ΑxΕ			8		2.50		<1
ВхЕ			12		5.34		1.00
АхвхЕ			23		4.92		<1
Error			571		5.34		
Significantly	different	means	between	colleges: ^b			
Significantly	different	means	between	donors: ^c			
Significantly	different	means	between	eras: ^d			

Table 101. Analysis of variance and significantly different means between colleges, donor classifications, and eras of graduation on item 76

^aF(.05) 3,571 = 2.62 > 1.75 F(.05) 6,571 = 2.11 > 1.10 F(.05) 12,571 = 1.77 > 1.00. *F(.05) 4,571 = 2.39 < 2.89, p<.05. ^bCO, Cornell; D, Drake; IS, Iowa State.

^CM, major donor; C, consecutive donor; NC, non-consecutive donor; ND, non-donor.

^dE1, Pre-1930; E2, 1930-39; E3, 1940-49; E4, 1950-59; E5, 1960-68.

process. Non-donors expressed uncertainty. High standard deviations indicated wide variation in responses.

A significant difference among colleges and a highly significant difference among donor groups were found on item 77. Although all colleges agreed that the Board of Trustees (Regents) should be involved in identifying potential sources of gifts in the fund raising process, Cornell and

Source of var:	iation	df		MS	F	a
Colleges (A)		2		9.92	3.6	2*
Donors (B)		3		10.61	3.8	17**
Eras (E)		4		5.92	2.1	.6
Interactions:						
АхВ		6		5.47	2.0	0
A x E		8		1.37	<1	
ВхЕ		12		2.05	<1	
АхвхЕ		23		3.64	1.3	33
Error		571		2.74		
Significantly	different	means between	colleges: ^b	CO-IS		
Significantly	different	means between	donors: C M	1-C		
Significantly	different	means between	eras: ^d			

Table 102. Analysis of variance and significantly different means between colleges, donor classifications, and eras of graduation on item 77

^aF(.05) 4,571 = 2.39 > 2.16 F(.05) 6,571 = 2.11 > 2.00 F(.05) 23,571 = 1.55 > 1.33. *F(.05) 2,571 = 3.01 < 3.62, p<.05. **F(.01) 3,571 = 3.82 < 3.87, p<.01. ^bCO, Cornell; D, Drake; IS, Iowa State.

^CM, major donor; C, consecutive donor; NC, non-consecutive donor; ND, non-donor.

^dE1, Pre-1930; E2, 1930-39; E3, 1940-49; E4, 1950-59; E5, 1960-68.

Iowa State differed significantly in mean responses. Mean responses for Cornell, Drake, and Iowa State were 8.26, 8.02, and 8.16, respectively. Major and consecutive donors differed significantly. However, no significant differences were found between donor groups.

Source of vari	lation	df		MS		F ^a
Colleges (A)		2	- , <u>-</u>	2.97		1.58
Donors (B)		3		6.17		3.28*
Eras (E)		4		2.84	•	1.51
Interactions:						
АхВ		6		0.55		<1
АхЕ		8		1.84		<1
ВхЕ		12		0.28		<1
АхвхЕ		23		2.74		1.46
Error		571		1.88		
Significantly	different means	between	colleges:	o		
Significantly	different means	between	donors: c	M-ND		
Significantly	different means	between	eras: ^d		1	

Table 103. Analysis of variance and significantly different means between colleges, donor classifications, and eras of graduation on item 78

^aF(.05) 2,571 = 3.01 > 1.58 F(.05) 4,571 = 2.39 > 1.51 F(.05) 23,571 = 1.55 > 1.46. *F(.05) 3,571 = 2.62 < 3.28, p<.05. ^bCO, Cornell; D, Droke; IS, Iowa State.

^CM, major donor; C, consecutive donor; NC, non-consecutive donor; ND, non-donor.

^dE1, Pre-1930; E2, 1930-39; E3, 1940-49; E4, 1950-59; E5, 1960-68.

On item 78, a significant difference among donor classifications was noted. Major donors and non-donors differed significantly that alumni and friends of the colleges should be involved in identifying potential sources of gifts in the fund raising process. However, all donor classifications agreed with the statement. Group 11: items 80 through 86 Statements included in group 11 were:

Alumni are discouraged from giving to their Alma Mater because of:

80. Problematic Business Conditions

81. An Uncertain Stock Market

- 82. Contributions to the Church and Other Charitable Organizations
- 83. Campus Unrest
- 84. Lack of Interest
- 85. Lack of Finances
- 86. Lack of Contact

Means and standard deviations for donors on items 80 through 86 are given in Table 104. Lack of finances, campus unrest, lack of interest, and problematic business conditions were weakly agreed on by donors as reasons why alumni are discouraged from giving to their <u>alma mater</u>. Donors expressed uncertainty in mean responses to lack of contact, contributions to the church and other charitable organizations, and an uncertain stock market as reasons why alumni are discouraged from giving to their <u>alma</u> <u>mater</u>.

	Don		
Item no.	Mean	S.D.	
80	6.25	2.12	
81	5.45	2.21	
82	5.50	2.38	
83	6.79	2.33	
84	6.67	2.14	
85	6.96	2.05	
86	5.99	2.54	

Table 104. Means and standard deviations of responses on items 80 through 86 for donors

When the mean responses for donors were ranked from high to low, the rankings were:

- 1. Lack of finances
- 2. Campus unrest
- 3. Lack of interest
- 4. Problematic business conditions
- 5. Lack of contact
- 6. Contributions to the church and other charitable organizations
- 7. An uncertain stock market

Ranking at the top were lack of finances and campus unrest. Although not directly comparable, the high ranking for campus unrest does not concur with the findings of Spaeth and Greeley (83) which investigated the attitudes of alumni of the sixties who were not necessarily donors. However, in the present study no significant differences by donor classification or era of graduation were found on item 83, campus unrest. Yet, no tests of significance were performed on differences in mean responses across items.

Intercorrelations and reliability coefficient Pearson product moment correlation coefficients for items in group 11 are presented in Table 105. A correlation coefficient of .08 was significantly different from zero at the .05 level with 628 degrees of freedom. The coefficient of reliability was .57.

<u>Analyses of variance</u> Summary of significant differences for main effects on items in group 11 is presented in Table 106. Five significant differences were noted.

Table 107 gives the summary of overall mean scores and significantly different means between colleges, donor classifications, and eras of gradu-

Item no.	80	81	82	83	84	85	86
80		<u></u>					
81	62						
82	28	28					
83	14	15	07				
84	04	06	-03	18			
85	29	12	15	06	13		
86	03	12	06	10	33	11	

Table 105.	Intercorrelations	for	items	related	to	why	alumni	are	discour-
	aged from giving								

Table 106. Summary of significant differences for main effects on items 80 through 86

ltem no.	Hypothesis					
	No significant difference by college	No significant difference by donor	No significant difference by era			
80			******			
81			S*			
82		S*	S*			
83	•					
84		HS**				
85						
86		HS**				

*Significant at .05 level.

**Significant at .01 level.

ation. Five significant differences between colleges and one significant difference between eras were found.

Results of factorial analyses of variance on items 81, 82, 84, and 86 are shown in Tables 108, 109, 110, and 111, respectively.

Item no.	Overall mean scores	Significantly different means between colleges	Significantly different means between donors ^b	Significantly different means between eras
80	6.27			
81	5.40			
82	5.65		M-ND	E1-E5
83	6.80			
84	6.64		M-NC	
85	7.07			
86	5.94		M-C	
			M-NC	
			M-ND	

Table 107. Summary of overall mean scores and significantly different means between colleges, donor classifications, and eras of graduation on items 80 through 86

^aCO, Cornell; D, Drake; IS, Iowa State.

^bM, major donor; C, consecutive donor; NC, non-consecutive donor; ND, non-donor.

^CE1, Pre-1930; E2, 1930-39; E3, 1940-49; E4, 1950-59; E5, 1960-68.

Although a significant difference among eras was noted on item 81, no significant differences between eras were found. All eras expressed uncertainty in mean responses about whether "Alumni are discouraged from giving to their <u>alma mater</u> because of an uncertain stock market." High standard deviations indicated wide variation in responses.

Significant differences among both donor groups and eras were noted on item 82. Major donors differed significantly from non-donors in mean responses. Only non-donors agreed weakly that "Alumni are discouraged from giving to their <u>alma mater</u> because of contributions to the church and other charitable organizations." All other donor groups expressed uncertainty. The Pre-1930 and the 1960-68 eras differed significantly. Only the Pre-
Source of variation	df	MS	F ^a
Colleges (A)	2	11.81	2.43
Donors (B)	3	5.53	1.16
Eras (E)	4	13.91	2.92*
Interactions:			
A x B	6	4.94	1.04
AxE	8	4.38	<1
ВхЕ	12	2.65	<1
AxBxE	23	5.13	1.08
Error	571	4.76	
Significantly different	means between c	olleges: ^b	
Significantly different	me ans between d	onors: C	
Significantly different	means between e	ras: ^d	

Table 108. Analysis of variance and significantly different means between colleges, donor classifications, and eras of graduation on item 81

F(.05) 3,571 = 2.62 > 1.16
F(.05) 6,571 = 2.11 > 1.04
F(.05) 23,571 = 1.55 > 1.08.
*F(.05) 4,571 = 2.39 < 2.92, p<.05.
^bCO, Cornell; D, Drake; IS, Iowa State.

^CM, major donor; C, consecutive donor; NC, non-consecutive donor; ND, non-donor.

^dE1, Pre-1930; E2, 1930-39; E3, 1940-49; E4, 1950-59; E5, 1960-68.

1930 era expressed weak agreement with the item; all other eras indicated uncertainty in their mean responses. High standard deviations were noted for all donor groups and all eras.

Highly significant differences among donor groups were found on items 84 and 86. Major donors differed significantly from non-consecutive

Source of vari	ation	df	MS		F ^a	
Colleges (A)	<u>, konser - re sell næse ny - rills birder se</u>	2	4.3	39 -	 <1	
Donors (B)		3	19.5	52 3	.64*	
Eras (E)		4	15.2	21 2	. 83**	
Interactions:						
АхВ		6	0.9	96 ·	<1	
АхЕ		8	3.7	79	<1	
ВхЕ		12	5.8	39 1	.10	
АхвхЕ		23	6.1	1 1	.14	
Error		571	5.3	37		
Significantly	different means	s between	colleges: ^b			
Significantly	different means	s between	donors: ^C M-ND			
Significantly	different means	s between	eras: ^d E1-E5			

Table 109. Analysis of variance and significantly different means between colleges, donor classifications, and eras of graduation on item 82

^aF(.05) 12,571 = 1.77 > 1.10 F(.05) 23,571 = 1.55 > 1.14. *F(.05) 3,571 = 2.62 < 3.64, p<.05. **F(.05) 4,571 = 2.39 < 2.83, p<.05. ^bCO, Cornell; D, Drake; IS, Iowa State.

^CM, major donor; C, consecutive donor; NC, non-consecutive donor; ND, non-donor.

^dE1, Pre-1930; E2, 1930-39; E3, 1940-49; E4, 1950-59; E5, 1960-68.

donors to lack of interest being a reason why alumni are discouraged from giving to their <u>alma mater</u>, item 84. Agreement with the item was expressed by major donors while the other donor classifications showed weak agreement.

Source of variation	df	MS	F ^a
Colleges (A)	2	5.17	1.16
Donors (B)	3	23,36	5.25*
Eras (E)	4	6.94	1.56
Interactions:			
АхВ	6	2.24	<1
АхЕ	8	10.91	2.45**
ВхЕ	12	7.74	1.74
АхВхЕ	23	4.65	1.04
Error	571	4.45	
Significantly different m Significantly different m Significantly different m	eans between col eans between don eans between era	leges: ^b ors: ^C M-NC s: ^d	
${}^{a}F(.05) 2,571 = 3.01$ F(.05) 4,571 = 2.39 F(.05) 12,571 = 1.7 F(.05) 23,571 = 1.5	> 1.16 > 1.56 7 > 1.74 5 > 1.04 .		
*F(.01) 3,571 = 3.82	< 5.25, p<.01.		
**F(.05) 8,571 = 1.96	< 2.45, p<.05.		

Table 110. Analysis of variance and significantly different means between colleges, donor classifications, and eras of graduation on item 84

^bCO, Cornell; D, Drake; IS, Iowa State.

^CM, major donor; C, consecutive donor; NC, non-consecutive donor; ND, non-donor.

^dE1, Pre-1930; E2, 1930-39; E3, 1940-49; E4, 1950-59; E5, 1960-68.

Source of variation	df	MS	F ^a
Colleges (A)	2	3.25	<1
Donors (B)	3	73.59	12.27*
Eras (E)	4	7.07	1.18
Interactions:			
АхВ	6	7.86	1.31
AxE	8	12.49	2.08**
BxE	12	9.92	1.65
AxBxE	23	6.88	1.15
Error	571	6.00	
Significantly different	means between coll	eges: ^b	
Significantly different	means between dono	rs: M-C	
		M-ND	
		11-1412	
Significantly different	means between eras	d:	
$a_{\rm F(.05)}$ 4,571 = 2.3	9 > 1.18		
F(.05) 6,571 = 2.1	1 > 1.31		
F(.05) 12,571 = 1.	77 > 1.65		
F(.05) 23,571 = 1.	55 > 1.15.		
*F(.01) 3.571 = 3.8	2 < 12.27, p<.01.		
- (, ,	- · · · · · · , [· · · - ·		
**F(.01) 8,571 = 1.9	6 < 2.08, p<.05.		
^b CO, Cornell; D, Dr	ake; IS, Iowa Stat	e.	
^C M, major donor; C,	consecutive donor	; NC, non-consecuti	ve donor;

Table 111. Analysis of variance and significantly different means between colleges, donor classifications, and eras of graduation on item 86

ND, non-donor.

^dE1, Pre-1930; E2, 1930-39; E3, 1940-49; E4, 1950-59; E5, 1960-68.

Major donors differed from all other donor groups that lack of contact was a reason why alumni are discouraged from giving to their <u>alma mater</u>, item 86. Major donors agreed with the item; all other donor groups indicated uncertainty. High standard deviations indicated wide variation in responses.

<u>Group 12</u>: <u>items 87 through 92</u> Items included in group 12 were: Alumni give to their <u>alma mater</u> because of:

87. Loyalty

88. Tax Considerations

89. An Altruistic Impulse

90. Confidence in its Strength

91. Past Accomplishments of Gifts

92. Belief in its Work

Means and standard deviations for donors on items in this group are given in Table 112. Donors agreed that loyalty and belief in the work of their <u>alma mater</u> were reasons why alumni give to their <u>alma mater</u>. These findings closely agree with the findings of Spaeth and Greeley (83) who limited their study to alumni of the sixties who were not necessarily donors.

Confidence in the strength of their <u>alma mater</u>, tax considerations, and past accomplishments of gifts were given weak agreement as reasons why alumni give to their <u>alma mater</u>. Donors expressed uncertainty that alumni give to their alma mater because of an altruistic impulse.

When mean responses for donors on items 87 through 92 were ranked from high to low, the rankings were:

	Dor	ors	
Item no.	Mean	S.D.	
87	8.09	1.37	<u></u>
88	6.44	2.01	
89	5.93	2.07	
90	6.75	1.87	
91	6.44	1.94	
92	8.06	1.31	

Table 112. Means and standard deviations of responses on items 87 through 92 for donors

- 1. Loyalty
- 2. Belief in its work
- 3. Confidence in its strength
- 4. Tax considerations
- 5. Past accomplishments of gifts
- 6. An altruistic impulse

Loyalty and belief in the work of the college were ranked in the first two positions. However, no tests of significance were performed on differences in mean responses across items.

Intercorrelations and reliability coefficient Pearson product moment correlation coefficients for items in group 12 are shown in Table 113. A correlation coefficient of .08 was significantly different from zero at the .05 level with 628 degrees of freedom. The coefficient of reliability for this group was .64.

ltem no.	87	88	89	90	91	92
87						
88	13					
89	16	14				
90	26	06	24			
91	23	10	21	46		
92	43	01	23	42	34	

Table 113. Intercorrelations for items related to why alumni give

<u>Analyses of variance</u> Summary of significant differences for main effects on items 87 through 92 is given in Table 114. Eleven significant or highly significant differences were found.

	Hypothesis							
Item no.	No significant difference by college	No significant difference by donor	No significant difference by era					
87		S*	HS**					
88		HS**						
89		HS**	S*					
90	HS**		HS**					
91		HS**	HS**					
92		HS**	HS**					

Table 114. Summary of significant differences for main effects on items 87 through 92

*Significant at .05 level.
**Significant at .01 level.

Table 1	15 pr	esents	the	summary	of	overall	mean	scores	and	signi	fi-	
cantly diffe	rent	means	betwe	en colle	eges	, donor	class	sificat	ions,	, and	eras	of
graduation.	Ten	signif	icant	: differ	ence	s betwee	en mea	ans wer	e not	ed.		

Table 115.	Summary of overall mean scores and significantly different
	means between colleges, donor classifications, and eras of
	graduation on items 87 through 92

Item no.	Overall mean scores	Significantly different means between colleges ^a	Significantly different means between donors ^b	Significantly different means between eras
87	8.02		M-ND	E1-E5
88	6.51			
89	5.77		C-ND	E1-E3
90	6.69	CO-D		E1-E3
91	6.34		C-ND	E1-E5
92	7.97		C-ND	E1-E5

^aCO, Cornell; D, Drake; IS, Iowa State.

^bM, major donor; C, consecutive donor; NC, non-consecutive donor; ND, non-donor.

^cE1, Pre-1930; E2, 1930-39; E3, 1940-49; E4, 1950-59; E5, 1960-68.

Results of factorial analyses of variance on items 87, 88, 89, 90, 91, and 92 are shown in Tables 116, 117, 118, 119, 120, and 121, respectively.

A significant difference among donor groups and a highly significant difference among eras were noted on item 87. Major donors differed significantly from non-donors, and the Pre-1930 era differed significantly from

	<u></u>						
Source of vari	ation	df		MS		F	
Colleges (A)		2		1.76	[>		
Donors (B)		3		7.32	3.6	j4*	
Eras (E)		4		7.43	3.7	/0**	
Interactions:							
АхВ		6		1.61	<	L	
АхЕ		8		2.02	1.0	00	
ВхЕ		12		1.53	<	L	
АхВхЕ		23		1.23	<	L	
Error		571		2.01			
Significantly	different me	ans between	colleges:	b			
Significantly	different me	ans between	donors: ^c	M-ND			
Significantly	different me	ans between	eras: ^d E	1-E5			

Table 116. Analysis of variance and significantly different means between colleges, donor classifications, and eras of graduation on item 87

^aF(.05) 8,571 = 1.96 > 1.00. *F(.05) 3,571 = 2.62 < 3.64, p<.05. **F(.01) 4,571 = 3.35 < 3.70, p<.05. ^bCO. Cornell; D, Drake; IS, Iowa State.

^CM, major donor; C, consecutive donor; NC, non-consecutive donor; ND, non-donor.

^dE1, Pre-1930; E2, 1930-39; E3, 1940-49; E4, 1950-59; E5, 1960-68.

the 1960-68 era. However, all donor groups and all eras agreed that loyalty was a reason why alumni give to their <u>alma</u> <u>mater</u>.

Although no significant differences were found between donor groups on item 88, a highly significant difference among donor groups was found. All donor groups weakly agreed that "Alumni give to their <u>alma mater</u> because of tax considerations."

Source of vari	iation		df		MS	F
Colleges (A)			2		2.41	 <1
Donors (B)			3		16.01	4.06*
Eras (E)			4		0.87	<1
Interactions: A x B A x E B x E A x B x E Error			6 8 12 23 571		2.79 2.32 3.47 2.09 3.94	<1 <1 <1 <1
Significantly	different	means l	between	colleges: ^a		
Significantly	different	means l	between	donors: ^b		
Significantly	different	means 1	between	eras:		

Table 117. Analysis of variance and significantly different means between colleges, donor classifications, and eras of graduation on item 88

F(.01) 3,571 = 3.82 < 4.06, p<.01.

^aCO, Cornell; D, Drake; IS, Iowa State.

^bM, major donor; C, consecutive donor; NC, non-consecutive donor; ND, non-donor.

^CE1, Pre-1930; E2, 1930-39; E3, 1940-49; E4, 1950-59; E5, 1960-68.

A highly significant difference among donor groups and a significant difference among eras were found on item 89. However, these significant differences were not interpretable without consideration of the highly significant interaction of donor classsifications with eras (Figure 8). Consecutive donors and non-donors differed significantly on whether alumni give to their <u>alma mater</u> because of an altruistic impulse. Consecutive donors were in weak agreement with the statement; all other donor groups indicated uncertainty. The Pre-1930 and the 1940-49 eras differed signifi-

Source of variation		df	MS	F ^a	
Colleges (A)		2	8.75	2.03	
Donors (B)		3	21.33	4.94*	
Eras (E)		4	13.90	3.22**	
Interactions:					
АхВ		6	6.59	1.53	
АхЕ		8	4.70	1.09	
ВхЕ		12	10.43	2.41***	
AxBxE		23	1.25	<1	
Error		571	4.32		
Significantly	different	means between	colleges: ^b		
Significantly	different	means between	donors: C-ND		
Significantly	different	means between	eras: ^d E1-E3		

Table 118. Analysis of variance and significantly different means between colleges, donor classifications, and eras of graduation on item 89

 a F(.05) 2,571 = 3.01 > 2.03 F(.05) 6,571 = 2.11 > 1.53 F(.05) 8,571 = 1.96 > 1.09. F(.01) 3,571 = 3.82 < 4.94, p<.01. **F(.05) 4,571 = 2.39 < 3.22, p<.05. ***F(.01) 12,571 = 2.22 < 2.41, p<.01.

^bCO, Cornell; D, Drake; IS, Iowa State.

^cM, major donor; C, consecutive donor; NC, non-consecutive donor; ND, non-donor.

^dE1, Pre-1930; E2, 1930-39; E3, 1940-49; E4, 1950-59; E5, 1960-68.

Source of variation		df	MS			F ^a	
Colleges (A)		2	2	20.18	5.	.42**	
Donors (B)		3		7.28	1	. 96	
Eras (E)		4]	L3.05	3	.51**	
Interactions:							
АхВ		6		1.59	<	<1	
ΑxΕ		8		4.69	1	. 26	
ВхЕ		12		5.33	1	.43	
АхВхЕ		23		1.79	<	<1	
Error		571		3.72			
Significantly	different means	between	colleges: ^b	CO-D			
Significantly	different means	between	donors: ^c				
Significantly	different means	between	eras: ^d El	-E3			

Table 119. Analysis of variance and significantly different means between colleges, donor classifications, and eras of graduation on item 90

^aF(.05) 3,571 = 2.62 > 1.96 F(.05) 8,571 = 1.96 > 1.26 F(.05) 12,571 = 1.77 > 1.43. *F(.01) 2,571 = 4.65 < 5.42, p<.01. **F(.01) 4,571 = 3.35 < 3.51, p<.01. ^bCO, Cornell; D, Drake; IS, Iowa State.

^CM, major donor; C, consecutive donor; NC, non-consecutive donor; ND, non-donor.

^dE1, Pre-1930; E2, 1930-39; E3, 1940-49; E4, 1950-59; E5, 1960-68.

cantly. Only the Pre-1930 era showed weak agreement with the item; all other eras indicated uncertainty. It was of interest to note the high mean response for major donors from the 1960-68 era.

lighly significant differences among both colleges and eras were found on item 90. Cornell and Drake differed significantly on whether alumni

Source of vari	ation	df		MS	F	a,
Colleges (A)	. <u> </u>	2		4.72	1.2	.3
Donors (B)		3		18.83	4.8	9*
Eras (E)		4		13.15	3.4	2**
Interactions: A x B A x E B x E A x B x E Error		6 8 12 2 57		0.72 2.07 3.78 2.63 3.85	<1 <1 <1 <1	
Signíficantly	different means	s between	colleges: ^b	,		
Significantly	different means	s between	donors: c	C-ND		
Significantly	different means	s between	eras: ^d El	E5		

Table 120. Analysis of variance and significantly different means between colleges, donor classifications, and eras of graduation on item 91

^aF(.05) 2,571 = 3.01 > 1.23.

*F(.01) 3,571 = 3.82 < 4.89, p<.01.

**F(.01) 4,571 = 3.35 < 3.42, p<.01.

^bCO, Cornell; D, Drake; IS, Iowa State.

^CM, major donor; C, consecutive donor; NC, non-consecutive donor; ND, non-donor.

^dE1, Pre-1930; E2, 1930-39; E3, 1940-49; E4, 1950-59; E5, 1960-68.

give to their <u>alma mater</u> because of confidence in its strength. Cornell agreed with the item while Drake and Iowa State showed weak agreement. The Pre-1930 era differed significantly from the 1940-49 era. The Pre-1930 era agreed with the statement; all other eras indicated weak agreement.

Highly significant differences among both donor groups and eras were noted on item 91. Consecutive donors differed significantly from non-

Source of variation		df	MS	F ^a	
Colleges (A)		2	4.89	2.53	
Donors (B)		3	9.69	5.02*	
Eras (E)		4	7.96	,4.12**	
Interactions: A x B A x E B x E A x B x E Error		6 8 12 23 571	1.77 1.99 2.37 2.64 1.93	<1 1.03 1.23 1.37	
Significantly	different	means between	colleges: ^b		
Significantly	different	means between	donors: C-ND		
Significantly	different	means between	eras: ^d E1-E5	• •	

Table 121. Analysis of variance and significantly different means between colleges, donor classifications, and eras of graduation on item 92

^aF(.05) 2,571 = 3.01 > 2.53 F(.05) 8,571 = 1.96 > 1.03 F(.05) 12,571 = 1.77 > 1.23 F(.05) 23,571 = 1.55 > 1.37. *F(.01) 3,571 = 3.82 < 5.02, p<.01. **F(.01) 4,571 = 3.35 < 4.12, p<.01. ^bCO, Cornell; D, Drake; IS, Iowa State.

^CM, major donor; C, consecutive donor; NC, non-consecutive donor; ND, non-donor.

^dE1, Pre-1930; E2, 1930-39; E3, 1940-49; E4, 1950-59; E5, 1960-68.



Figure 8. Interaction of donor classifications with eras on item 89

donors. Non-donors expressed uncertainty that alumni give to their <u>alma</u> <u>mater</u> because of past accomplishments of gifts; all other donor groups indicated weak agreement with the item. The Pre-1930 and the 1960-68 eras differed significantly. The 1960-68 era expressed uncertainty; all other eras indicated weak agreement with the statement.

On item 92, "Alumni give to their <u>alma mater</u> because of belief in its work," highly significant differences among both donor groups and eras were found. Consecutive donors and non-donors differed significantly, as did the Pre-1930 and the 1960-68 eras. However, all donor classifications and all eras agreed with the statement.

SUMMARY AND CONCLUSIONS

Summary of the Purpose, Method, and Findings

The purpose of this study was an investigation of the attitudes of donors at selected institutions of higher education. The investigation was carried out in one phase using a survey instrument.

The study was limited to Cornell College, Drake University, and Iowa State University. A stratified systematic sample was obtained from the three selected institutions of higher education. Stratification was by donor classification: major, consecutive, non-consecutive, and non-donor, and by era of graduation: Pre-1930, 1930-39, 1940-49, 1950-59, and 1960-68.

Data needed to determine attitudes and test the hypotheses formulated were obtained from responses of 630 alumni to the survey instrument. Data were analyzed by various statistical techniques to determine attitudes of donors and to analyze attitudes of donors by type of college, donor classification, and era of graduation.

Relationships between variables were estimated by calculating Pearson product moment correlation coefficients and factor analyses of items 1 through 92. Factor analyses by the principal components technique and varimax rotation were performed on the items to determine common factors. Thirteen factors were extracted by the principal components technique and varimax rotation for items 1 through 42. Factor analyses of items 43 through 92 by the principal components technique and varimax rotation yielded 16 factors. Because of the large number of factors extracted, it was decided to analyze the data by groupings as indicated by Pearson prod-

176

uct moment correlation coefficients, factor analyses, and organization of the instrument.

The items were analyzed as 12 groups with eight statements analyzed separately from the groups. A coefficient of reliability was calculated for each of the groups except group 5 which included the items for which responses were recorded in percentages rather than a nine-point rating scale. Factor analyses by the principal components technique and varimax rotation on both items 1 through 8 and items 27 through 42 were performed to determine common factors for these two groups of items.

A factorial analysis of variance using three factors (colleges, donor classifications, and eras of graduation) was performed on each item to analyze the variation of the data by type of college, donor classification, and era of graduation, and the interaction effects of these factors. Scheffé's test was used for testing hypotheses regarding differences between means when compared on a paired basis.

Thirty-one significant differences and 59 highly significant differences were found for main effects. The numbers of significant differences found among colleges, donor classifications, and eras of graduation were 32, 28, and 30, respectively. The numbers of significant differences noted between colleges, donor classifications, and eras of graduation were 45, 36, and 35, respectively. Eight significant interaction effects which had a corresponding significant main effect were found.

The highest number of significant differences between colleges, 20, was between Cornell and Iowa State. Drake differed significantly from Iowa State on 14 statements, and Cornell and Drake differed significantly on 11 statements.

177

Major donors and non-donors differed significantly on 15 items. Major donors differed significantly from consecutive donors and non-consecutive donors on five and seven items, respectively. Only one significant difference was found between consecutive donors and non-consecutive donors. Consecutive donors and non-donors differed significantly on eight statements, and no significant differences were found between non-consecutive donors and non-donors.

The highest number of significant differences between eras was between the Pre-1930 and the 1960-68 eras. These two eras differed significantly on 14 statements. The Pre-1930 era did not differ from the 1930-39 era on any statements; the Pre-1930 era differed significantly from the 1940-49 and the 1950-59 eras on nine and seven items, respectively. The 1930-39 era differed significantly from the 1940-49 era on only one item and from the 1950-59 era on only one item. The 1940-49 and the 1960-68 eras differed significantly on two statements. No significant differences were noted between the 1940-49 era and either the 1950-59 or the 1960-68 eras. One significant difference was found between the 1950-59 and the 1960-68 eras.

Significant differences among colleges were noted on the following items which are numbered as in the instrument:

- 3. Colleges and universities should be responsive to students' goals.
- Colleges and universities should be centers of independent thinking.
- 8. Private colleges and universities should be retained in the American system of higher education.

- 9. Private colleges and universities should receive public assistance equivalent to public institutions of higher education.
- 10. Colleges and universities are not really underfinanced.
- 11. One of the major problems in financing higher education is the inefficient use of existing resources.

The following should be effective forces in shaping or changing the financial planning of colleges and universities:

- 15. Taxpayers
- 18. State Legislature
- 20. Agencies supplying funds for contract grants

21. Sources of large private grants or endowments

Increased Federal Funding for higher education should come from the following alternatives:

23. Aid to Students (scholarships, fellowships and loans)

- 28. The Alumni Office should provide opportunities for alumni reunions and area meetings.
- 32. The Alumni Office should have matching gift programs with business and industry.
- 33. The Alumni Office should ask for money the college or university needs.

The Alumni Office should provide information on what is happening regarding the following:

42. Travel Opportunities

43. In fund raising, a volunteer should have a better chance of getting money than a professional fund raiser. The fund raising process should be an important concern of each of the following:

46. Faculty

52. Professional Fund Raiser

Monies contributed to a college or university should be invested BY:

- ----

53. Committee of Trustees

55. Small Investment House

Alumni prefer their gifts to be used for:

58. Current Operations

59. Capital Needs

61. Organized Research

62. Student Aid

63. Endowments

Monies contributed to a college or university should be invested IN:

65. Bonds

The fund raising process should involve the following in identifying potential sources of gifts:

77. Board of Trustees (Regents)

Alumni give to their Alma Mater because of:

90. Confidence in its Strength

The present approximate percentages of total income to public higher education by sources are presented below:

93. State - 39%

97. Alumni and Friends - 4%

98. Foundations - 3%

99. Business Corporations - 2%

Significant differences among donor classifications were noted on the following items which are numbered as in the instrument:

The following should be effective forces in shaping or changing the financial planning of colleges and universities:

20. Agencies supply funds for contract grants

- 27. The Alumni Office should have consistent communication with its alumni.
- 28. The Alumni Office should provide opportunities for alumni reunions and area meetings.
- 32. The Alumni Office should have matching gift programs with business and industry.
- 33. The Alumni Office should ask for money the college or university needs.

The fund raising process should be an important concern of each of the following:

- 47. Alumni Office
- 48. President
- 49. Parents of Students

51. Alumni and Friends of the Institution

Monies contributed to a college or university should be invested BY:

55. Small Investment House

Alumni prefer their gifts to be used for:

- 57. Unrestricted Projects
- 58. Current Operations
- 61. Organized Research

Monies contributed to a college or university should be invested IN:

64. Stocks

Alumni prefer the following forms of giving:

68. Cash Contributions

Alumni are led by tax incentives to:

70. Increase the size of gifts already planned

71. Bequeath to colleges and universities

The fund raising process should involve the following in identifying potential sources of gifts:

77. Board of Trustees (Regents)

78. Alumni and Friends of the Institution

Alumni are discouraged from giving to their <u>Alma Mater</u> because of:

82. Contributions to the Church and Other Charitable Organizations

84. Lack of Interest

86. Lack of Contact

Alumni give to their Alma Mater because of:

87. Loyalty

88. Tax Considerations

89. An Altruistic Impulse

91. Past Accomplishments of Gifts

92. Belief in its Work

The present approximate percentages of total income to public higher education by sources are presented below:

97. Alumni and Friends - 4%

Significant differences among eras of graduation were noted on the following items which are numbered as in the instrument:

- 3. Colleges and universities should be responsive to students' goals. The following should be effective forces in shaping or changing the financial planning of colleges and universities:
 - 12. Students

٠

- 13. Faculty
- 17. Board of Trustees (Regents)
- 18. State Legislature
- 27. The Alumni Office should have consistent communication with its alumni.
- 28. The Alumni Office should provide opportunities for alumni reunions and area meetings.
- 30. The Alumni Office should propose gifts for specific purposes.
- 34. The Alumni Office should ask for money it thinks it can get. The Alumni Office should provide information on what is happening regarding the following:
 - 37. Cultural Events
 - 42. Travel Opportunities
- 43. In fund raising, a volunteer should have a better chance of getting money than a professional fund raiser.

44. Academic excellence should attract financial support to a college or university.

The fund raising process should be an important concern of each of the following:

49. Parents of Students

51. Alumni and Friends of the Institution

Monies contributed to a college or university should be invested BY:

53. Committee of Trustees

55. Small Investment House

Alumni prefer their gifts to be used for:

57. Unrestricted Projects

63. Endowments

Alumni prefer the following forms of giving:

67. Life Insurance

Alumni are led by tax incentives to:

70. Increase the size of gifts already planned

The fund raising process should involve the following in identifying potential sources of gifts:

76. Parents of Students

Alumni are discouraged from giving to their Alma Mater because of:

81. An Uncertain Stock Market

82. Contributions to the Church and Other Charitable Organizations Alumni give to their Alma Mater because of:

87. Loyalty

89. An Altruistic Impulse

90. Confidence in its Strength

91. Past Accomplishments of Gifts

92. Belief in its Work

The present approximate percentages of total income to public higher education by sources are presented below:

99. Business Corporations - 2%

Conclusions

Before drawing conclusions from this study, the following limitations should be considered:

- This study was specific to three colleges, four donor classifications, and five eras of graduation. Because of this limitation, conclusions cannot be generalized beyond the colleges, donor classifications, or eras of graduation involved in this particular study.
- Care must be observed in making inferences from the non-donor sample to the population of non-donors because of two factors:
 - a. The percentage of non-donors among the alumni sampled was much greater than the percentage of donors in the population. Yet the same number of non-donors was selected for the sample as for both the consecutive and non-consecutive donor classifications.
 - b. Of the four donor classifications, the percentage of non-donor respondents was the lowest.

Within these limitations, the following conclusions are presented. There was evidence that:

181ь

Donors believed clarity, internal consistency, and relevance to today today's society were important aspects of the philosophy and objectives of colleges. Specifically, donors believed that colleges should be responsive to students' goals, be centers of independent thinking, and should evolve with society. Substantial agreement among colleges, donor classifications, and eras of graduation existed on items pertaining to the philosophy and objectives of colleges.

Colleges should have consistent communication with their alumni. Older donors felt more strongly than other age groups about consistent communication. Donors were most interested in finding out information about the plans of the colleges and changes in the philosophy and objectives of the college. Interest was also shown in obtaining information on continuing education programs, curricular developments, cultural events, and athletics.

In regard to the functioning of the alumni office, donors believed that the alumni office should: (1) propose gifts for specific purposes, (2) show the uses to be made of gifts received, (3) inform alumni of the possible financial benefits to donors from giving, (4) have matching gift programs with business and industry, (5) ask for money the college needs, and (6) have an ongoing evaluation of its program. In general, non-donors did not feel as strongly as donors about the need for matching gift programs with business and industry, colleges asking for money they need, or colleges having consistent communication with their alumni.

Donors did not agree about the inefficient use of existing resources. Yet, experts (6, 19, 20, 37, 44, 79, 89) claimed that colleges do not make use of existing resources.

182

Donors believed that the president and the Board of Trustees (Regents) should be effective forces in shaping or changing the financial planning of colleges. Alumni and faculty were also considered to be important. According to donors, sources of large private grants or endowments, agencies supplying funds for contract grants, students, and the Federal Government should not be effective forces in shaping or changing the financial planning of colleges. Differences by type of college were noted as to the role of taxpayers, state legislature, and sources of large private grants or endowments.

Donors thought that increased federal funding for higher education should be in the form of aid to students. As to alternate forms increased federal funding for higher education should take, substantial agreement among colleges, donor classifications, and eras of graduation existed.

The Federal Government, alumni and friends of the college, foundations, and business corporations were the sources that donors thought should be contributing more to public higher education than they did in 1971. Donors believed that the state, students, and the local tax district should be contributing less to public higher education. The percentage contributed to public higher education by alumni and friends, suggested by major donors, was greater than that suggested by other donor groups.

All colleges agreed that alumni and friends of the college and foundations should be contributing more to public higher education than they did in 1971. However, the private colleges, Cornell and Drake, suggested significantly higher percentages than Iowa State, a public college.

Donors believed that alumni and friends of the college, the alumni office, the Board of Trustees (Regents), and the president should be

183

involved in identifying potential sources of gifts in the fund raising process. Donors also thought that the fund raising process should be an important concern of each individual or group named above. The Pre-1930 era was the only era to agree that the fund raising process should be an important concern of parents of students. All colleges, donor classifications, and eras of graduation were in substantial agreement on who should be involved in identifying potential sources of gifts in the fund raising process.

Donors did not think that faculty and students were important in the fund raising process. However, experts (30, 68, 92) emphasized that the involvement of faculty and students in the fund raising process and in the identification of potential donors was necessary.

Donors preferred their gifts to be used for specific projects. The specific projects preferred by donors were student aid, endowments, and capital needs. Colleges differed markedly as to the use of gifts received.

Cash contributions were the preferred form of giving. Most donors preferred that monies contributed to a college be invested in bonds. However, some tend to think that stocks and real estate would be satisfactory investments.

Donors believed that alumni were discouraged from giving to their <u>alma</u> <u>mater</u> because of lack of finances, campus unrest, lack of interest, and problematic business conditions. Among the motives for contributing to their <u>alma mater</u>, donors thought loyalty and belief in its work to be the most important. Substantial agreement existed among colleges as to why alumni give to their <u>alma mater</u>. In regard to incentives for giving, major donors believed that alumni are led by tax incentives to increase the size of gifts already planned and to bequeath to colleges. The Pre-1930 era felt the most strongly in regard to alumni giving from motives of loyalty, belief in the work of their <u>alma mater</u>, and confidence in the strength of their <u>alma mater</u>.

Recommendations for Further Study

A review of the literature and the results of this study suggest a need for:

- A similar study or studies which would incorporate the following changes:
 - Revision of the instrument so that it would be more amenable to factor analyses
 - b. Validation of the instrument
 - c. Larger selection of colleges by type of college

- by geographic location

- d. Larger sample
- e. Study of the attitudes of donors within colleges or divisions within the colleges studied.
- 2. An investigation of the attitudes of donors within a particular institution of higher education.
- 3. An investigation of differences in mean responses across items for each group which had items with the same covering statement, using the multiple analysis of variance technique for repeated measurements (91).

Attitudes of donors from a national sample are relatively unexplored. There is a need for more research into the development of valid, reliable instruments for evaluating the attitudes of donors. Colleges then can better utilize all the constituents of the college community in the pursuit of excellence in higher education.

LIST OF REFERENCES

- 1. Andrews, F. Emerson. Attitudes toward giving. New York, New York, Russell Sage Foundation. 1953.
- 2. Bacon, Anette L. and Cletis Pride. Trends in campus advancement. College and University Journal 10, No. 2: 9-12. March 1971.
- Bennett, John E. Identification and cultivation of constituencies. Paper read at the 13th annual workshop of the Council for the Advancement of Small Colleges, Washington, D.C., Pp. 13-15. 1968. ERIC ED 033 646.
- 4. Bolling, Landrum R. Possible solutions for financial crises of the private sector of higher education. Paper read at the 25th national conference of the American Association for Higher Education, Chicago, Illinois. March 1970. ERIC ED 038 089.
- Bolton, Roger E. The economics and public financing of higher education: an overview. Paper submitted to the Joint Economic Committee, Congress of the United States, Washington, D.C., Pp. 11-104. October 1969. ERIC ED 052 764.
- 6. Bowen, Howard R. Finance and the aims of American higher education. Washington, D.C., American Association for Higher Education. 1970.
- 7. Bowen, William G. The economics of the major private universities. Berkeley, California, Carnegie Commission on Higher Education. c1968.
- Brakeley, George A., Jr., Chairman of the Board. A study of voluntary support for higher education 1968-1969. Report prepared for G. A. Brakeley and Company, Inc., New York, New York. January 1971. ERIC ED 047 602.
- 9. Brown, Courtney C. Academic fund raising: Yesterday and today. School and Society 93, No. 2260: 240-242. April 1965.
- 10. Brubacher, John S. and Willis Rudy. Higher education in transition. New York, New York, Harper and Row, Publishers. c1968.
- Business and higher education. College and University Journal 10, No. 3: 5-7. May 1971.
- 12. Carnegie Commission on Higher Education. A chance to learn. Hightstown, New Jersey, McGraw-Hill Book Company. 1970.
- 13. Carnegie Commission on Higher Education. Less time, more options. Hightstown, New Jersey, McGraw-Hill Book Company. 1971.

- 14. Carnegie Commission on Higher Education. New students, new places. Hightstown, New Jersey, McGraw-Hill Book Company. 1971.
- 15. Carnegie Commission on Higher Education. Quality and equality: New levels of federal responsibility for higher education. Hightstown, New Jersey, McGraw-Hill Book Company. 1968.
- Carnegie Commission on Higher Education. Quality and equality: Revised recommendations new levels of federal responsibility for higher education. Hightstown, New Jersey, McGraw-Hill Book Company. 1970.
- Cary, William L. and Craig B. Bright. The law and the lore of endowment funds. Report to the Ford Foundation, The Educational Endowment Series, New York, New York. March 1969. ERIC ED 041 559.
- Chambers, M. M. Finance, higher education. Overview. The Encyclopedia of Education. Pp. 13-19. New York, New York, The Macmillan Company and the Free Press. 1971.
- 19. Chambers, M. M. Financing higher education. Washington, D.C., The Center for Applied Research in Education, Inc. 1963.
- 20. Chambers, M. M. Higher education: Who pays? Who gains? Danville, Illinois, The Interstate Printers and Publishers, Inc. c1968.
- 21. Cochran, William G. Sampling techniques. 2nd ed. New York, New York, John Wiley and Sons, Inc. c1963.
- 22. College and university business administration. Washington, D.C., American Council on Education. c1968.
- 23. College development. Chicago, Illinois, Gonser and Gerber Public Relations and Development Consultants. 1961.
- 24. Colleges feeling financial pinch. College and University Bulletin 24, No. 9: 3. February 1972.
- 25. Cooley, Charles A. Fund-raising for the private school...the alumni fund. Boston, Massachusetts, Independent School Consultants. c1962.
- 26. Crawford, Edwin M. The case for private-support of public higher education. College and University Journal 10, No. 3: 27-28. May 1971.
- 27. Crowl, John A. 13 more states move to help private colleges. The Chronicle of Higher Education 6, No. 4: 1, 4. October 1971.
- 28. Cutlip, Scott M. Fund raising in the United States: Its role in America's philanthropy. New Brunswick, New Jersey, Rutgers University Press. 1965.

- 29. Davis, Paul H. Increased funds are available if.... Liberal Education 55, No. 3: 407-411. October 1969.
- 30. Eldridge, Donald A. Developing financial resources. Junior College Journal 5, No. 2: 28-31. October 1964.
- Feldman, Kenneth A. and Theodore M. Newcomb. The impact of college on students. Vol. 1. San Francisco, California, Jossey-Bass Inc., Publishers. 1969.
- 32. Fellows, Margaret M. and Koenig, Stella A. Tested methods of raising money. New York, New York, Harper and Brothers, Publishers. c1959.
- Flack, Harold, Chairman. An alumni fund survey: A report on fund raising in American colleges and universities. Ithaca, New York, The American Alumni Council. 1932.
- 34. Gamble, Charles W. and Winona W. Gamble. How to raise money. New York, New York, Association Press. 1942.
- 35. Gardner, John W. Excellence. New York, New York, Harper and Row, Publishers. 1961.
- 36. Giving, USA. New York, New York, American Association of Fund Raising Council, Inc. 1962.
- 37. Gould, Samuel B. Bridging the interpretation gap. College and University Journal 10, No. 3: 14-16. May 1971.
- Greeley, Andrew M. Alumni of the sixties speak! Alma Mater 36, No. 5: 1-6. December 1969.
- 39. Gross, Edward and Paul V. Grambsch. University goals and academic power. Washington, D.C., American Council on Education. 1968.
- 40. Halstead, D. Kent. College and university endowment. U.S. Department of Health, Education, and Welfare Bulletin OE-53024. 1965.
- 41. Hanson, Abel A. Guides to successful fund raising. New York, New York, Teachers College, Columbia University. c1961.
- 42. Hardie, James C. The corporate 1% program. College and University Journal 10, No. 3: 10-12. May 1971.
- 43. Harman, Harry H. Modern factor analysis. Chicago, Illinois, The University of Chicago Press. c1967.
- 44. Harris, Seymour E. Financing higher education: An overview. Paper submitted to the Joint Economic Committee, Congress of the United States, Washington, D.C., Pp. 467-506. October 1969. ERIC ED 052 764.

- 45. Hawes, Gene R. Academic philanthropy: The art of getting. Saturday Review 50, No. 50: 65-67, 77-78. December 1967.
- 46. Hunter, Willard. Education is not a loophole. Liberal Education 52, No. 2: 211-217. May 1966.
- 47. Jones, John P. The technique to win in fund raising. New York, New York, Inter-River Press. 1934.
- 48. Katz, Joseph. No time for youth. San Francisco, California, Jossey-Bass Inc., Publishers. 1968.
- 49. Keller, George. Some unusual thoughts about financing higher education. College and University Journal 10, No. 4: 4-6. September 1971.
- 50. Kerr, Clark. Federal aid to higher education through 1976. Paper submitted to the Joint Economic Committee, Congress of the United States, Washington, D.C., Pp. 599-617. October 1969. ERIC ED 052 764.
- 51. Kerr, Clark. The uses of the university. Cambridge, Massachusetts, Harvard University Press. 1963.
- 52. Kirk, Grayson. Changing patterns of public and private support for higher education. The Journal of Negro Education 36, No. 3: 249-257. Summer 1967.
- 53. Less money is available to higher education. College Management 6, No. 1: 13-15. January 1971.
- 54. Luria, S. E. and Zella Luria. The role of the university: Ivory tower, service station, or frontier post? Daedalus 99, No. 1: 75-83. Winter 1970.
- 55. Managing educational endowments. New York, New York, Advisory Committee on Endowment Management. 1969.
- 56. Margin for excellence: The role of voluntary support in public higher education. Paper prepared by the Voluntary Support Committee of the National Assocation of State Universities and Land-Grant Colleges in cooperation with the Association of State Colleges and Universities, Washington, D.C. October 1966. ERIC ED 029 571.
- 57. Martin, Warren B. Alternative to irrelevance. Nashville, Tennessee, Abingdon Press. c1968.
- 58. Martin, Warren B. Cultural values on campus. Change 4, No. 5: 8-9, 62. June 1972.
- 59. Marts, Arnaud C. Man's concern for his fellow man. Geneva, New York, W.F. Humphrey Press, Inc. 1961.

- 60. Marts, Arnaud C. Philanthropy's role in civilization. New York, New York, Harper and Brothers, Publishers. c1953.
- 61. McAnally, Stanley R. Developing alumni support for small colleges. Paper read at the 13th annual workshop of the Council for the Advancement of Small Colleges, Washington, D.C., Pp. 21-23. 1968. ERIC ED 033 646.
- 62. McDonough, John. Will tax reform close loopholes around the neck of higher education? College and University Business 47, No. 4: 32-34. October 1969.
- 63. McFarlane, William H. State support for private higher education? Paper prepared for the Southern Regional Education Board, Atlanta, Georgia. 1969. ERIC ED 036 265.
- 64. Morison, Samuel E. The founding of Harvard College. Cambridge, Massachusetts, Harvard University Press. c1963.
- 65. Nie, Norman, Dale H. Bent and C. Hadlai Hull. Statistical package for the social sciences. New York, New York, McGraw-Hill Book Company. c1970.
- 66. Nunnally, Jun C. Psychometric theory. New York, New York, McGraw-Hill Book Company. c1967.
- 67. Pierce, Lyman L. How to raise money. New York, New York, Harper and Brothers, Publishers. 1932.
- 68. Pollard, John A. Fund-raising for higher education. New York, New York, Harper and Brothers, Publishers. 1958.
- 69. Pray, Francis C. and Arthur C. Frantzreb. Navigating the old ship through fund-raising shoals. College Management 6, No. 2: 7-8. February 1971.
- 70. Public funds for private colleges voted by more states in 1971. The Chronicle of Higher Education 6, No. 13: 1, 4. 1972.
- 71. Raising money today and tomorrow. New York, New York, Tamblyn and Brown, Inc. c1934.
- 72. Reinert, Paul C. Pluralism and diversity in higher education. In Dyckman W. Vermilye, ed. The expanded campus. Pp. 35-38. San Francisco, California, Jossey-Bass Inc., Publishers. 1972.
- 73. Richardson, Marion W. Notes on the rationale of item analysis. Psychometrika 1, No. 1: 69-76. March 1936.
- 74. Rudolph, Frederick. The American college and university. New York, New York, Random House, Inc. c1962.

- 75. Russell, Judith. Grads create fund to offset inflation. College Management 5, No. 4: 30-31. April 1970.
- 76. Sanford, Nevitt. Where colleges fail. San Francisco, California, Jossey-Bass Inc., Publishers. 1969.
- 77. Scheffé, Henry. The analysis of variance. New York, New York, John Wiley and Sons, Inc. c1959.
- Scranton, William W., Chairman. Campus unrest: The report of the President's Commission on Campus Unrest. Washington, D.C., U.S. Government Printing Office. 1970.
- 79. Segal, David. "Equity" versus "efficiency" in higher education. Paper submitted to the Joint Economic Committee, Congress of the United States, Washington, D.C., Pp. 135-144. October 1969. ERIC ED 052 764.
- Semas, Philip W. Financial crisis sharpens conflict between private and public colleges. The Chronicle of Higher Education 6, No. 13: 1, 5. January 1972.
- 81. Simon, Kenneth A. and W. Vance Grant. Digest of educational statistics. U.S. Department of Health, Education, and Welfare Bulletin OE-10024-69. 1969.
- 82. Snedecor, George W. and William G. Cochran. Statistical methods. 6th ed. Ames, Iowa, Iowa State University Press. c1967.
- 83. Spaeth, Joe L. and Andrew M. Greeley. Recent alumni and higher education. New York, New York, McGraw-Hill Book Company. c1970.
- 84. Strauss, James H. Endowment as a source of increased revenue. Paper submitted to the Joint Economic Committee, Congress of the United States, Washington, D.C., Pp. 507-517. October, 1969. ERIC ED 052 764.
- 85. Suggestions from experienced fund raisers. College Management 6, No.2: 9. February 1971.
- 86. Total cost of higher education continues to rise. College Management 6, No. 1: 10-12. January 1971.
- 87. Umbeck, Sharvey G. Long-range planning its implications for development. Paper read at the 13th annual workshop of the Council for the Advancement of Small Colleges, Washington, D.C., Pp. 8-12. 1968. ERIC ED 033 646.
- 88. Voluntary support of education 1970-1971. New York, New York, Council for Financial Aid to Education. 1972.
- 89. Walker, Eric A. Efficiency is a dirty word. College Management 6, No. 4: 4. April 1971.
- 90. Webster's seventh new collegiate dictionary. Springfield, Massachusetts, G. and C. Merriam Company, Publishers. c1969.
- 91. Winer, B. J. Statistical principles in experimental design. New York, New York, McGraw-Hill Book Company. 1962.
- 92. Wireman, Billy O. The development office and the development officer. Paper read at the 13th annual workshop of the Council for the Advancement of Small Colleges, Washington, D.C., Pp. 3-7. 1968. ERIC ED 033 646.
- 93. Wolk, Ronald A. Alternative methods of federal funding for higher education. Berkeley, California, Carnegie Commission on Higher Education. 1968.
- 94. Wurster, Stanley R. Philanthropy as a source to finance higher education. A synthesis paper prepared at New Mexico State University, University Park, New Mexico. 1970. ERIC ED 049 702.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

I would like to thank the following people for their cooperation:

Dr. Milt Brown, as advisor, for his encouragement, patience, and ability to help focus my ideas and especially for his uniqueness in being himself;

Dr. Ray Bryan, as major professor, for his willingness to help, his kindness and understanding;

Dr. Trevor Howe, Dr. George Kizer, and Dr. Richard Warren, as members of my committee, for their time, useful criticism, and suggestions;

Mr. Robert Majors, Director of Development Office, Cornell College; Mr. Orin Dahl, Vice-President of Institutional Development, Drake University; Mr. Don Gustofson, Director of Alumni Services, Iowa State University;

And my friends, without their support and distractions I might not have been able to be myself.

APPENDIX A

This instrument is designed to give you an opportunity to react to topical areas which are important to higher education. These areas pertain to the philosophy and objectives of colleges and universities, the role of the Alumni office in the overall functioning of the college or university, and issues concerned with financing and fund raising. You are asked to respond as follows: 195

Read the statements and respond to the statements in terms of your agreement. Your response to each statement should be a number from 1 to 9. If you <u>agree</u> <u>completely</u> with the statement or aspect, put 9 in the space provided. If you <u>disagree completely</u>, put 1. If you neither <u>agree nor disagree</u>, put 5. Use the intervening numbers to indicate the extent of your agreement. The distinctions you make on the number scale should be as fine as you feel you can make.



PLEASE RESPOND TO EVERY STATEMENT AND EACH ASPECT

Item Extent of

No. agreement

- 1. _____ Colleges and universities should have a philosophy and objectives relevant to today's society.
- 2. _____ Colleges and universities should have clarity and internal consistency in their philosophy and objectives.
- 3. _____ Colleges and universities should be responsive to students' goals.
- 4. Colleges and universities should be centers of independent thinking.
- 5. Colleges and universities should evolve with society.
- 6. _____ Colleges and universities should have extracurricular activities related to the objectives of the school.
- 7. _____ Colleges and universities should be mediums for social change.
- 8. _____ Private colleges and universities should be retained in the American system of higher education.
- 9. _____ Private colleges and universities should receive public assistance equivalent to public institutions of higher education.
- 10. _____ Colleges and universities are not really underfinanced.
- 11. _____ One of the major problems in financing higher education is the inefficient use of existing resources.

The following should be effective forces in shaping or changing the financial planning of colleges and universities:

- 12. Students
- 13. Faculty
- 14. Alumni

--

- 15. Taxpayers
- 16. _____ Administrators
- 17. ____ Board of Trustees (Regents)
- 18. _____ State Legislature
- 19. Federal Government
- 20. Agencies supplying funds for contract grants

ستقصيص الاستراجية المنافع المراجع المراجع





Item Extent of <u>No. agreement</u>

Increased Federal Funding for higher education should come from the following alternatives:

- 22. _____ Categorical Aid (aid for specific purposes)
- 23. _____ Aid to Students (scholarships, fellowships and loans)
- 24. _____ Institutional Grants
- 25. ____ Tax Relief
- 26. _____ Revenue Sharing and Aid to States
- 27. _____ The Alumni Office should have consistent communication with its alumni.
- 28. _____ The Alumni Office should provide opportunities for alumni reunions and area meetings.
- 29. _____ The Alumni Office should show the uses to be made of gifts received in fund raising programs.
- 30. _____ The Alumni Office should propose gifts for specific purposes.
- 31. _____ The Alumni Office should inform alumni of the possible financial benefits to donors from giving.
- 32. _____ The Alumni Office should have matching gift programs with business and industry.
- 33. _____ The Alumni Office should ask for money the college or university needs.
- 34. _____ The Alumni Office should ask for money it thinks it can get.
- 35. _____ The Alumni Office should have an ongoing evaluation of its program.

The Alumni Office should provide information on what is happening regarding the following:

- 36. _____ Athletics
- 37. _____ Cultural Events
- 38. _____ Continuing Education Programs
- 39. ____ Curricular Developments
- 40. ____ The Plans of the College or University
- 41. _____ Changes in the Philosophy and Objectives of the Institution
- 42. _____ Travel Opportunities
- 43. _____ In fund raising, a volunteer should have a better chance of getting money than a professional fund raiser.
- 44. _____ Academic excellence should attract financial support to a college or university.

PLEASE RESPOND TO EVERY STATEMENT AND EACH ASPECT



Item Extent of

No. agreement

The fund raising process should be an important concern of each of the following:

- 45. _____ Students
- 46. _____ Faculty
- 47. _____ Alumni Office
- 48. ____ President
- 49. _____ Parents of Students
- 50. _____ Board of Trustees (Regents)
- 51. Alumni and Friends of the Institution 52. Professional R. J. B. J. Statements of the Institution
- 52. _____ Professional Fund Raiser

Monies contributed to a college or university should be invested BY:

- 53. _____ Committee of Trustees
- 54. _____ Large Bank or Investment House
- 55. Small Investment House

Alumni prefer their gifts to be used for:

- 56. _____ Specific Projects
- 57. _____ Ungestricted Projects
- 58. ____ Current Operations
- 59. ____ Capital Needs
- 60. _____ Athletics
- 61. ____ Organized Research
- 62. _____ Student Aid
- 63. _____ Endowments

Monies contributed to a college or university should be invested IN:

- 64. _____ Stocks
- 65. _____ Bonds
- 66. _____ Real Estate

Alumni prefer the following forms of giving:

- 67. _____ Life Insurances
- 68. ____ Cash Contributions
- 69. _____ Deferred Gifts (trusts, wills)

Alumni are led by tax incentives to:

 70.
 Increase the size of gifts already planned

 71.
 Bequeath to colleges and universities



Item Extent of

No. agreement

The fund raising process should involve the following in identifying potential sources of gifts:

- 72. _____ Students
- 73. ____ Faculty
- 74. ____ Alumni Office
- 75. _____ President
- 76. _____ Parents of Students
- 77. _____ Board of Trustees (Regents)
- 78. _____ Alumni and Friends of the Institution

<u>Alumni are discouraged from giving to their</u> <u>Alma Mater because of</u>:

- 80. ____ Problematic Business Conditions
- 81. ____ An Uncertain Stock Market
- 82. _____ Contributions to the Church and Other Charitable Organizations
- 83. ____ Campus Unrest
- 84. Lack of Interest
- 85. Lack of Finances
- 86. Lack of Contact

Alumni give to their Alma Mater because of:

- 87. Loyalty
- 88. ____ Tax Considerations
- 89. ____ An Altruistic Impulse
- 90. ____ Confidence in its Strength
- 91. ____ Past Accomplishments of Gifts
- 92. Belief in its Work

The present approximate percentages of total income to public higher education by sources are presented below. Please write in the percentages which <u>in your opinion</u> the identified sources <u>should be</u> contributing to public higher education.

	Presently	Should Be
93. State	39%	
94. Federal Government	20%	
95. Students	20%	
96. Local Tax District	4%	
97. Alumni and Friends	4%	
98. Foundations	3%	
99. Business Corporations	2%	
100. Other (Community Groups,	87	
Endowment Earnings, etc.))	
	100%	

-4-

APPENDIX B

Telephone: 515-294-4143

May 29, 1972

Higher education in the seventies is faced with many challenging issues. These issues call for continuous dialogue within the whole of the college or university community. You as an alumnus of Cornell are part of this college or university community and will be interested in its meeting the challenges of the latter part of the twentieth century.

A graduate student in the doctoral program at Iowa State is attempting to determine the attitudes of alumni toward certain topical areas important in higher education. Your responses to the enclosed instrument will provide him with the information needed at this time.

The project is being carried out in cooperation with Cornell College, Drake University and Iowa State University. You have been selected as one of three-hundred alumni from Cornell. Your response is important for the completion of the study and it will make a significant contribution to your Alma Mater. Pretesting of the instrument showed that it will take about ten minutes to complete.

Please complete and return the enclosed instrument at your earliest possible convenience as we hope to be ready for analysis on June 12th. A stamped, self-addressed envelope is provided for this purpose. Although it is necessary to identify each respondent by a code number for follow-up purposes, the information you provide will be held in <u>strict confidence</u>.

If you wish to receive a summary report of the completed analysis you may have it upon request.

Thank you for your cooperation.

Alton D. Brown Associate Professor

Charles R. MacIsaac Graduate Student

CM/MB:bc Enclosure

IOWA STATE

INIVERSIT

200

Telephone: 515-294-4143

May 29, 1972

Higher education in the seventies is faced with many challenging issues. These issues call for continuous dialogue within the whole of the college or university community. You as an alumnus of Drake are part of this college or university community and will be interested in its meeting the challenges of the latter part of the twentieth century.

A graduate student in the doctoral program at Iowa State is attempting to determine the attitudes of alumni toward certain topical areas important in higher education. Your responses to the enclosed instrument will provide him with the information needed at this time.

The project is being carried out in cooperation with Cornell College, Drake University and Iowa State University. You have been selected as one of three-hundred alumni from Drake. Your response is important for the completion of the study and it will make a significant contribution to your Alma Mater. Pretesting of the instrument showed that it will take about ten minutes to complete.

Please complete and return the enclosed instrument at your earliest possible convenience as we hope to be ready for analysis on June 12th. A stamped, self-addressed envelope is provided for this purpose. Although it is necessary to identify each respondent by a code number for follow-up purposes, the information you provide will be held in <u>strict confidence</u>.

If you wish to receive a summary report of the completed analysis you may have it upon request.

Thank you for your cooperation.

Milton D. Brown Associate Professor

Charles R. MacIsaac Graduate Student

CM/MB:bc Enclosure

IOWA STATE

UNIVERSITY

Telephone: 515-294-4143

May 29, 1972

Higher education in the seventies is faced with many challenging issues. These issues call for continuous dialogue within the whole of the college or university community. You as an alumnus of Iowa State are part of this college or university community and will be interested in its meeting the challenges of the latter part of the twentieth century.

A graduate student in the doctoral program at Iowa State is attempting to determine the attitudes of alumni toward certain topical areas important in higher education. Your responses to the enclosed instrument will provide him with the information needed at this time.

The project is being carried out in cooperation with Cornell College, Drake University and Iowa State University. You have been selected as one of three-hundred alumni from Iowa State. Your response is important for the completion of the study and it will make a significant contribution to your Alma Mater. Pretesting of the instrument showed that it will take about ten minutes to complete.

Please complete and return the enclosed instrument at your earliest possible convenience as we hope to be ready for analysis on June 12th. A stamped, self-addressed envelope is provided for this purpose. Although it is necessary to identify each respondent by a code number for follow-up purposes, the information you provide will be held in strict confidence.

If you wish to receive a summary report of the completed analysis you may have it upon request.

Thank you for your cooperation.

incerely

Charles R. MacIsaac Graduate Student Milton D. Brown Associate Professor

CM/MB:bc Enclosure

IOWA STATE

IVERSIT

Telephone: 515-294-4143

IOWA STATE UNIVERSITY

Several weeks ago you were sent a survey instrument concerning the attitudes of alumni toward certain topical areas important in higher education. If your response is already in the mail, please disregard the remainder of this letter.

In order to carry out the statistical analysis your response as one of the three-hundred alumni selected from your Alma Mater and representative of your era of graduation is important and necessary for the completion of the study.

Could you please find time in the next few days to complete the instrument? We realize that this may be a busy time for you but your cooperation will be greatly appreciated.

Sincerely,

Milton D. Brown Associate Professor

Charles R. MacIsaac Graduate Student

Telephone: 515-294-4143

June 28, 1972

Recently a questionnaire concerning the attitudes of alumni on topical areas important in higher education was sent to you. Response has been good and we are are pleased that so many have found time in their busy schedules to complete and return the questionnaire. No comparable studies of alumni attitudes in these areas have been completed.

In case the questionnaire did not reach you or you have misplaced it we are sending another copy so that you can express your opinions and have them represented in the study. If you have already mailed your questionnaire, we are grateful. If not, we would appreciate if you would find time within the next week to complete and return the questionnaire.

Thank you for your cooperation.

Charles R. MacIsaac Graduate Student

<u>IOWA STATE</u> UNIVERSITY

Sincerely,

Milton D. Brown Associate Professor

APPENDIX C

Table 122. Intercorrelations for items 1 through 92

6955286565988285858992559899288225595555555555	21
9112266525115695511665555166355688869111755559995667158338686588338	22
222222222222222222222222222222222222222	23
91599999999987555591158855988269911268899119895889556255555555555555555555555555555	24
812222222882281288828812888288288288828	23
222222222222222222222222222222222222222	26
5 1 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2	27
217239929182216020116669929981689921768223523825752338	28
681221232325169283928656855552499989988294252278552252385829652385896246	29
122508228862552718555214689889554558669332218855565555555555555555555555555555555	30
L L L G G Z Z G G G G G G G G G G G G G	ä
819811889989889181828886515982858925892569555655555555555555555555	32
611669152996993688876536894555596665589956556855855681899525562552525	33
955255255255555555555555555555555555555	34
58584555556885522458226112595588885561568552555885555555555555555555	32
612881224999113999822161722999955529889925988402498829255225543338455 	م س
11229112200021102012221611268091172558040982051812160901409866 	5
5932975998228F2858555F777272727525757996FF9222557679955855677	
	66
111 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1	6
6 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2	£
6 5 2 5 5 5 6 8 6 5 5 6 8 6 7 5 8 9 6 9 6 5 5 6 8 9 6 7 5 6 8 8 9 5 5 6 8 8 9 5 5 6 8 8 9 5 6 8 9 6 8 9 5 6 8 9 5 6 8 9 6 9 5 6 8 9 5 6 8 9 6 8 9 6 8 9 5 6 8 9	42
	÷
	1
22691592698889715256511918682208680812921755228976 2266915698889715245256511918682208680812921755228976	\$
952225529999998935785558915999999999999999999999999999999	46
258952882959555555555555555555555555555	47
526982898552555555556580228019998288059829955623	48
16121516899665165861884155999999985986298528833	49
1080385280240555248265888058550119992255588859256	50
8855252252455572652252252268522526852598595	51
228282822822222222222222222222222222222	52
555528828828828858895288952888558885558885555	53
60000000000000000000000000000000000000	54

APPENDIX D

Item				Factor			
no.	I	II	III	IV	V	VI	VII
1	361	.305	. 352	.013	. 281	014	106
2	291	.023	120	041	. 205	059	265
3	321	.376	. 274	006	. 204	020	143
4	237	. 300	.424	023	.112	.078	002
5	375	. 284	.357	030	.234	011	089
6	349	.064	.009	.085	. 209	153	155
/	283	.361	.367	006	016	.053	051
8	163	049	.040	.136	.081	060	051
9	093	. 100	078	.033	145	.130	04/
10	.131	116	232	135	004	352	210
11	.118	051	149	133	12/	410	355
12	2/0	.441	. 292	080	2/8	210	067
13	-,188	. 301	.2//	016	228	429	.097
14	42/	.030	122	.044	0/4	305	.141
15	292	.12/	3/3	237	.097	080	005
10	228	. 100	.011	.040	. 309	219	. 22/
10	247	023	257	.083	. 540	145 110	.214
10	201	. 280	49/	283	. 2/9	.110	.047
20	303	.491	-,393	190	031	- 055	.051
20	300	·441 2//	495	.113	1/4	- 110	.057
21	- 202	. 344		.147	223	- 026	- 037
22	- 203	- 203	027	.031	- 08/	020	037
23	- 306	. 290	015	- 005	- 132	220	- 001
25	- 149	130	- 046	- 003	- 155	061	- 107
26	- 242	. 262	- 071	- 077	096	.210	- 135
27	- 557	- 306	- 007	.258	- 024	. 220	- 342
28	- 531	- 237	- 127	. 284	- 013	.076	- 276
29	461	246	063	. 215	032	072	104
30	.435	162	127	.313	021	015	.039
31	514	173	.003	. 343	.028	002	.043
32	322	101	.034	. 301	116	.017	.078
33	365	056	.178	. 301	109	.036	. 322
34	259	.022	089	.179	054	.112	.118
35	402	070	.055	. 254	004	123	. 108
36	603	236	095	096	.096	.091	074
37	650	319	.047	239	.042	.145	025
38	655	255	. 101	396	058	.034	.061
39	564	293	.142	404	154	035	.096
40	630	329	.077	270	141	079	.177
41	521	284	.108	283	057	061	.108
42	433	.015	042	077	125	.104	122

Table 123.	Results	of	principal	components	factor	analysis,	items	1
	through	42	on 13 fact	tors				

		Fac	tor			
VIII	IX	X	XI	XII	XIII	h ²
.183	.000	062	.001	. 102	091	.402
.066	.065	. 144	. 209	.104	102	.238
.098	070	040	043	028	007	.356
.121	047	060	147	.045	.151	. 339
. 223	032	036	017	019	018	.390
.0 59	018	.123	.087	.011	192	.250
.054	115	002	140	027	.021	.352
.010	038	.135	.067	. 087	053	.111
018	.081	.0 07	.043	.053	004	.140
.035	, 092	.091	122	003	.023	. 229
.079	.171	.159	411	.040	.105	. 207
121	.034	229	.024	137	072	.460
343	010	149	109	114	067	.430
151	009	130	.064	.135	.042	. 366
059	. 182	117	.046	.100	081	.348
238	047	.111	.007	.038	.091	.313
093	015	.005	.001	~.049	.124	. 351
054	. 259	243	110	054	.031	.493
.077	.048	181	- <i>.</i> 092	036	.052	.541
.204	281	.073	.024	.008	010	.651
.190	340	.070	022	.109	000	. 631
072	.056	. 295	.137	094	.116	. 253
133	.168	. 222	083	.086	.122	. 272
144	.157	. 336	.094	109	.228	. 307
047	. 209	.060	.186	. 265	1.21	.178
084	. 222	005	.036	.017	133	.243
167	057	232	.053	. 210	. 292	. 532
123	139	221	.033	068	.130	.531
.163	.135	118	.067	260	045	. 394
.148	. 200	.070	.006	288	009	. 390
.047	.106	.047	056	105	087	.414
.088	.136	078	~.110	.080	053	.271
.005	.159	027	223	.224	073	. 308
094	.024	.045	213	019	078	.181
.049	.090	.058	.036	.071	.024	.284
238	140	. 093	091	008	149	.537
253	165	.109	212	018	- 198	.642
.027	041	.033	.020	033	.067	. 660
.117	070	.070	,019	-,018	,140	. 599
.204	.079	033	. 094	020	.051	. 627
.186	.080	.001	.111	,122	.009	. 508
129	157	.088	037	082	- 102	. 300
/		,				

•

....

.

Item	Factor									
no.	I	II	III	IV	V	VI				
1	.068	.638	020	.036	.048	.064				
2	.107	.095	.050	.104	072	.066				
3	.003	.591	.057	.045	.102	.065				
4	.080	. 596	035	072	.029	.020				
5	.133	.639	.007	. 100	.038	.058				
6	.055	. 215	.084	.192	.045	.138				
7	.038	.550	.072	031	.143	062				
8	.031	.054	.037	.066	026	.086				
9	034	.012	.093	007	.032	154				
10	.002	184	.016	.009	.012	.045				
11	026	048	.003	026	004	077				
12	.047	.368	.058	.035	.611	176				
13	.009	.172	.022	031	.775	.078				
14	.233	030	. 204	.047	.341	. 226				
15	.161	065	.127	001	.089	.119				
16	.029	.110	.005	043	.119	.565				
17	.019	.015	.065	.150	106	.653				
18	.033	.032	.105	.048	061	.211				
19	.026	.172	. 390	004	.002	044				
20	013	.066	. 802	.107	.055	.022				
21	.026	010	.850	.055	.049	.039				
22	. 026	.131	.148	.112	.084	.128				
23	.002	. 228	010	055	.109	.018				
24	.061	.125	.088	.053	.033	011				
25	.042	038	.016	090	.087	203				
26	007	.103	.004	.033	.075	207				
27	. 222	.055	013	.165	020	.013				
28	.123	.026	.114	. 357	.023	.036				
29	. 225	.025	.028	.592	.039	018				
30	.138	025	.081	.613	045	.068				
31	.142	.076	.045	.465	012	. 103				
32	.085	.054	.049	. 248	.013	056				
33	.135	.115	.000	.089	.050	.042				
34	021	.007	.106	.129	015	.044				
35	.174	.079	.077	.238	.070	. 141				
36	.328	.016	.036	.124	016	. 160				
37	.474	.074	057	.060	019	. 101				
38	.736	.131	006	.094	.028	.050				
39	.780	.098	.029	.061	.023	.007				
40	.778	.048	.030	.237	,055	.012				
41	.682	.078	-,022	.090	.002	. 004				
42	.196	.085	.159	.093	.084	067				

Table 124. Results of varimax rotation of principal components factor analysis, items 1 through 42 on 13 factors

			Factor			
VII	VIII	IX	X	XI	XII	XIII
.009	.068	.004	. 082	. 239	003	079
.090	.134	.074	104	.466	.060	.066
.033	.071	.092	025	.108	.059	027
.044	027	.122	.098	105	031	063
010	.032	.043	.014	.133	.004	060
.010	.018	.005	.018	.387	.140	.048
001	043	.164	.074	061	.111	053
.057	118	.038	.084	. 225	.055	005
.045	.133	.174	.064	.042	.000	057
032	.033	093	133	.079	043	.481
008	.001	002	014	021	012	.773
.003	.104	.130	.008	056	.023	.004
034	037	.125	.033	013	.014	002
.189	.122	.008	.222	.119	.017	.033
.021	.516	.006	.004	.192	.046	.091
006	.026	.102	.082	.098	.067	032
.061	. 199	040	.026	.082	.029	034
.008	./99	.045	053	043	.054	.041
.000	.028	.1/9	016	121	.048	005
.003	150	.133	.033	.000	.052	000
- 013	.133	.000	- 0/6	154	.000	- 002
013	.035	.444	040	. 150	.030	002
007	109	. 447	. 220	.003	.071	088
.048	.161	.186	. 137	. 322	045	040
.007	. 345	. 248	.054	.142	.130	063
. 808	.003	.039	.189	.146	.148	016
.617	.035	022	.081	.076	.259	059
.192	.041	056	.107	.105	.067	.014
.062	.030	.125	.211	.060	.060	. 000
.134	030	.062	. 348	.138	.179	050
.131	003	006	.427	.044	.018	029
.024	039	.043	.667	016	.045	105
.020	.080	.101	. 304	060	.236	037
.113	072	.093	.323	.163	018	026
.201	. 105	.035	.103	.180	.573	030
.131	.063	.007	.145	.086	.705	023
.110	.095	.076	.018	.030	.281	025
.074	029	.066	.011	032	.173	.032
. 056	.058	012	.146	.053	.058	028
.046	. 053	033	.130	.162	.031	016
.118	.057	.146	.001	.077	.409	034

Item	Factor										
no.	Ī	II	111	IV	V	VI	VII	VIII			
43	185	.071	057	. 280	013	087	.294	218			
44	304	129	.104	.184	.094	047	032	059			
45	510	.530	179	.072	028	209	102	.073			
46	526	.575	146	.049	065	228	125	007			
47	536	001	.154	.178	113	229	058	297			
48	434	. 211	.174	130	.056	004	365	001			
49	566	. 382	095	.056	003	171	048	108			
50	377	.061	. 280	206	,062	045	341	189			
51	545	117	.178	.192	151	187	079	274			
52	212	045	. 060	250	.060	.108	368	.281			
53	135	142	.177	.419	.148	.138	. 045	.241			
54	179	154	176	405	019	165	034	051			
55	057	101	055	275	.156	105	.149	020			
56	312	182	097	.078	184	.079	.001	.191			
57	123	110	.091	178	.273	221	.056	081			
58	155	- .075	.046	237	.307	295	063	007			
59	276	180	015	151	.021	181	022	065			
6 0	270	068	076	124	037	.048	127	.149			
61	239	299	115	023	.183	150	. 115	. 173∉			
62	177	286	034	151	.130	142	. 214	.081			
63	319	383	072	122	.022	145	. 097	.052			
64	202	203	132	261	111	125	.025	038			
65	253	159	081	163	151	195	.079	010			
66	196	144	130	142	050	101	.085	.072			
67	234	041	244	155	.014	.065	.009	.165			
68	265	273	.160	.060	075	170	.141	.060			
69	358	282	246	070	292	040	.027	.097			
70	396	247	247	.065	338	.059	063	.028			
71	443	197	~.308	.090	421	.097	081	008			
72	520	.505	098	073	.051	.087	.347	.187			
73	559	.474	039	074	.011	.092	. 245	.089			
74	490	167	.431	020	119	. 214	.250	102			
75	475	.080	.315	329	.068	.334	.035	.122			
76	605	. 265	.047	089	.029	.083	.299	.053			
77	401	040	. 390	340	.045	.213	037	-,088			
78	554	224	.411	.086	159	.149	.139	100			
80	288	146	390	.048	.402	. 273	028	308			
81	318	118	426	.016	.339	. 237	.020	384			
82	189	016	203	.055	. 217	.097	.004	045			
83	201	039	069	.137	039	.174	129	120			
84	11/	.038	059	069	028	.32/	096	003			
65	156	<u>1</u> 44	118	019	.151	. 233	066	.042			

Table 125. Results of principal components factor analysis, items 43 through 92 on 16 factors

زد رز

			Fa	ctor				n
IX	Х	XI	XII	XIII	XIV	XV	XVI	h ²
324	009	208	.091	103	035	.039	.004	. 299
.057	022	145	018	002	.104	012	.127	.246
.022	.083	.056	.060	077	121	.063	.051	.692
028	.073	003	.104	089	192	.011	.051	.694
.109	035	. 244	009	028	143	131	098	.526
105	.045	226	. 000	101	144	.018	073	.483
.078	.083	.052	.080	.091	.183	.213	105	.603
.027	.180	130	011	.009	.108	.139	.065	.459
.081	118	.187	.068	. 114	018	035	051	.522
.261	110	. 326	073	.184	021	.002	.084	. 312
173	.478	.069	.018	. 305	157	.066	020	.308
.106	217	117	012	058	.062	040	.014	. 302
035	137	.096	041	.030	105	056	124	.181
.217	.071	095	. 253	089	004	119	130	. 299
298	133	.182	213	.152	167	.142	.104	. 258
292	.159	.196	.123	026	.196	241	.125	. 264
229	.172	.081	.096	010	.172	145	092	. 265
.029	.095	.028	.050	023	136	071	123	.219
.075	.107	.043	.129	126	.003	.050	.158	.272
.089	.008	.068	.154	245	036	. 207	.009	.260
.021	.073	.017	013	131	046	.058	145	.306
.044	13/	259	.087	.263	103	.078	041	. 249
010	.074	328	.024	. 302	068	165	.081	.281
.0/0	.018	0//	.114	.1//	0/1	.058	.048	.1/6
149	.035	.145	030	08/	109	.011	075	.244
.080	047	058	.063	.037	093	.042	.153	.20/
- 102	.194	.030	141	025	.038	~.0/0	.01/	.398
- 105	.017	.057	- 277	025	001	.111	.030	.404
190	- 091	.005	2//	080	.134	- 112	.113	.4/2
- 002	- 055	- 010	- 101	- 012	- 008	- 124	.130	.095
002	- 001	010	- 026	012	- 149	- 086	.075	570
- 175	001	- 207	- 103	000	149	065	- 110	585
115	005	.207	.103	18/	144	130	- 087	621
- 032	150	- 098	- 027	- 062	170	.130	007	52/
084	- 036	107	027	002	.170	.070	.000	507
180	127	- 025	- 030	.012	.0/1	.002	1009	101
. 100	- 005	025	039	.010	101	- 0/7	.100	•474 205
.142	. 140	.007	.025	- 013	050	021	.027	.186
108	081	- 123	.025	046	.073	- 167	.027	180
- 294	- 316	.166		074	- 011	. 107	.074	. 262
.050	.059	013	. 195	-,079	012	.057	.181	. 202

Item	Factor									
no.	I	II	111	IV	v	VI	VII	VIII		
86	227	005	167	.014	050	.175	014	.047		
87	446	142	.120	.177	.010	.016	179	.047		
88	303	088	267	006	183	.147	092	020		
89	263	088	073	.085	.252	.040	.035	.044		
90	389	153	.000	. 2 74	. 276	214	067	.255		
91	402	071	060	.289	.188	021	151	. 272		
92	374	198	. 202	. 309	.218	040	040	.096		

i

Table 125. (Continued)

			Fa					
IX	x	XI	XII	XIII	XIV	xv	XVI	h
252	155	.055	. 224	.075	.015	. 053	084	. 225
.008	175	133	037	075	097	.014	. 146	. 362
029	.013	.016	044	. 004	.038	.096	018	. 239
130	132	032	049	.033	.038	.158	090	. 223
015	131	113	200	010	.089	035	070	. 399
008	177	032	.029	.044	. 125	155	144	.348
. 009	221	114	034	092	.022	.044	.007	. 389

Item no.	Factor								
	I	11	III	IV	V	VI	VII	VIII	
43	. 096	.092	.055	. 029	021	. 107	. 109	.065	
44	. 030	.174	.042	.111	.114	.016	.319	.018	
45	. 357	.076	.112	.046	003	.723	.078	.017	
46	. 326	.119	.079	.030	. 044	.789	.040	015	
47	.056	.682	.122	.078	.029	. 292	.143	029	
48	034	.038	.021	.009	.480	.464	. 203	041	
49	. 314	.193	.111	.121	.091	.512	.107	007	
50	093	.146	.013	.072	.517	. 282	.064	046	
51	.013	.673	.148	.035	.038	.178	.211	015	
52	.061	.078	.066	.027	. 096	.066	. 092	020	
53	029	.047	.037	.061	.051	024	.169	.830	
54	.015	019	.106	.058	.074	.006	.029	- .459	
55	.064	.031	066	.054	002	081	017	159	
56	.037	.135	.174	.051	.033	.045	.134	.040	
57	003	.078	020	007	.048	.005	.098	.013	
58	.023	003	078	.029	.063	.066	.049	022	
59	032	.114	.164	.022	.120	.029	.040	004	
60	.004	.035	.158	.066	.133	.150	. 049	.050	
61	.033	.009	.085	.133	043	001	.171	.049	
62	009	.060	.026	.047	.039	033	.050	094	
63	068	.136	. 234	.079	.098	040	.146	043	
64	046	.029	.089	.023	.065	. 009	- 027	152	
65	.066	.049	.124	.002	.069	.019	.041	.003	
66	.060	.027	.088	.044	018	.035	. 000	.014	
67	.104	088	. 267	.088	.031	.110	.006	.014	
68	. 025	. 272	.059	096	.036	045	.180	.056	
69	.063	.079	.567	.042	.029	006	.023	.033	
70	005	.142	.615	.038	.017	.058	.093	.016	
71	.086	.112	.796	.039	.031	.036	.110	049	
72	.815	.031	.042	.080	.092	.253	.089	040	
73	. 690	.091	.084	.076	.198	. 299	.089	038	
74	.237	. 584	.095	006	.392	143	.037	.119	
/5	. 251	.021	.050	004	./18	.046	. [[/	.044	
/6	.614	.1/5	.0//	.090	.251	.110	.121	.034	
77	. 112	.141	.037	.028	.689	040	.006	028	
./8	. 100	. 594	.141	033	. 354	128	.1/6	.099	
80	.026	.030	.082	. / 99	.031	.026	.0/1	.010	
81	.043	.08/	.131	./44	.008	001	.090	104	
82	.099	018	.036	.3/1	009	.060	.0/1	.053	
83	.004	.081	.124	. 158	.066	.006	. 149	019	
84	.037	.033	.033	.009	.046	004	023	045	
85	018	059	.047	. 269	.102	.000	.047	.053	

Table 126. Results of varimax rotation of principal components factoranalysis, items 43 through 92 on 16 factors

			Fac	tor			
IX	X	XI	XII	XIII	XIV	xv	XVI
. 103	605	.021	.026	.019	.058	036	008
051	068	.053	.076	.042	025	205	017
.019	. 002	.015	010	.028	022	.001	.035
.047	071	041	.031	.039	026	.014	028
068	018	020	.003	.101	.020	.086	.013
.051	.042	101	.061	.036	010	.061	- .058
.028	023	0 07	.054	.082	021	100	.419
076	.127	027	.084	.148	.064	220	.131
.059	.008	016	.119	.087	.020	051	.115
.096	.724	.028	.029	.007	.055	. 026	009
018	016	. 034	.012	.047	.002	.003	.008
007	. 103	.135	. 291	.101	.035	.074	.006
.020	.041	.117	. 128	.104	.193	.294	.010
.068	.049	.188	.165	016	483	.089	018
.037	. 023	.099	.090	.146	.628	.115	018
.032	.048	.130	.000	.691	.177	~ , 002	058
.034	064	.082	.103	.480	004	.087	.086
.055	.163	.079	.107	.058	134	. 217	050
033	.042	.479	.113	.170	023	028	066
006	031	.573	.055	. 046	.023	. 090	.057
085	018	.361	.164	.124	010	. 222	.063
.078	.008	.059	. 563	053	.038	.067	.078
087	077	047	.602	.130	039	017	087
.041	.055	.173	.368	.019	009	.018	.035
.144	.075	.151	.002	.087	.050	. 266	037
049	026	. 272	. 251	020	.017	091	093
083	.023	.122	. 196	. 152	102	.078	044
. 105	004	.085	.116	040	026	.001	.017
.07 2	048	038	.023	. 027	.003	080	024
.052	001	.016	.029	034	002	.040	040
.062	056	056	.020	003	.006	.074	051
. 049	- , 004	.170	01 7	051	001	.087	137
.121	. 002	001	.0 70	013	.010	.261	13
. 069	.008	.070	.134	. 027	036	028	. 38
.016	.071	.083	.028	, 135	.008	074	.10
. 107	.003	.151	.045	.001	098	087	. 054
.021	.001	. 068	.052	010	.033	010	06
.078	081	040	.050	005	.073	.165	. 094
025	.040	. 092	016	.059	079	027	.04
. 212	085	183	.056	.059	110	149	124
.672	.053	043	039	.008	.045	011	04
. 2 05	.084	. 227	.008	.001	099	123	10

Item	Factor							
no.	I	II	III	IV	v	VI	VII	VIII
86	.061	.005	. 156	.039	.007	.059	.072	.029
87	010	. 226	.154	.040	.188	.145	.426	017
88	.033	.032	.414	.157	.049	.086	.029	031
89	.061	023	.057	.155	.065	.008	.324	.034
90	. 086	. 029	.093	.045	016	.075	.676	.051
91	. 114	.065	.074	.080	048	.091	.598	.067
92	.005	. 212	013	.034	.119	.001	.595	.033

 \mathcal{J}

Factor							
IX	X	XI	XII	XIII	XIV	XV	XVI
.457	060	. 000	.059	.035	032	. 088	. 08:
.089	.027	.070	.077	095	.003	113	17
. 139	. 033	.009	.076	052	064	.003	.08
. 145	066	. 099	.015	009	.159	.081	. 14
122	.018	.081	.042	.093	.056	.063	.03
.136	. 098	032	.011	.115	165	. 092	. 04
. 04 2	056	. 144	028	055	.021	053	02

APPENDIX E

Source of variation	df	MS	F ^a
Colleges (A)	2	2.94	1.02
Donors (B)	3	3.00	1.05
Eras (E)	4	0.72	<1
Interactions:			
АхВ	6	2.76	<1
АхЕ	8	1.85	<1
ВхЕ	12	1.88	<1
АхВхЕ	23	3.58	1.25
Error	571	2.87	

Table 127. Analysis of variance on item 1

 a F(.05) 2,571 = 3.01 > 1.02 F(.05) 3,571 = 2.62 > 1.05 F(.05) 23,571 = 1.55 > 1.25.

Table 128. Analysis of variance on item 2

Source of variation	df	MS	F ^a
Colleges (A)	2	0.22	<1
Donors (B)	3	3.04	1.09
Eras (E)	4	5.19	1.86
Interactions:			
АхВ	6	4.54	1.63
АхЕ	8	1.15	<1
ВхЕ	12	2.74	<1
АхВхЕ	23	2.21	<1
Error	571	2.79	-

 a F(.05) 3,571 = 2.62 > 1.09 F(.05) 4,571 = 2.39 > 1.86 F(.05) 6,571 = 2.11 > 1.63.

Source of variation	df	MS	F ^a
Colleges (A)	2	8.65	2.51
Donors (B)	3	2.13	<1
Eras (E)	4	5.43	1.58
Interactions:			
АхВ	6	2.84	<1
АхЕ	8	1.24	<1
ВхЕ	12	2.93	<1
АхвхЕ	23	5.04	1.47
Error	571	3.44	

Table 129. Analysis of variance on item 5

^aF(.05) 2,571 = 3.01 > 2.51F(.05) 4,571 = 2.39 > 1.58F(.05) 23,571 = 1.55 > 1.47.

Table 130. Analysis of variance on item 6

Source of variation	df	MS	F ^a
Colleges (A)	2	1.90	<1
Donors (B)	3	4.40	1.33
Eras (E)	4	1.34	<1
Interactions:			
АхВ	6	1.20	<1
AxE	8	0.92	<1
ВхЕ	12	3.85	1.17
АхВхЕ	23	3.66	1.11
Error	571	3.30	

^aF(.05) 3,571 = 2.62 > .133F(.05) 12,571 = 1.77 > 1.17F(.05) 23,571 = 1.55 > 1.11.

Source of variation	df	MS	F ^a
Colleges (A)	2	15.40	2.46
Donors (B)	3	3.80	<1
Eras (E)	4	3.15	<1
Interactions:			
АхВ	6	7.49	1.20
АхЕ	8	7.35	1.17
ВхЕ	12	2.77	<1
АхВхЕ	2 3	7.75	1.24
Error	571	6.26	

Table 131. Analysis of variance on item 7

^aF(.05) 2,571 = 3.01 > 2.46F(.05) 6,571 = 2.11 > 1.20F(.05) 8,571 = 1.96 > 1.17F(.05) 23,571 = 1.55 > 1.24.

Table 132. Analysis of variance on item 14

Source of variation	df	MS	F ^a
Colleges (A)	2	3.09	<1
Donors (B)	3	1.52	<1
Eras (E)	4	4.65	1.19
Interactions:			
AxB	6	6.56	1.68
АхЕ	8	6.38	1.64
ВхЕ	12	2.05	<1
АхВхЕ	23	5.77	1.48
Error	571	3.90	

 a F(.05) 4,571 = 2.39 > 1.19 F(.05) 6,571 = 2.11 > 1.68 F(.05) 8,571 = 1.96 > 1.64 F(.05) 23,571 = 1.55 > 1.48.

Source of variance	df	MS	F ^a
Colleges (A)	2	3, 84	1.81
Donors (B)	3	0.41	<1
Eras (E)	4	0.85	<1
Interactions:			
АхВ	6	2.84	1.34
АхЕ	8	1.27	<1
ВхЕ	12	2.57	1.21
АхВхЕ	23	2.08	<1
Error	571	2.12	

Table 133. Analysis of variance on item 16

^aF(.05) 2,571 = 3.01 > 1.81F(.05) 6,571 = 2.11 > 1.34F(.05) 12,571 = 1.77 > 1.21.

Table 134. Analysis of variance on item 19

Source of variance	df	MS	F ^a
Colleges (A)	2	0.45	<1
Donors (B)	3	5.57	<1
Eras (E)	4	9.19	1.31
Interactions:			
A x B	6	2.41	<1
АхЕ	8	7.34	1.05
ВхЕ	12	9.09	1.30
AxBxE	23	7.43	1.06
Error	571	7.00	

 a F(.05) 4,571 = 2.39 > 1.31 F(.05) 8,571 = 1.96 > 1.05 F(.05) 12,571 = 1.77 > 1.30 F(.05) 23,571 = 1.55 > 1.06.
Source of variation	df	MS	F
Colleges ()	2	0.12	<1
Donors (B)	3	2.28	<1
Eras (E)	4	3.06	<1
Interactions:			
АхВ	6	1.92	< <p><1</p>
АхЕ	8	1.85	<1
ВхЕ	12	3.69	<1
АхВхЕ	23	5.40	<1
Error	571	5.73	

Table 135. Analysis of variance on item 22

Table 136. Analysis of variance on item 24

Source of variation	df	MS	F ^a
Colleges (A)	2	6.72	1.53
Donors (B)	3	2.47	<1
Eras (E)	4	7.06	1.60
Interactions:			
АхВ	6	5.76	1.31
АхЕ	8	3.65	<1
ВхЕ	12	4.73	1.08
АхвхЕ	23	6.97	1.58*
Error	571	4.40	

^aF(.05) 2,571 = 3.01 > 1.53 F(.05) 4,571 = 2.39 > 1.60 F(.05) 6,571 = 2.11 > 1.31 F(.05) 12,571 = 1.77 > 1.08. *F(.05) 23,571 = 1.55 < 1.58, p<.05.

Source of variation	df	MS	F ^a
Colleges (A)	2	8.53	1.35
Donors (B)	3	9.74	1.54
Eras (E)	4	7.96	1.26
Interactions:			
АхВ	6	5.50	<1
АхЕ	8	6.22	<1
ВхЕ	12	4.89	<1
АхВхЕ	23	5.65	<1
Error	571	6.32	

Table 137. Analysis of variance on item 25

^aF(.05) 2,571 = 3.01 > 1.35F(.05) 3,571 = 2.62 > 1.54F(.05) 4,571 = 2.39 > 1.26.

Table 138. Analysis of variance on item 26

Source of variation	df	MS	F ^a
Colleges (A)	2	1.83	<1
Donors (B))	3	6.10	<1
Eras (E)	4	5.25	<1
Interactions:			
Ахв	6	5.50	<1
АхЕ	8	3.83	<1
ВхЕ	12	9.95	1.41
АхВхЕ	2	4.89	<1
Error	57	7.08	-

,

^aF(.05) 12,571 = 1.77 > 1.41.

Source of variation	df	MS	F ^a
Colleges (A)	2	1.16	
Donors (B)	3	2.54	1.14
Eras (E)	4	3.86	1.74
Interactions:			
АхВ	6	2.33	1.05
АхЕ	8	1.43	<1
ВхЕ	12	2.27	1.02
АхВхЕ	23	1.83	<1
Error	571	2.22	

^aF(.05) 3,571 = 2.62 > 1.14F(.05) 4,571 = 2.39 > 1.74F(.05) 6,571 = 2.11 > 1.05F(.05) 12,571 = 1.77 > 1.02.

Table 140. Analysis of variance on item 31

Colleges (A)	2	2.90	1.12
Donors (B)	3	3.98	1.54
Eras (E)	4	0.70	<1
Interactions:			
АхВ	6	3.22	1.25
АхЕ	8	3.32	1.29
ВхЕ	12	3.36	1.30
АхВхЕ	23	1.93	<1
Error	571	2.58	

^aF(.05) 2,571 = 3.01 > 1.12 F(.05) 3,571 = 2.62 > 1.54 F(.05) 6,571 = 2.11 > 1.25 F(.05) 8,571 = 1.96 > 1.29 F(.05) 12,571 = 1.77 > 1.30.

Source of variation	df	MS	$\mathbf{F}^{\mathbf{a}}$
Colleges (A)	2	1.82	<1
Donors (B)	3	2.46	1.31
Eras (E)	4	1.15	<1
Interactions:			
АхВ	6	1.55	<1
АхЕ	8	1.49	<1
ВхЕ	12	1.33	<1
АхВхЕ	23	1.42	<1
Error	571	1.88	

Table 141. Analysis of variance on item 35

^aF(.05) 3,571 = 2.62 > 1.31.

Table 142. Analysis of variance on item 36

Source of variation	df	MS	F ^a
Colleges (A)	2	3.18	<1
Donors (B)	3	3.55	<1
Eras (E)	4	6.46	1.40
Interactions:			
АхВ	6	6.22	1.35
AxE	8	8.25	1.79
ВхЕ	12	7.47	1.62
АхвхЕ	23	3.85	<1
Error	571	4.60	

 a F(.05) 4,571 = 2.39 > 1.40 F(.05) 6,571 = 2.11 > 1.35 F(.05) 8,571 = 1.96 > 1.79 F(.05) 12,571 = 1.77 > 1.62.

Source of variation	df	MS	$\mathbf{F}^{\mathbf{a}}$
Colleges (A)	2	4.98	2,02
Donors (B)	3	0.95	<1
Eras (E)	4	2.28	<1
Interactions:			
АхВ	6	2.32	<1
АхЕ	8	3.07	1.25
ВхЕ	12	2.69	1.09
АхВхЕ	23	2.41	<1
Error	571	2.46	

Table 143. Analysis of variance on item 38

^aF(.05) 2,571 = 3.01 > 2.02F(.05) 8,571 = 1.96 > 1.25F(.05) 12,571 = 1.77 > 1.09.

Table 144. Analysis of variance on item 39

Source of variation	df	MS	F ^a
Colleges (A)	2	2.92	1.01
Donors (B)	3	1.79	<1
Eras (E)	4	4.60	1.60
Interactions:			
АхВ	6	2.58	<1
AxE	8	2.88	1.00
BxE	12	1.55	<1
АхвхЕ	23	2.87	<1
Error	571	2.88	

^aF(.05) 2,571 = 3.01 > 1.01F(.05) 4,571 = 2.39 > 1.60F(.05) 8,571 = 1.96 > 1.00.

Source of variation	df	MS	F ^a
Colleges (A)	2	0.33	<1
Donors (B)	3	0.68	<1
Eras (E)	4	1.39	<1
Interactions:			
АхВ	6	0.68	<1
АхЕ	8	1.82	<1
ВхЕ	12	1.28	<1
АхВхЕ	23	2.26	1.22
Error	571	1.85	

Table 145. Analysis of variance on item 40

^aF(.05) 23,571 = 1.55 > 1.22.

Table 146. Analysis of variance on item 41

Source of variation	df	MS	$\mathbf{F}^{\mathbf{a}}$
Colleges (A)	2	4.46	2.15
Donors (B)	3	2.00	<1
Eras (E)	4	3.14	1.52
Interactions:			
АхВ	6	1.11	<1
АхЕ	8	3.45	1.67
ВхЕ	12	1.53	<1
АхВхЕ	23	2.55	1.23
Error	571	2.07	
			<u></u>

^aF(.05) 2,571 = 3.01 > 2.15F(.05) 4,571 = 2.39 > 1.52F(.05) 8,571 = 1.96 > 1.67F(.05) 23,571 = 1.55 > 1.23.

Source of variation	df	MS	F ^a
Colleges (A)	2	21.30	2.72
Donors (B)	3	12.08	1.54
Eras (E)	4	10.52	1.34
Interactions:			
АхВ	6	8.78	1.12
АхЕ	8	8.15	1.04
ВхЕ	12	9.31	1.19
АхвхЕ	23	9,59	1.22
Error	571	7.83	

Table 147. Analysis of variance on item 45

^aF(.05) 2,571 = 3.01 > 2.72 F(.05) 3,571 = 2.62 > 1.54 F(.05) 4,571 = 2.39 > 1.34 F(.05) 6,571 = 2.11 > 1.12 F(.05) 8,571 = 1.96 > 1.04 F(.05) 12,571 = 1.77 > 1.19 F(.05) 23,571 = 1.55 > 1.22.

Table 148. Analysis of variance on item 50

Source of variation	df	MS	Fa
Colleges (A)	2	0.37	<1
Donors (B)	3	2.80	1.85
Eras (E)	4	3.12	2.07
Interactions:			
АхВ	6	1.58	1.05
АхЕ	8	1.67	1.11
ВхЕ	12	1.39	<1
АхвхЕ	23	0.96	<1
Error	571	1.51	

 a F(.05) 3,571 = 2.62 > 1.85 F(.05) 4,571 = 2.39 > 2.07 F(.05) 6,571 = 2.11 > 1.05 F(.05) 8,571 = 1.96 > 1.11.

Source of variation	df	MS	F ^a
Colleges (A)	2	11.76	1.98
Donors (B)	3	5.02	<1
Eras (E)	4	10.76	1.81
Interactions:			
АхВ	6	3.10	<1
АхЕ	8	7.24	1.22
ВхЕ	12	5.02	<1
АхВхЕ	23	5.81	<1
Error	571	5.94	

Table 149. Analysis of variance on item 54

^aF(.05) 2,571 = 3.01 > 1.98F(.05) 4,571 = 2.39 > 1.81F(.05) 8,571 = 1.96 > 1.22.

Table 150. Analysis of variance on item 56

Source of variation	df	MS	F ^a
Colleges (A)	2	2.28	<1
Donors (B)	3	1.53	<1
Eras (E)	4	1.79	<1
Interactions:			
АхВ	6	5.78	1.41
АхЕ	8	3.99	<1
ВхЕ	12	1.43	<1
АхВхЕ	23	2.35	<1
Error	571	4.10	

^aF(.05) 6,571 = 2.11 > 1.41.

Source of variation	df	MS	F ^a
Colleges (A)	2	7.77	1.37
Donors (B)	3	8.11	1.43
Eras (E)	4	2.52	<1
Interactions:			
АхВ	6	6.46	1.14
АхЕ	8	7.18	1.27
ВхЕ	12	9.24	1.63
АхвхЕ	23	4.29	<1
Error	571	5.67	

Table 151. Analysis of variance on item 60

^aF(.05) 2,571 = 3.01 > 1.37 F(.05) 3,571 = 2.62 > 1.43 F(.05) 6,571 = 2.11 > 1.1 F(.05) 8,571 = 1.96 > 1.27 F(.05) 12,571 = 1.77 > 1.63.

Table 152. Analysis of variance on item 66

Source of variation	df	MS	F ^a
Colleges (A)	2	1.41	
Donors (B)	3	7.44	1.55
Eras (E)	4	8.36	1.74
Interactions:			
АхВ	6	2.85	<1
AxE	8	3.34	<1
ВхЕ	12	4.26	<1
АхвхЕ	23	4.78	<1
Error	571	4.80	

^aF(.05) 3,571 = 2.62 > 1.55 F(.05) 4,571 = 2.39 > 1.74.

Source of variation	df	MS	F ^a
Colleges (A)	2	0.14	
Donors (B)	3	2.18	<1
Eras (E)	4	7.31	2.19
Interactions:			
АхВ	6	2.20	<1
АхЕ	8	1.53	<1
ВхЕ	12	3.82	1.14
АхвхЕ	23	3.22	<1
Error	571	3.34	-

Table 153. Analysis of variance on item 69

^aF(.05) 4,571 = 2.39 > 2.19 F(.05) 12,571 = 1.77 > 1.14.

Table 154. Analysis of variance on item 72

Source of variation	df	MS	F ^a
Colleges (A)	2	3.87	
Donors (B)	3	3.53	<1
Eras (E)	4	7.32	1.02
Interactions:			
АхВ	6	7.87	1.09
AxE	8	6.06	<1
ВхЕ	12	3.80	<1
АхвхЕ	23	7.60	1.05
Error	571	7.21	

^aF(.05) 4,571 = 2.39 > 1.02F(.05) 6,571 = 2.11 > 1.09F(.05) 23,571 = 1.55 > 1.05.

Source of variation	df	MS	F ^a
Colleges (A)	2	12.86	2.20
Donors (B)	3	3.67	<1
Eras (E)	4	4.03	<1
Interactions:			
АхВ	6	10.91	1.87
АхЕ	8	4.83	<1
ВхЕ	12	4.87	<1
АхВхЕ	23	3.00	<1
Error	571	5.84	

Table 155. Analysis of variance on item 73

 a F(.05) 2,571 = 3.01 > 2.20 F(.05) 6,571 = 2.11 > 1.87.

Table 156. Analysis of variance on item 74

df	MS	F ^a	
2	0.70	<1	
3	4.36	2.07	
4	2.70	1.28	
6	0.85	<1	
8	0.69	<1	
12	0.69	<1	
23	1.93	<1	
571	2.11		
	df 2 3 4 6 8 12 23 571	df MS 2 0.70 3 4.36 4 2.70 6 0.85 8 0.69 12 0.69 23 1.93 571 2.11	

^aF(.05) 3,571 = 2.62 > 2.07 F(.05) 4,571 = 2.39 > 1.28.

Source of variation	df	MS	F ^a
Colleges (A)	2	1.41	<1
Donors (B)	3	8.56	2.22
Eras (E)	4	4.55	1.18
Interactions:			
АхВ	6	3.55	<1
АхЕ	8	1.41	<1
ВхЕ	12	2.10	<1
АхвхЕ	23	5.66	1.47
Error	571	3.85	

Table 157. Analysis of variance on item 75

^aF(.05) 3,571 = 2.62 > 2.22 F(.05) 4,571 = 2.39 > 1.18 F(.05) 23,571 = 1.55 > 1.47.

Table 158. Analysis of variance on item 80

Source of variation	df	MS	F ^a
Colleges (A)	2	2.22	<1
Donors (B)	3	0.84	<1
Eras (E)	4	6.44	1.41
Interactions:			
АхВ	6	5.71	1.25
AxE	8	1.55	<1
ВхЕ	12	2.56	<1
АхВхЕ	23	5.06	1.11
Error	571	4.57	

^aF(.05) 4,571 = 2.39 > 1.41F(.05) 6,571 = 2.11 > 1.25F(.05) 23,571 = 1.55 > 1.11.

Source of variation	df	MS	F ^a
Colleges (A)	2	0.03	<1
Donors (B)	3	11.91	2.26
Eras (E)	4	3.92	<1
Interactions:			
АхВ	6	1.60	<1
ΑχΕ	8	7.25	1.37
ВхЕ	12	6.28	1.19
АхВхЕ	23	3.48	<1
Error	571	5.28	

Table 159. Analysis of variance on item 83

^aF(.05) 3,571 = 2.62 > 2.26 F(.05) 8,571 = 1.96 > 1.37 F(.05) 12,571 = 1.77 > 1.19

Table 160. Analysis of variance on item 85

Source of variation	df	MS	F ^a
Colleges (A)	2	0.07	<1
Donors (B)	3	8.34	2.07
Eras (E)	4	2.23	<1
Interactions:			
A x B	6	3.23	<1
АхЕ	8	6.42	1.60
ВхЕ	12	6.59	1.64
АхВхЕ	23	3.71	<1
Error	571	4.02	

 a F(.05) 3,571 = 2.62 > 2.07 F(.05) 8,571 = 1.96 > 1.60 F(.05) 12,571 = 1.77 > 1.64.

Source of variation	df	MS	F ^a
Colleges (A)	2	31.37	
Donors (B)	3	105.21	1.32
Eras (E)	4	98.68	1.24
Interactions:			
АхВ	6	28.50	<1
АхЕ	8	78.56	<1
ВхЕ	12	100.10	1.26
АхВхЕ	23	66.46	<1
Error	490	79.61	

Table 161. Analysis of variance on item 94

^aF(.05) 3,571 = 2.62 > 1.32F(.05) 4,571 = 2.39 > 1.24F(.05) 12,571 = 1.78 > 1.26.

Table 162. Analysis of variance on item 95

Source of variation	df	MS	F ^a
Colleges (A)	2	173.33	2.94
Donors (B)	3	118.38	2.01
Eras (E)	4	75.52	1.28
Interactions:			
АхВ	6	51.42	<1
АхЕ	8	63.77	1.08
ВхЕ	12	115.81	1.96*
АхВхЕ	23	84.80	1.43
Error	490	58.97	

^aF(.05) 2,571 = 3.02 > 2.94F(.05) 3,571 = 2.62 > 2.01F(.05) 4,571 = 2.39 > 1.28F(.05) 8,571 = 1.96 > 1.08F(.05) 23,571 = 1.55 > 1.43. *F(.05) 12,571 = 1.78 < 1.96, p<.05.

Source of variation	df	MS	F
Colleges (A)	2	2.64	<1
Donors (B)	3	0.25	<1
Eras (E)	4	4.41	<1
Interactions:			
АхВ	6	3.89	<1
АхЕ	8	3.24	<1
ВхЕ	12	4.27	<1
АхВхЕ	23	4.91	<1
Error	490		

Table 163. Analysis of variance on item 96

Table 164. Analysis of variance on item 100

Source of variation	df	MS	F ^a
Colleges (A)	2	2.56	<1
Donors (B)	3	6.62	< ↓
Eras (E)	4	18.19	2.14
Interactions:			
АхВ	6	10.59	1.24
АхЕ	8	8.99	1.06
ВхЕ	12	19.97	2.35*
АхВхЕ	23	5.79	<1
Error	490	8.51	

 a F(.05) 4,571 = 2.39 > 2.14 F(.05) 6,571 = 2.12 > 1.24 F(.05) 8,571 = 1.96 > 1.06.

*F(.01) 12,571 = 2.23 < 2.35, p<.01.

APPENDIX F

-.

			Co11	ege		
Item	Corn	el1	Dra	ke	Iowa	State
no.	Mean	S.D.	Mean	S.D.	Mean	S.D.
1	7.85	1.62	7.63	1.76	7.67	1.68
2	7.94	1.82	8.00	1.62	8.00	1.57
3	7.35	1.85	7.10	1.82	6.77	1.85
4 [·]	7.53	1.85	7.02	2.14	7.00	2.18
5	7.37	1.80	7.04	1.82	7.00	1.95
6	7.55	1.75	7.36	1.94	7.40	1.74
7	5.80	2.47	5.58	2.52	5. 2 7	2.50
8	8.68	1.09	8.82	0.66	8.43	1.28

Table 165. Means and standard deviations of responses on items 1 through 8 by college

Table 166. Means and standard deviations of responses on items 1 through 8 by donor classification

Item	Ma	jor	Conse	cutive	Non-cons	secutive	Non-	donor
no.	Mean	S.D.	Mean	S.D.	Mean	S.D.	Mean	S.D.
1	7.49	2.00	7.83	1.40	7.71	1.63	7.75	1.81
2	7.78	1.65	8.07	1.60	7.92	1.82	8.10	1.55
3	6.77	1.99	7.09	1.60	7.13	1.87	7.20	2.01
4	7.30	1.98	7.45	1.85	6.92	2.20	7.05	2.24
5	6.99	2.04	7.27	1.63	7.08	1.85	7.15	2.02
6	7.32	1.71	7.58	1.72	7.26	1.94	7.56	1.80
7	5.50	2.55	5.68	2.39	5.60	2.52	5.32	2.61
8	8.73	1.01	8.70	0.84	8.55	1.29	8.57	1.06

Item	Pre-1	L930	1930)-39	1940)-49	1950)-59	1960)-68
no.	Mean	S.D.	Mean	S.D.	Mean	S.D.	Mean	S.D.	Mean	S.D.
1	7.61	1.82	7.69	1.49	7.78	1.59	7.78	1.71	7.75	1.83
2	8.00	1.63	8.26	1.36	7.95	1.79	7.97	1.67	7.67	1.84
3	6.61	1.96	7.04	1.77	7.20	2.00	7.13	1.74	7.45	1.64
4	7.30	1.92	7.18	2.16	7.20	1.91	6.78	2.31	7.41	2.09
5	6.86	2.04	7.13	1.78	7.11	1.92	7.22	1.88	7.43	1.61
6	7.59	1.61	7.37	1.91	7.44	1.85	7.41	1.87	7.34	1.83
7	5.74	2.44	5.57	2.53	5.32	2.49	5.48	2.63	5.57	2.46
8	8.66	1.04	8.49	1.33	8.71	1.03	8.75	0.72	8.57	1.09

Table 167. Means and standard deviations of responses on items 1 through 8 by era of graduation

.

Table 168. Means and standard deviations of responses on items 9 through 11 by college

			Co11	ege		
Item	Corn	e11	Dra	ke	Iowa	State
no.	Mean	S.D.	Mean	S.D.	Mean	S.D.
9	4.57	2.73	4.64	2.88	3.75	2.58
10	3.95	2.26	4.32	2.33	4.54	2.43
11	5.41	2.21	6.00	2.11	5.52	2.29

			De	onor clas	sification	1		
Item	Ма	jor	Conse	cutive	Non-cons	secutive	Non-o	lonor
no.	Mean	S.D.	Mean	S.D.	Mean	S.D.	Mean	S.D.
9	4.79	2.89	4.20	2.62	4.10	2.65	4.25	2.90
10	3.99	2.49	4.11	2.44	4.41	2.23	4.58	2.27
11	5.50	2.31	5.49	2.20	5.77	2.20	5.79	2.19

Table 169. Means and standard deviations of responses on items 9 through 11 by donor classification

Table 170. Means and standard deviations of responses on items 9 through 11 by era of graduation

				Era	a of gra	aduation	n			
Item	Pre-	1930	1930)-39	1940)-49	1950	0-59	1960-68	
no.	Mean	S.D.	Mean	S.D.	Mean	S.D.	Mean	S.D.	Mean	S.D.
9	4.68	2.85	4.39	2.88	4.28	2.65	4.01	2.85	4.01	2.47
10	4.64	2.48	4.33	2.37	4.17	2.31	3.97	2.26	4.21	2.32
11	5.75	2.20	5.62	2.33	5.74	2.21	5.56	2.30	5.48	2.06

	College									
Item	Corn	ell	Dra	ke	Iowa	State				
no.	Mean	S.D.	Mean	S.D.	Mean	S.D.				
12	4.75	2.67	4.77	2.69	4.33	2.62				
13	6.09	2.36	6.37	2.27	6.41	2.28				
14	6.59	1.92	6.36	1.99	6.52	2.08				
15	5.70	2.45	5.41	2.59	6.44	2.32				
16	7.90	1.53	7.79	1.54	8.06	1.29				
17	7.93	1.58	7.96	1.67	8.10	1.45				
18	5.37	2.76	5,80	2.70	6.77	2.23				
19	4.45	2.62	4.39	2.75	4.48	2.58				
20	5.28	2.52	5.08	2.72	4.48	2.47				
21	6.01	2.49	5.71	2.74	4.76	2.53				

Table 171. Means and standard deviations of responses on items 12 through 21 by college

Table 172. Means and standard deviations of responses on items 12 through 21 by donor classification

	Donor classification											
ltem	Ma	jor	Consec	cutive	Non-cons	Becutive	Non-o	lonor				
no.	Mean	S.D.	Mean	S.D.	Mean	S.D.	Mean	S.D.				
12	4.35	2.82	4.50	2.63	4.75	2.59	4.78	2.67				
13	5.86	2.53	6.20	2.26	6.48	2.19	6.53	2.27				
14	6.64	2.07	6.47	1.92	6.49	2.05	6.38	1.97				
15	5.59	2.73	5.90	2.40	5.93	2.46	6.00	2.41				
16	7.98	1.58	7.96	1.32	7.87	1.46	7.89	1.52				
17	8.24	1.36	7.98	1.49	7.99	1.56	7.84	1.78				
18	5.83	2.64	6.10	2.60	5.97	2.65	6.08	2.63				
19	4.14	2.70	4.61	2.60	4.50	2.73	4.40	2.56				
20	4.28	2.68	4.97	2.61	5.13	2.52	5.17	2.50				
21	5.04	2.66	5.41	2.59	5.71	2.69	5.58	2.60				
_												

.

Item	Pre-1	L930	1930)-39	1940)-49	1950-59		1960-68	
no.	Mean	S.D.	Mean	S.D.	Mean	S.D.	Mean	S.D.	Mean	S.D.
12	4.61	2.71	4.17	2.37	4.41	2.80	4.70	2.68	5.21	2.66
13	6.13	2.32	5.99	2.33	6.09	2.31	6.46	2.36	6.90	2.09
14	6.72	1.99	6.35	2.03	6.35	2.01	6.34	2.08	6.65	1.86
15	5.99	2.59	5.91	2.50	5.85	2.37	6.12	2.43	5.45	2.50
16	7.81	1.60	7.93	1.35	7.92	1.49	8.03	1.49	7.97	1.30
17	8.12	1.42	8.07	1.49	8.23	1.32	7.96	1.67	7.55	1.86
18	6.20	2.47	6.32	2.57	5.87	2.85	6.28	2.52	5.27	2.61
19	4.83	2.69	4.28	2.64	4.26	2.68	4.56	2.67	4.21	2.52
20	5.24	2.61	4.88	2.51	4.68	2.65	4.62	2.56	5.19	2.58
21	5.81	2.64	5.48	2.51	5.45	2.75	5.13	2.62	5.37	2.66

Table 173. Means and standard deviations of responses on items 12 through 21 by era of graduation

Table 174. Means and standard deviations of responses on items 22 through 26 by college

	College								
Item	Corn	e11	Dra	ke	Iowa	State			
no.	Mean	S.D.	Mean	S.D.	Mean	S.D.			
22	6.21	2.32	6.26	2.41	6.24	2.35			
23	7.45	2.02	7.18	2.17	6.87	2.21			
24	6.70	2.15	6.53	2.18	6.34	2.06			
25	6.23	2.49	5.82	2.48	6.04	2.54			
26	5.60	2.48	5.73	2.66	5.78	2.76			

and the second second

	Donor classification										
Item	Ma	Major		Consecutive		Becutive	Non-donor				
no.	Mean	S.D.	Mean	S.D.	Mean	S.D.	Mean	S.D.			
22	6.33	2.39	6.11	2.44	6.21	2.39	6.37	2.18			
23	6.76	2.29	7.16	2.12	7.27	2.03	7.33	2.19			
24	6.40	2.38	6.48	2.03	6.47	2.11	6.71	2.05			
2 5	5.62	2.67	6.03	2.33	6.25	2.47	6.10	2.64			
26	5.38	2.62	5.7 2	2.63	5.76	2.65	5.89	2.66			

Table 175. Means and standard deviations of responses on items 22 through 26 by donor classification

Table 176. Means and standard deviations of responses on items 22 through 26 by era of graduation

	Era of graduation											
Item	Pre-1	1930	1930)-39	1940	1940-49)-59	1960-68			
no.	Mean	S.D.	Mean	S.D.	Mean	S.D.	Mean	S.D.	Mean	S.D.		
22	6.39	2.19	6.16	2.54	6.19	2.43	6.39	2.23	6.03	2.39		
23	7.05	2.14	7.00	2.32	7.35	2.03	7.16	2.03	7.25	2.22		
24	6.81	1.99	6.19	2.28	6.40	2.25	6.58	1.92	6.57	2.15		
25	5.74	2.43	5.93	2.53	6.13	2.64	6.03	2.49	6.42	2.44		
26	5.82	2.65	5.77	2.53	5.36	2.71	5. 8 8	2.65	5.70	2.65		

	College									
Item	Corn	e11	Dra	ke	Iowa State					
no.	Mean	S.D.	Mean	S.D.	Mean	S.D.				
27	8.15	1.64	7.96	1.76	7.88	1.63				
28	7.73	1.79	7.29	1.93	7.42	1.96				
29	8.15	1.41	8.02	1.63	8.14	1.42				
30	7.37	1.85	7.13	2.14	7.12	1.93				
31	7.87	1. 6 4	7.83	1.80	8.05	1.39				
32	7.55	1.89	6.92	2.26	7.24	2.13				
33	7.52	1.93	6.84	2.35	6.39	2.40				
34	5.69	2. 62	5.68	2.61	5.16	2.71				
35	8.41	1.30	8.30	1.37	8.23	1.39				
36	7.16	2.10	6.95	2.25	7.17	2.15				
37	7.70	1.72	7.46	1.89	7.78	1.50				
38	8.04	1.65	7.88	1.74	8.18	1.31				
39	7.99	1.66	7.76	1.78	7.80	1.64				
40	8.29	1.39	8.27	1.55	8.35	1.12				
41	8.37	1.34	8.08	1.70	8.27	1.28				
42	6.31	2.41	5.63	2.63	5.84	2.67				

Table 177. Means and standard deviations of responses on items 27 through 42 by college

Table 178. Means and standard deviations of responses on items 27 through 42 by donor classification

	Donor classification											
Item	Ma	jor	Consec	cutive	Non-cons	Becutive	Non-o	lonor				
no.	Mean	S.D.	Mean	S.D.	Mean	S.D.	Mean	S.D.				
27	8.35	1.41	8.16	1.54	7.79	1.81	7.59	1.80				
28	7.89	1.63	7.59	1.84	7.32	2.08	7.19	1.92				
29	8.14	1.44	8.16	1.42	7.93	1.69	8.21	1.34				
30	7.31	1.96	7.44	1.89	7.16	2.00	6.88	2.04				
31	8.11	1.54	8.02	1.50	7.74	1.80	7.87	1.53				
32	7.48	2.11	7.55	1.88	7.10	2.26	6.82	2.14				
33	7.15	2.30	7.36	1.99	6.7 2	2.33	6.32	2.45				
34	5.95	2.66	5.37	2.80	5.46	2.52	5.32	2.62				
35	8.26	1.52	8.48	1.09	8.22	1.43	8.25	1.43				
36	7.32	2.10	7.06	2.01	7.13	2.31	6.93	2.23				
37	7.85 -	1.61	7.69	1.53	7.57	1.84	7.54	1.81				
38	8.08	1.63	8.08	1.43	7.93	1.72	8.08	1.51				
39	7.86	1.79	7.93	1.57	7.89	1.64	7.69	1.83				
40	8.36	1.30	8.36	1.30	8.24	1.44	8.27	1.37				
41	8.14	1.46	8.36	1.32	8.27	1.41	8.12	1.63				
42	5.80	2.58	5.88	2.48	5.99	2.61	5.96	2.71				

Item	Pre-	L930	1930-39		1940-49		<u> 1950-59</u>		<u> 1960-68</u>	
no.	Mean	S.D.	Mean	S.D.	Mean	S.D.	Mean	S.D.	Mean	S.D.
27	8.39	1.31	8.25	1.39	7.71	1.87	7.73	1.84	7.59	1.85
28	8.15	1.45	7.89	1.72	7.12	1.98	6.99	2.09	7.06	2.02
29	8.15	1.51	8.32	1.30	7.98	1.53	8.18	1.45	7.87	1.61
30	7.49	1.86	7.12	2.08	7.25	1.93	7.41	1.89	6.68	2.06
31	7.94	1.59	7.98	1.54	7.80	1.64	7.92	1.72	7.97	1.57
32	7.25	2.14	7.01	2.26	7.31	2.00	7.43	2.12	7.20	2.03
33	7.11	2.27	6.56	2.45	7.00	2.21	6.87	2.36	6.89	2.14
34	6.15	2.57	5.63	2.57	4.80	2.73	5.65	2.73	5.15	2.50
35	8.17	1.61	8.42	1.26	8.36	1.20	8.32	1.41	8.31	1.22
36	7.40	2.07	7.15	2.17	6.81	2.29	7.09	2.16	6.99	2.14
37	7.99	1.58	7.69	1.72	7.32	1.81	7.64	1.72	7.58	1.65
38	8.26	1.41	7.98	1.73	7.95	1.61	8.02	1.53	7.96	1.57
39	7.95	1.70	7.60	1.85	7.88	1.59	8.10	1.43	7.72	1.83
40	8.25	1.43	8.17	1.57	8.36	1.24	8.30	1.44	8.45	0.99
41	8.27	1.38	7.98	1.81	8.25	1.35	8.34	1.52	8.39	1.05
42	6.58	2.40	5.83	2.62	5.57	2.50	5.65	2.77	5.82	2.56

Table 179. Means and standard deviations of responses on items 27 through 42 by era of graduation

Table 180. Means and standard deviations of responses on items 43, 44, 53, 54, and 55 by college

	College									
Item	Corn	e11	Dra	ke	Iowa State					
no.	Mean	S.D.	Mean	S.D.	Mean	S.D.				
43	4.97	2.45	5.64	2.55	5.14	2.55				
44	8.13	1.33	7.98	1.46	8.10	1.29				
53	6.10	2.44	6.23	2.87	6.80	2.53				
54	6.53	2.17	6.44	2.58	6.09	2.53				
55	4.84	1.98	4.05	2.38	3.97	2.09				

	Donor classification									
Item	Ma	jor	Consec	Consecutive		secutive	Non-o	lonor		
no.	Mean	S.D.	Mean	S.D.	Mean	S.D.	Mean	S.D.		
43	5.50	2.60	5.47	2.42	5.04	2.48	4.99	2.64		
44	8.15	1.17	8.20	1.22	7.91	1.55	8.03	1.41		
53	6.37	2.76	6.73	2.39	6.10	2.76	6.35	2.64		
54	6.33	2.52	6.52	2.26	6.12	2.54	6.40	2.48		
55	3.83	2.26	4.56	2.16	4.26	2.10	4.29	2.21		

Table 181. Means and standard deviations of responses on items 43, 44, 53, 54, and 55 by donor classification

Table 182. Means and standard deviations of responses on items 43, 44, 53, 54, and 55 by era of graduation

	Era of graduation											
Item	Pre-1	L930	1930)-39	1940)-49	1950)-59	1960-68			
no.	Mean	S.D.	Mean	S.D.	Mean	S.D.	Mean	S.D.	Mean	S.D.		
43	5.90	2.45	5.31	2.55	5.10	2.56	4.89	2.52	4.85	2.45		
44	8.43	1.03	8.17	1.17	8.01	1.25	7.74	1.85	7.91	1.37		
53	7.04	2.57	6.54	2.73	5.91	2.65	6.35	2.71	6.00	2.34		
54	6.44	2.42	6.02	2.53	6.52	2.32	6.03	2.80	6.69	2.03		
55	3.99	2.20	4.38	2.26	4.14	2.12	4.08	2.30	4.88	1.94		

	College									
Item	Corn	e11	Dra	ke	Iowa	State				
no.	Mean	S.D.	Mean	S.D.	Mean	S. D.				
45	5.25	2.93	5.90	2.74	5.55	2.80				
46	5.94	2.78	6.69	2.58	6.56	2.49				
47	8.14	1.40	8.19	1.40	8.04	1.48				
48	8.18	1.46	8.46	1.54	8.30	1.59				
49	6.40	2.27	6.79	2.30	6.66	2.23				
50	8.51	1.05	8.43	1.38	8.48	1.23				
51	8.18	1.31	8.19	1.39	7.98	1.49				
52	6.74	2.58	6.13	2.91	5.91	2.87				
				<u></u>						

Table 183. Means and standard deviations of responses on items 45 through 52 by college

Table 184. Means and standard deviations of responses on items 45 through 52 by donor classification

Item no.	Ma	jor	Conse	cutive	Non-cons	secutive	Non-donor	
	Mean	S.D.	Mean	S.D.	Mean	S.D.	Mean	S.D.
45	5.69	2.90	5.56	2.80	5.22	2.86	5.88	2.77
46	6.79	2.51	6.27	2.61	6.11	2.70	6.61	2.64
47	8.37	1.07	8.29	1.22	7.97	1.56	7.89	1.69
48	8.69	1.15	8.27	1.37	8.26	1.61	8.12	1.85
49	6.96	2.03	6.74	2.10	6.25	2.52	6.64	2.30
50	8.71	0.95	8.40	1.26	8.40	1.42	8.47	1.12
51	8.53	0.80	8.27	1.16	7.79	1.80	7.97	1.40
52	6.56	2.72	6.04	2.92	6.15	2.85	6.40	2.70

.

ltem no.	Pre-1930		1930)-39	1940)-49	1950)-59	1960-68	
	Mean	S.D.	Mean	S.D.	Mean	S.D.	Mean	S.D.	Mean	S.D.
45	5.78	2.81	5.65	2.89	5.50	2.86	5.76	2.92	5.05	2.65
46	6.68	2.48	6.29	2.75	6.52	2.61	6.61	2.57	5.81	2.70
47	8.33	1.14	8.09	1.43	7.91	1.77	8.28	1.28	7.98	1.43
48	8.42	1.57	8.28	1.45	8.17	1.75	8.39	1.44	8.29	1.44
49	7.09	1.85	6.43	2.29	6.67	2.40	6.80	2.30	5.98	2.40
50	8.69	1.08	8.39	1.25	8.52	1.28	8.44	1.11	8.27	1.40
51	8.37	1.08	8.13	1.38	8.02	1.51	8.25	1.26	7.73	1.69
52	6.10	2.87	6.24	2.75	6.20	3.04	6.37	2.86	6.39	2.51

Table 185. Means and standard deviations of responses on items 45 through 52 by era of graduation

Table 186. Means and standard deviations of responses on items 56 through 63 by college

	College									
Item	Corn	ell	Dra	ke	Iowa	State				
no.	Mean	S.D.	Mean	S.D.	Mean	S. D.				
56	7.17	1.99	7.38	2.00	7.30	1.99				
57	5.30	2.55	4.74	2.43	5.07	2.30				
58	5.66	2.26	5.04	2.50	4.39	2.52				
59	6.18	2.04	6.43	2.21	5.80	2.24				
60	4.63	2.31	4.57	2.49	4.92	2.37				
61	6.08	2.20	5.73	2.22	6.27	2.01				
62	7.28	1.75	6.30	2.03	6.91	1.99				
63	6.67	1.95	6.05	2.05	6.03	2.06				

Item	Ma	jor	Consec	cutive	Non-cons	secutive	Non-donor	
no.	Mean	S.D.	Mean	S.D.	Mean	S.D.	Mean	S.D.
56	7.43	1.93	7.21	1.94	7.22	2.06	7.33	2.03
57	5.05	2.42	5.43	2.42	5.10	2.38	4.47	2.43
58	4.56	2.47	5.15	2.50	4.87	2.45	5.37	2.47
59	6.45	2.16	6.18	2.06	5.84	2.19	6.14	2.31
60	5.05	2.38	4.60	2.39	4.79	2.38	4.49	2.40
61	5.61	2.35	5.98	2.16	6.05	2.11	6.44	1.95
62	6.49	2.05	7.02	1.86	6.94	1.88	6.77	2.11
63	6.30	2.05	6.41	1.87	6.16	2.14	6.08	2.11

Table 187. Means and standard deviations of responses on items 56 through 63 by donor classification

Table 188. Means and standard deviations of responses on items 56 through 63 by era of graduation

Item no.	Pre-1930		1930)-39	1940)-49	1950-59		1960-68	
	Mean	S.D.	Mean	S.D.	Mean	S.D.	Mean	S.D.	Mean	S.D.
56	7.35	2.01	7.18	2.01	7.20	1.94	7.22	2.16	7.47	1.85
57	5.52	2.58	5.18	2.22	4.62	2.26	4.60	2.42	5.18	2.54
58	5.06	2.49	4.78	2.49	4.74	2.44	5.01	2.50	5.50	2.47
59	6.34	2.31	5.88	2.26	5.94	2.15	6.38	1.87	6.07	2.23
60	4.71	2.29	4.57	2.26	4.60	2.39	4.91	2.45	4.81	2.60
61	6.18	2.07	5.87	2.24	6.02	2.10	5.95	2.15	6.14	2.22
62	6.88	1.90	6.76	1.93	6.96	1.91	6.54	2.21	7.02	1.89
63	6.79	1.93	6.40	1.95	6.22	2.06	5.80	2.09	5.82	2.05

	College									
Item	Corn	el 1	Dra	ke	Iowa	State				
no.	Mean	S.D.	Mean	S.D.	Mean	S.D.				
64	6.10	1.95	6.10	2.24	5.93	2.12				
65	6.70	1.77	7.12	1.85	6.65	1.92				
66	6.19	2.00	6.27	2.42	6.11	2.13				

Table 189. Means and standard deviations of responses on items 64 through 66 by college

Table 190. Means and standard deviations of responses on items 64 through 66 by donor classification

Item no.	Donor classification										
	Major		Conse	Consecutive		secutive	Non-donor				
	Mean	S.D.	Mean	S.D.	Mean	S.D.	Mean	S.D.			
64	6.57	2.05	6.16	2.09	5.94	2.16	5.60	2.02			
65	6.72	2.08	6.75	1.87	6.94	1.83	6.81	1.70			
66	5.84	2.29	6.33	2.04	6.13	2.31	6.34	2.11			

	Era of graduation												
Item	Pre-	L930	1930	0-39	1940	0-49	1950) <u>-59</u>	1960-68				
no.	Mean	S.D.	Mean	S.D.	Mean	S.D.	Mean	S.D.	Mean	S.D.			
64	6.06	2.14	5.83	2.20	6.33	2.01	6.05	2.12	5.92	2.03			
65	6.95	1.92	6.89	1.81	6.66	1.98	6.64	1.94	6.91	1.60			
66	5.99	2.27	5.99	2.21	6.09	2.35	6.34	2.02	6.60	1.97			

Table 191. Means and standard deviations of responses on items 64 through 66 by era of graduation

Table 192. Means and standard deviations of responses on items 67 through 71 by college

	College									
Item	Corn	e11	Dra	ke	Iowa	State				
no.	Mean	S.D.	Mean	S.D.	Mean	S.D.				
67	4.76	1.71	4.73	2.11	4.91	1.66				
68	7.55	1.60	7.56	1.53	7.34	1.79				
69	6.37	1.68	6.43	2.01	6.40	1.78				
70	6.48	1.70	6.65	2.15	6.58	1.87				
71	6.49	1.76	6.61	1.88	6.76	1.89				

.

	Donor classification										
Item	Ma	Major		cutive	Non-cons	secutive	Non-donor				
no.	Mean	S.D.	Mean	S.D.	Mean	S.D.	Mean	S.D.			
67	4.87	2.12	4.86	1.73	4.72	1.79	4.79	1.77			
68	7.34	1.64	7.76	1.55	7.58	1.60	7.14	1.74			
69	6.58	2.04	6.35	1.78	6.30	1.79	6.45	1.73			
70	7.22	1.87	6.63	1.76	6.33	2.08	6.25	1.79			
71	7.31	1.77	6.60	1.76	6.46	1.93	6.28	1.78			

Table 193. Means and standard deviations of responses on items 67 through71 by donor classification

.....

Table 194. Means and standard deviations of responses on items 67 through 71 by era of graduation

		,		Era of graduation						
Item	Pre-	1930	1930)-39	1940)-49	1950)-59	1960-68	
no.	Mean	S.D.	Mean	S.D.	Mean	S.D.	Mean	S.D.	Mean	S.D.
67	5.21	1.90	4.90	1.65	4.67	1.91	4.59	1.84	4.54	1.75
68	7.53	1.69	7.54	1.56	7.52	1.67	7.35	1.80	7.49	1.45
69	6.75	1.91	6.36	1.74	6.25	1.88	6.15	1.82	6.46	1.70
70	6.97	1.92	6.68	1.87	6.46	1.75	6.13	2.18	6.51	1.72
71	6.88	1.91	6.75	1.83	6.47	1.80	6.36	1.91	6.58	1.74

ltem no.	College										
	Corn	ell	Dra	ke	Iowa	State					
	Mean	S.D.	Mean	S.D.	Mean	S.D.					
72	5.29	2.67	5.57	2.63	5.44	2.71					
73	5.83	2.50	6.26	2.33	6.26	2.36					
74	8.06	1.32	8.01	1.62	8.12	1.36					
75	7.67	1.86	7.73	1.99	7.57	2.04					
76	6.37	2.27	6.36	2.38	6.37	2.30					
77	8.18	1.24	7.94	1.78	7.75	1.92					
78	8.26	1.23	8.02	1.58	8.16	1.31					
78	8.26	1.23	8.02	1.58	8.16						

Table 195. Means and standard deviations of responses on items 72 through 78 by college.

Table 196. Means and standard deviations of responses on items 72 through 78 by donor classification

Item no.	Ma	lor	Conse	cutive	Non-cons	secutive	Non-donor	
	Mean	S.D.	Mean	S.D.	Mean	S.D.	Mean	S.D.
72	5.31	2.64	5.55	2.73	5.29	2.68	5.56	2.62
73	6.35	2.35	6.12	2.30	5.96	2.49	6.13	2.45
74	8.31	1.17	8.12	1.29	7 .9 9	1.48	7.89	1.70
75	8.04	1.80	7.66	1.84	7.46	2.06	7.58	2.12
76	6.78	2.03	6.36	2.26	6.17	2.49	6.29	2.36
77	8.31	1.25	7.66	1.82	8.02	1.66	7.94	1.80
78	8.44	0.98	8.21	1.22	8.07	1.45	7.93	1.69

	Era of graduation											
Item	Pre-	<u>1930 </u>	<u> </u>	<u>)-39</u>	<u> 194(</u>)-49	1950)-59		D-68		
no.	Mean	S.D.	Mean	S.D.	Mean	S.D.	Mean	S.D.	Mean	S.D.		
72	5 58	2 50	5 0/	2 63	5 51	2 60	5 65	2 01	5 37	2 63		
72	6 21	2.39	5 99	2.05	5.00	2.00	2.0J 6 27	2,71	5.57	2.05		
75	0.21	2.41	5.00	2.40	0.09	2.42	0.37	2.42	0.00	2.35		
/4	8.07	1.42	7.91	1.51	/.9/	1.52	8.30	1.36	8.11	1.32		
75	7.79	2.00	7.50	1.80	7.41	2.12	7.83	1.89	7.75	1.99		
76	6.70	2.01	6.25	2.22	6.35	2.45	6.63	2.39	5.83	2.47		
77	8.27	1.25	7.99	1.60	7.74	1.84	7.88	1.70	7.80	2.01		
78	8.33	1.09	8.12	1.38	8.07	1.45	8.24	1.42	7.95	1.56		

Table 197. Means and standard deviations of responses on items 72 through 78 by era of graduation

Table 198. Means and standard deviations of responses on items 80 through 86 by college

Item	College										
	Corn	e11	Dra	ke	Iowa	State					
no.	Mean	S.D.	Mean	S.D.	Mean	S.D.					
80	6.32	2.11	6.15	2.05	6.34	2.20					
81	5.36	2.23	5.66	2.20	5.20	2.14					
82	5.67	2.29	5.49	2.51	5.78	2.22					
83	6.79	2.26	6.80	2.33	6.81	2.28					
84	6.52	2.17	6.82	2.13	6.58	2.19					
85	7.09	1.97	7.07	2.08	7.06	2.01					
86	5.83	2.56	6.08	2.61	5.91	2.51					

Item	Major		Consec	Consecutive		secutive	Non-donor	
no.	Mean	S.D.	Mean	S.D.	Mean	S.D.	Mean	S.D.
80	6.26	2.31	6.30	2.04	6.18	2.09	6.36	2.14
81	5.38	2.44	5.63	2.09	5.31	2.18	5.22	2.13
82	5.24	2.53	5.59	2.22	5.58	2.44	6.15	2.12
83	6.95	2.19	7.02	2.27	6.44	2.44	6.84	2.14
84	7.21	1.79	6.74	2.05	6.25	2.37	6.53	2.25
85	6.97	1.85	6.93	2.02	7.01	2.23	7.43	1.86
86	7.06	2.14	5.95	2.60	5.33	2.51	5.75	2.59

Table 199. Means and standard deviations of responses on items 80 through 86 by donor classification

Table 200. Means and standard deviations of responses on items 80 through 86 by era of graduation

Item	Pre-	1930	1930)-39	1940)-49	1950)-59	1960-68	
no.	Mean	S.D.	Mean	S.D.	Mean	S.D.	Mean	S.D.	Mean	S.D.
80	6.53	2.07	6.45	1.89	6.02	2.27	6.20	2.19	6.10	2.20
81	5.75	2.21	5.70	2.21	5.26	2.25	5.05	2.13	5.11	2.09
82	6.09	2.34	5.74	2. 2 0	5.54	2.46	5.63	2.44	5.13	2.17
83	7.02	2.13	6.85	2.42	6.81	2.25	6.68	2.44	6.56	2.21
84	6.35	2.10	6.50	2.16	6.76	2.00	6.74	2.42	6.93	2.16
85	7.18	1.77	6.97	1.85	7.12	2.09	6.89	2.34	7.20	2.08
86	6.08	2.48	6.10	2.41	5.67	2.68	5.67	2.67	6.14	2.54

	College									
Item no.	Corn	e11	Dra	ke	Iowa	State				
	Mean	S.D.	Mean	S.D.	Mean	S.D.				
87	8.12	1.40	7.94	1.52	8.00	1.37				
88	6.43	1.98	6.65	2.22	6.55	1.70				
89	5.95	2.13	5.54	2.04	5.81	2.18				
90	7.04	1.77	6.43	2.08	6.60	1.95				
91	6.25	1.78	6.24	2.13	6.50	1.98				
92	7.99	1.40	7.80	1.56	8.10	1.32				

Table 201. Means and standard deviations of responses on items 87 through 92 by college

Table 202. Means and standard deviations of responses on items 87 through 92 by donor classification

	Donor classification										
Item	Ma	Major		cutive	Non-cons	secutive	Non-donor				
no.	Mean	S.D.	Mean	S.D.	Mean	S.D.	Mean	S.D.			
87	8.30	1.20	8.11	1.34	7.94	1.49	7.76	1.58			
88	6.85	1.80	6.28	1.90	6.34	2.22	6.88	1.78			
89	5.87	2.30	6.11	1.81	5.77	2.15	5.24	2.23			
90	6.61	1.87	6.96	1.77	6.62	1.96	6.48	2.18			
91	6.63	2.03	6.65	1.79	6.10	1.98	5.99	2.05			
92	7.98	1.37	8.24	1.03	7.92	1.50	7.65	1.74			

259

	Era of graduation									
Item	Pre-1	1930	1930)-39	1940)-49	1950	1950-59)-68
no.	Mean	S.D.	Mean	S.D.	Mean	S.D.	Mean	S.D.	Mean	S.D.
87	8.38	1.13	8.02	1.28	7.93	1.55	7.91	1.65	7.74	1.46
88	6.59	1.82	6.54	1.76	6.40	2.11	6.57	2.10	6.61	2.08
89	6.19	2.05	5.89	1.94	5.40	2.22	5.79	2.14	5.48	2.21
90	7.15	1.79	6.81	1.94	6.40	2.10	6.46	1.98	6.53	1.86
91	6.78	1.85	6.46	1.98	6.12	1.94	6.25	2.09	5.97	1.95
92	8.30	1.24	8.11	1.24	7.84	1.48	7.78	1.65	7.72	1.50

Table 203. Means and standard deviations of responses on items 87 through 92 by era of graduation

Table 204. Means and standard deviations of responses on items 93 through 100 by college

	College										
Item no.	Cori	ne 11	Dra	ake	Iowa S	State					
	Mean	S.D.	Mean	S.D.	Mean	S.D.					
93	35.19	10.42	33.89	11.87	39.05	8.40					
94	21.37	10.11	20.61	10.82	20.28	8.75					
95	18.67	8.45	20.45	9.04	18.97	7.80					
96	3.48	2.51	3.07	2.89	3.06	2.53					
97	6.61	4.09	6.69	5.19	5.11	2.99					
98	4.92	3.35	4.66	3.59	3.74	2.70					
99	4.44	3.62	5. 26	5.69	3.63	3.29					
100	6.60	3.59	6.48	3.65	6.59	3.35					
ltem no.	Major		Consecutive		Non-con	secutive	Non-donor				
-------------	-------	------	-------------	-------	---------	----------	-----------	-------			
	Mean	S.D.	Mean	S.D.	Mean	S.D.	Mean	S.D.			
93	35.50	9.61	35.52	9.35	36.78	11.86	37.02	16.71			
94	20.00	9.67	21.21	10.46	20.05	9.37	21.46	9.81			
95	20.38	8.47	19.52	8.59	19.25	8.37	18.45	8.26			
9 6	2.89	2.66	3.30	2.87	3.17	2.41	3.33	2.59			
97	7.72	5.39	5.75	3.26	5.97	4.49	5.31	3.44			
98	4.37	3.42	4.28	3.26	4.27	2.55	4.71	3.79			
99	4.29	4.21	4.11	3.19	4.58	4.30	4.64	5.58			
100	6.50	3.76	6.56	3.23	6.75	3.77	6.39	3.38			

Table 205. Means and standard deviations of responses on items 93 through 100 by donor classification

Table 206. Means and standard deviations of responses on items 93 through 100 by era of graduation

Item	Pre-1930		1930-39		1940-49		1950-59		1960-68	
no.	Mean	S.D.	Mean	S.D.	Mean	S.D.	Mean	S.D.	Mean	S.D.
93	37.32	9.74	35.81	9.34	36.82	9.34	35.92	11.41	35.09	12.40
94	20.62	8.24	20.06	9.62	20.05	9.24	21.18	10.31	21.84	11.85
95	20.04	8.15	19.95	8.58	18.98	8.04	20.19	9.36	17.44	7.77
96	3.25	2.91	2.95	2.29	3.33	2.51	3.25	2.48	3.21	3.01
97	6.06	4.39	5.94	4.47	5.86	3.32	6.03	4.35	6.55	4.37
98	4.11	2.54	4.49	3.22	4.66	3.38	3.89	2.71	4.87	4.18
99	3.47	2.64	4.11	3.55	4.84	5.94	4.31	3.76	5.37	4.93
100	6.93	3.13	6.98	3.71	6.68	3.63	6.17	3.39	5.94	3.64